
mre or  less secure feeling. 

Q. You had been gone s i x  months? 

A. Yes, s i x  mnths. 

Q. Was that when you los t  Mrs. Mills? 

A. No, I los t  her, I guess the following February, the sixteenth. 

Q. You and Mrs. Mills had been m m i e d  fo r  how many years? 

Q. M r .  Nlls, not only fo r  Sangamon State Universtty but also fo r  myself, 
I want t o  thank you fo r  sharing a l l  these wonderful mmries with me. You've 
been so patient with rre and I've learned so much. 

A. I've enjoyed it imrrYensely. 

Q. I certainly have. 

A. I 've never done anything t o  be ashamed of,  and I just enJ oyed talking 
t o  you. 

Q. I have too. Tha.nk you. 



A. No, we don't. 

Q. How about t o  the 20 acres which i s  south? 

A. We never take anything down there any more than a mower. We keep it 
2n pasture, 

Q. It's all in pasture? 

A. It's al l  in pasture. 

Q. Do you feel close t o  the land, M r .  Mills? Tell  IE tha t  story about 
when you c m  horn fYom the hospital. 

A. (laughs) Well, t o  show you how close I fee l  t o  it, that1  s a good 
exwnple . 
Q. I think it is. 

A. I lay down there i n  the hospital in the planting season and worried 
sore; you can% help but worry. And the nurse come t o  me, and she sald, 
"Mr. W l l s ,  you've only got one thing t o  womy about, that  's yourself. " 
Which is nice words, soothing. (laws) Anyhow, they bm@t me home the 
flf'teenth of June. 

Q. You were In a walker. 

A. I was using a walker; it was the only way I could get around. And I 
naturally-it was about t h i s  t b  of the year--wanted t o  get out and see 
what the crops looked l ike .  And the pickup truclc was se t t ing  out hem,- and 
I hobbled out there t o  it. And the lady tha t  was staying with me, Mrs. 
Clark, she was watching re pretty close. She follmed me, and she said, 
'Where are you going? !!I l m going t o  ride around and look at the cmps. I' 

She reached in and took the keys out of the truck. Well, you can i m g h e  
how hi& qy fever went. ( l a w t e r )  I never said a word t o  her. I think I 
sa t  down out there in the chair fo r  a little b i t ,  and she cam on back in  
the house. So I hobbled on around back t o  the machine shed; theye sat the 
t ractor .  I got up on the t rac tor  and to& off. And she had a fit ; she 
got in her car  and went out t o  the f i e l d  and to ld  Don where I w a s .  And he 
said, "1 how it, I seen him. " 

Q. $he went out and to ld  Donald where y ~ u  were? 

A. Yes, he said, "1 know it, I seen him. He won't hurt himself. " And 
I put that  t rac tor  in low gear, and you'd have had t o  w a l k  awful slow t o  
walk behlnd re. And it &i&~'t hurt me one iota.  1 drove around and looked 
a t  the crops, and that  give me a wonderktl feeling t o  know that  everything 
looked pretty good. 

Q. That was the first t h ~  that you missed planting in your whole Life, 
wasnl t i t ?  

A. That's ri&t, the first t i r e  that I ever d s s e d  it. It gives you a 
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Q. How did you fetil about the Watergate a f fa i r ,  t o  see a president . 

r e s i p ?  

A. I don't know anythin@; about it, only what I read. But I think Presi- 
dent Nixon was ill advised sorewhere along the line. I don't think the 
mn is that kind of a m. And It 11 say th i s ,  I thMc he's the mst tha@t 
of president that  we  ever had a l l  over the world, not just h r i c a ,  but 
all over the world. And it was as mch of a shock t o  them as' it was t o  us. 

Q. Did that  give you a sad feeling? 

A. Yes, it did. I sat in  there and watched it on television the night 
he msiged, and I' 11 t e l l  you, he I s  got nore guts than any man I ever saw 
t o  stand up before television and give that  speech he gave tha t  miat. 
That w a s  history, Mrs. k r g .  

Q. Yes, it was, W. Mills. 

A. And he never broke dawn ei ther .  

Q. No, he didn't. M r .  M i l l s ,  you've lived here on this land for  rr~ny, many 
years, and you've put craps in every year, and youtve watched them g m ~ ,  
and you've harvested them. Have you ever thought about how you feel about, 
it and how you f ee l  about nature? 

A. Well, I got a l i t t l e  pride about nu;; I ' m  proud of it. 

Q. I thlnk you should be. 

A. 1 fee l  l ike  I've accomplfshed somthing, and I've got somthing t o  leave 
t o  kids. Theyt re not going t o  be paupers i f  they got sense enoupfl t o  
take care of it. And that  gives you a d & t y  good feeling. 

Q. I t m  sure it does. You have t h l s  farm, the farm wetre on r l@t  now which 
i s  160 acres, and you told re your mother left  you . . . 
A. FQ nother lef t  E the 20 acres they bought when they f i r s t  mved up 
here. 

Q. So you have a l l  together 180 acres? 

A. meadred e i a t y  acres. 

Q. Does maid live on part of this farm? 

A. No, they l ive  on another farm. Kis wife bought the 80 acres w h w  they 
l ive,  and then he o r  both of them bought another 80 acres over  he^. SO 
they have got 160 acres. 

Q. Pees their land care up t o  yours? 

A. No, i t 's  about a mile apar t .  

Q. Do you have any problem mving equipmnt back and forth? 
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Q. Donald does most of the farming for  you? 

A. Yes, he does it all. I ' m  the helper: I help him. 

Q. Then you have som ar rangmnt  with your harvest? 

A. Yes, 50-50. 

Q. Are you covered by Social Security? 

A. Yes. 

Q. But that  hasn't always been the case has it that  an hdependent f m r  
would be covered by Social Seciwlity? 

A. No, it began in 1951. 

Q. I wanted t o  ask you about the assassination of President Kennedy, how 
did you feel when you heard the news? It was on a Friday, I believe. 

A. That's ldnd of a hard question t o  answer. Of course, we hate t o  hear of 
anybody being assassinated, especialu our president, but there's a l o t  
mre t o  that then probably the public w3llI-ever know. I see t h i s  fellow 
that  they claimed ki l l ed  him is confessing fiat now as t o  what actually 
happened. Now, whether they ' l l  pr int  it or not, I don't know. I think 
that  just  s tar ted a day o r  two ago. 

Q. I think tha t  ' s ri&t; you're ri&t. 

Q. The man who supposedly shot John Kennedy w a s  k i l led  just several days 
af ter .  

A. Was that  Oswald? 

Q. Yes, Lee Harvey Oswald. 

A. And t h i s  Sirhan, he's the one who shot Robert. Well, there's a: lo t  of 
different feelings about tha t  Kennedy assassination, Jack Kennedy. It 
wouldn't do t o  p r in t  it. 

Q. It was a pre t ty  t e r r ib le  f e e l h g ,  wasn't It, t o  see a s i t t i n g  
president . . . 
A. Quite a shock. t o  the nation as a whole t o  loose any president. And 
you how that ' s  remarkable, when I w a s  a kid, Mrs. Berg, I ' d  say f if teen,  
sfxteen, along in there, if you heard anyboa ca l l  a president a son-of-a-B, 
you got knocked on your can right the=. And i f  you saw anybody do anything 
t o  the h r i c a n  flag, the same thing. Today they do everything, stomp the 
h r i c a n  flag i n  the ground and c a l l  the pmsident any kind of a n a r r ~ ;  they 
want t o  and get away with it. In other words, I ' d  say the m r a l e  i s  at 
its lowest point. I don't see how it could get much lower. Dignity is  a 
forgotten word. 



Q. We're getting away f'mm that? 

A. GEttt ing away fromithe fa t .  And breeding stock l ike  that-you'd be 
surprised what it does. They always kicked quite a b i t  an a heavy jowl 
on a hog, which i s  more o r  less  a waste fat. Well, we went t o  breeding 
them j awls off of the hog, and every time that  yout d breed the jowl off of 
the hog, you'd lose part of the Now why, I can't t e l l  you, but that  
invariably happened. You'd cross them and get shut of that  jowl, and you 
would also lose that ham. And they want a nice round ham. So you have t o  
be awfil careful. 

Q. Did you belong t o  a Duroc Association when you were breeding Durocs? 

A. No, I didn't. I thought about it--I mgistered quite a few hogs--1 never 
joined the association. 

Q. About how many hogs would you raise in a season? 

A. m, I ' d  say in the nei@borJnood of a hundred a year. 

Q. Would you have them farrowing several -times during the year? 

A. Twice a yeas, spring and f a l l .  

Q. How many do you have now? 

A. I don't have any. 

Q. How mamy does Donald have now? 

A. I expect Don has 80, 90 head out there, spring pigs. 

Q. W i l l  he have another batch in the f a l l ?  

A. Tnis f a l l ,  yes. And he se t  a record. Hets got s ix  whfte sms out here, 
and I think they've had three l i t t e r s .  Tneir first l i t t e r ,  they averaged 
about ten apiece. Last sprkig he got 64 pigs out of them s i x  sows. Now, 
that  I s  som&hing very exceptional, 64 out of s i x  sows. 

Q. That's realu sorething. How about s teers  is he raising any steers? 

A. A few,  he's got seven Angus COWS. 

Q. When did you retire, M r .  P.Zills? 

Q. Was that a hard decision t o  make? 

A. Well, I haven't retired; I just slowed down. (laughter) It 's still 
i n  rqy blpod; it always w i l l  be. I 'rn not an active operator any more. 



ambition t o  get a hose and get t o  washing them pigs. (laughter) We had 
a hurdle, oh, make it about, I think, s ix,  ei@t feet square, I t h h k  It 
was s i x  feet square. You get a pig i n  there; he couldnlt get away f r o m  
you. 8nd Ruthie would get i n  there, and she'd take tha t  hose, and she'd 
just  scrub the devil out of them pigs. O f  course, they was gentle. But 
that  's the way they took care of them. 

Q. The county fair is usually l a t e  June, eavlly July . . . 
A. Now I said county fair, that  Is  a little b i t  dsleanding; they do have 
a county fair at New Berlin. But t h i s  county fair that  we w a s  a t tendhg 
at tha t  time was mre o r  less  a 4 -H Fair tha t  w a s  showed at the fairgrounds 
just  a week ahead of the State Falr. 

Q. So they showed at the ' 4-H Far . , . . 
A. A t  the 4-H Fair and at the State Fair, tha t ' s  ri&t. And Donald, he 
shmed two steers.  We went south of Springfield and bought the first one. 
He fed it and showed it; he won first on him. And then the next year, a 
nei@bor up here had a nice calf ,  and we went up and bought him. He fed 
him, and he was wilder than a deer. But he done pretty good and he showed 
him, and he won first on him. 

Q. Did they have t o  practice handling them? 

A. Yes, break them t o  lead. And that  wild steer,  he had horns, and I was 
af'raid of him a l i t t l e  b i t ,  but Donald wasn ' t scared of him. That calf 
would just  hug you, just get as close t o  you when you was leading him, he 
w a s  scaxed now. The last I seen of that  steer--M. B. S m r s  took him t o  
St. LOUIS t o  the stockyards a f t e r  the show--and the last I seen of him, he 
was naming down the alley just as hard as he could nul . 
Q. When the children won the grand champion on the i r  hog, did that  have 
t o  be sold? 

A. Yes, they had t o  be sold. They were, you ;say,  r i@t ,  they were 
ready t o  s e l l .  Tnelle would be no p o h t  i n  bringing them horn. 

Q. Md they p g t  a good price fo r  them? 

A. Yes, at the time, whf ch wasn't very much. I think Donald got $135 
for h i s  four barrows, and I don't ~ m m b e r  what Ruthie got, she f ight  have 
got a Uttle mre than tha t ,  not too much, maybe $150. 

Q. The d i f f e r e n c d n  t he i r  ages, probably Domld sold his i n  the l a t e  
1930 ' s ?  

A. Yes. ?he rules has changed quite a bit since they showed. Now then, 
they show those barrows on foot, and then they take them over to,  I think 
It 's Beardstown, and slaughter them. Tn@y bring the carcass back and show 
the carcass. And you'd be surprised the difference. They might judge him 
first on foot, and held be down f i f t h ,  s ixth place i n  the carcass show, too 
much fat. 



I l l ino i s  by the name of Professor Russell. And he cam over and looked at 
a pen of hogs, and I said, "What do you thMc of them?" "Well," he said, 
"I think they're just  awf'ul good hogs. Now don't go extrem, the w r o n g  
way with tha t  breed of hogs. " Well, we  've kind of falhwed that ,  and we ' ve 
been pretty lucky with it. But we haven't had a red hog fo r  y e m .  Now 
1'11 take that  back, we've got a red male hog, o r  Don has. But I don't 
remerrber how we got out of the red hog business. Well, I kind of do too, 
we went t o  crossing those hogs, those Dumc gilts on a Hampshire male hog, 
and that  seemed t o  give us a mre maty type of hog; got away f m m  so mch 
fat. Then when you do a cmss l ike  that--we had pwle-bred, red hogs--do a 
cross like that  and then save gilts out of tha t  cross, then you got cross- 
bred hogs. That's the way we got away h r n  them. 

Q. Would the children select t he i r  spec-n when it was s m l l  and raise it 
up? 

A. Now you're getting technical. (lau@-iter) 

Q. Well, that was t he i r  project. 

A. I know it was t h e i r  project, and they was supposed t o  do it, but they 
re l ied  on Dad. 

Q. I think I would too. ( lawter)  I ' m  sure that  w a s  perfectly per- 
mLssable. 

A. In a way. But it was hardly fair t o  the child; they're s tar t ing  U f e  
along about that age. 

Q. Ahout how old were they? 

A. I think they had t o  be ten o r  twelve years old, and they should begin 
t o  rely a l i t t l e  b i t  on their "own judgment. 

Q. Would they select t he i r  animal when it was young? 

A. No. We just  picked out the best,  o r  what we thought was the best. And 
that  bunch of pi@ that  Donald showed, what made them so good, we picked 
those four b m w s  out--you show a pen of barmws which is three, and then 
you show a single barrow which can be one o f t hose  three. Well, he showed 
four barrows, and we f ixed a place out there fo r  them. And we had an old 
cow-we was in the dairy business at tha t  tirne--a Holstein cow that  gave 
ei&t or  nine gallons of milk a day. We'd milk that  rd lk  from that  cow and 
take it rl@t out and give it t o  those hogs. That's what put the bloom on 
them. 

Q. They got special t rea tmnt?  

A. They did. 

Q. Did he have t o  go out and brush them? 

A. C& w, yes, wash, soap, brush them, tha t  was the height of t he i r  



A. Hefs probably got beans; he's got quite a b i t  of storage, and he's pm- 
bably got beans. 

Q. W b e  he's leavned a lesson he won't forget. 

A. .- that's experience. Now whether he got them too deep o r  whether 
he didn't get them dwp enough, I didn't t a lk  t o  him myself, but he reports 
up t o  the elevator every morning l ike  a l o t  of the other fanners. The 
elevator man to ld  me yesterday tha t  Dave's got Monday se t  t o  decide whether 
t o  t e rn  them up o r < l e t  them go. 

Q. Is the elevator kind of a meeting place fo r  all of you? 

A. It is. ( l a w t e r )  They got a coffee maker i n  there, and they all  
c o ~  in there and have coffe'e, and usually sombody w i l l  bring in a dozen 
donuts or  sweet r o l l s  o r  something. That's the congregation place; there 's  
where you get the gossip. 

Q. Pind out what s new? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You have. raised quite a few h o g  here, haven1 t you? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. Your children were interested in showlag them, can you t e l l  IW about 
that  ? 

A. After they got old enough, they joined the 4-H Club. To be a 4-H mem 
ber, you have t o  have a pmject  of som kind. Well, being f m r s ,  we had 
the hap$, and I loved them, and they did too. I said, "Why not show hogs, 
jus t  enter hogs as yowl project. Well, of course, Don was first, and he 
did. And he was so l u c e ;  he just cleaned the show in the county show and 
the State Fair both. Then when Ruth becam old enough, she thought her 
brother done so good, she would try. She did, and the l i t t l e  devil done 
the sams thing he did. She won the county and she won the State [Fair]. 

Q. That mst have been a thrill fo r  you too. 

A. It was a t h r i l l  for  nr: and Mother; she enjoyed tha t .  

Q. What breed of hogs? 

A. Dumcs, tha t ' s  red. 

Q. How would they prepare their hog for  show? 

A. Well, it's kind of l ike  judging seed corn, they klyld of use a pint 
system, confirmation and th is ,  tha t  and the other, ham, loins, Along 
about the t h ~  Ruthie showed hogs, they begin t o  kind of back away from 
these fat hogs. Fat w a s  waste. People Mnd of qui t  using lard and they 
went t a  uskg vegerable o i l ,  and they d i b l t  want too much lard  on these 
h o p .  I $ot pretty well acquainted with a judge from the University of 



Q. You would have been very hard pressed i f  he had to go. 

A. I would have. 

Q. Were there any government regulations issued during the war for  you, 
were you to ld  t o  ra ise  certain crops o r  t o  ra ise  as much as you could? 

A. During the war? 

Q. Yes. 

A. mere w a s  no restr ict ions,  as I recal l ,  durFng the w a r ,  just produce 
a l l  you could. That's the greatest weapon i n  the world i s  food. Sfnce 
then, we have had quite a l o t  of experiences with a l lo tmnts ,  one thing and 
another l ike  that .  They would allow you t o  raise so much corn and so much 
wheat. There nevbr:.was an al lotrent ,  never has been up t o  now, on soybeans. 
Soybeans i s  a wry fast p i n g  cmp. What I man by that ,  userulness , 
they make everything out of sogbeans any more. 

Q. When ad you start raising soybeans? 

A. Oh, I don't b o w ,  I 1 d  say back in the--probably in the l a t e  1930ts, 
early 1g401s. 

There waa one old man-now wet l l  add a l i t t l e  h m r  here--there was an old 
man up there south of Williamsville that p w  the f i r s t  soybeans that  was 
grown in  t h i s  neip$borhood,and he would stack them out in the field. He 
also raised a l o t  of hogs, and he just l e t  the hogs rmn t o  them stacks wlCi l  
they ate the beans up, and the stack just f e l l  over. And a l o t  of people- 
and he was pretty successful--a l o t  of people got t o  asking him when was the 
time t o  sow soybeans. And he was a l i t t l e ,  old, sawed-off I f i s m ,  and he 
kind of winked up one eye, and he says, "By God,'' he said, "when you can 
sleep i n  your shirt tail, that's the tLme t o  sow  soybean^.^' (laughter) 
And he w a s  so right, you don't want t o  plant soybeans in cold ground. 

Q. You want t o  w a i t  un t i l  i t 's  warmer? 

A. M t i l  it ' s w m ,  and then they just come rci&t up. 

Q. We saw that ri&t out here east of the house, didn't we? 

A. Yes. Now take you M P  a mile east of here, he sowed them, and I don't 
know what happened, but he ainl  t got near half a stand. It's a s h m ;  I 
don't know what he's going t o  do with them. He's got Monday se t  t o  decide. 
He says, ' 'I'm going t o  l e t  them stay until Monday, and i f  they don1 t look 
any better ,  I ' m  going t o  t e a r  them up and plant them over.ll 

Q. Would it be too late t o  plant them now? 

A. C&, no, but i t 's  an expensive project. It would take s i x  o r  seven 
h m b d  dollars worn of beaw t o  replant that .  

Q. And chances are he didn't save tha t  much. He saved enough fo r  one 
planting? 



A. CPI yes, a l o t  of them. I pulled out a l o t  of people. 

Q. Do y0.u have your own gasoline here on the f m ?  

A. Yes. (tape twned off and on) 

Q. MP. mils, do you remrrber kcerrher 7, 1941? 

A. I do, the day we had Pearl Harbor. 

Q. Do you remmber how you felt about that? 

A. Well, it was quite a shock fo r  one reason. When they said they dmpped 
a bmb r i@t  d m  the smke stack of the Arizona, I had a very, very good 
friend on tha t  boat. 

Q. You did? 

A. I did. And by the way, Mrs. Berg, they supposedly sunk that i n  Pearl 
Harbor, and as t o  knowledge, they never raised it. But here, I guess 
i t 's  been about 25 years ago now, Pbther and I was i n  California; I know 
tha t  I san a boat t i ed  up in San Diego Bay with Arizona across the bow of 
that boat. 

Q. Maybe they bu i l t  a new one. 

A. !Ihey never name a boat after one tha t ' s  smk, never. 

Q. I can't answer that .  

A. W ~ t h e r  sombody did ralse tha t  boat f o r  salvage . . . 
Q. No, i t 's  still  there, W. Mills i t 's a mm3ria.l there i n  the bay. You 
can take a boat out t o  see it. 

A. Do you know %he boat is there? 

Q. WeU now, that  Is a good question. 

A. I h o w  I saw that  boat in S h  Diego Bay. 

Q. Did your .friend lose his life that day? 

A. Yes. It was a larpp boat, it wasn't dry docked, ' it was anchored there. 
Mdn't look l ike  it had been at sea for  years, but it was there. And I 
corn horn and to ld  sore of the boys abaat it; [they] said it couldnlt -be. 
' W e l l , "  I said, "1 knm it i s  because I seen it. " 

Q. There must be som explanation fo r  that. IXd your son have t o  regis- 
t e r  for the draft? 

A. Yes, he went t o  St. buls and took h i s  physical, and they turned him 
down. 



And I called and hollered and carried on, and he didntt pay no attention 
t o  m, and 1' 11 bet you, he tracked that  quail  for one-half a quarter, and 
here he corn back carrying it. Now that ' s  a thr5l l .  

Q. 1'11 bet it was. What was his  name? 

A. Duke. 

9. Did you teach him t o  do tha t?  

A. I did, and nature; he was a natwal-born retriever.  

Q. Did you have another bird dog af'ter he died? 

A. I had one of h is  pups-it [was] just as good as he was--and it got 
ki l led,  I think in  about 1920. That teacher that  I to ld  you taught over 
here by the name of B i l l  Hoek, It was a big s lee t  storm on, and he carre t o  
school in a car, and the dog was wer t h e e  browsing around, and he m over 
him and ki l led  him. I hated that worse than the.world, but be t t e r  been 
that  than a Md. 

Q. Have you ever trained anyone else! s-dog? 

A. No, .only rrdne. 

Q. You and your brothe~in- law used t o  hunt together, didn't you? 

A. Yes, mhe was a pointer, his w a s  an W s h  se t t e r ,  and we had a l o t  of 
ar,gumnts about them two dogs. ( l a ~ t e r )  She was a good dog, but she 
wasnl t near as good as rrly dog. I ' m  not pa r t i a l  either.  (laughs) 

Q. You must have enjoyed that  very much. 

A. C41 rry, I'll say we did. 

Q. Mr. Mills, autombiles are somthing tha t  mst of us  today take very 
much for gmnted, can you t e l l  m? about the first automobile your family 
got, and wasn t it a big event? 

A. It was  quite a thrill t o  the whole family. It was a 1916 Maxwell tour- 
ing car. We took quite a l o t  of pride with the thing. I don't know how 
long it would have lasted If it had been properly taken care of. I was 
young and anbitious, and I beat it pretty hard sorrbeth~s. (laughs) I don't 
know how long the car lasted, but we f'inally traded it off--Dad did, Dad 
bought it, he gave $135 for  it. And he traded it off t o  Ralph Lord for  an 
Oakland. We drove it for several years, and then we got s tar ted i n  the 
Dodge l ine;  and I don't know, we had fowl or  f ive Dodges. 

As I told you, qy m t k ~ . b o u & t  qy youngest sister that  old coupe t o  drive 
t o  school; and she did when the road was dry. And when it was muddy, I 
pulled her with rry old rrules. 

Q. How about other people out here on the mad, did you have t o  rescue 
a lot of people? 



Q. That w a s  quite an experience wasn't i t ?  

A. It was, and I re11~3rrber it was a real f o m ,  dr izz ly  ni#it, and we 
coulchntt see nothing, but you could hear them horn--there was quite a 
drove of cattle--them horns was h i t t i ng  one another and them ca t t l e  nwling 
toward us, now you had t o  do something. (la@s) We clinS3ed a tree.  

Q. What happened t o  your dog? 

A. Well, he could get away fkom them. As soon as they scattered out, he 
come back t o  us. You know, that ' s quite a thrjll, Mrs. Berg, t o  have a dog 
tha t ' s  a good dog that  you can take i n  the tfrher, turn him loose, sit down 
on a log and w a i t  till he strikes a track or  trees, one of the two. And 
we had a dog of that  cauber.  And i f  there wasn't anything on the ground, 
he 'd hunt mybe fo r  a half hour, and her d c m  right back t o  us. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 
it. 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

A. 

So you'd know that  you'd bet ter  mve t o  another spot. 

Yes, it was t im t o  mve. 

Would he just work w i t h b  a certain radius of you? 

He probably worked i n  circles ,  and i f  he found a track, why, he1 d run 
I f  he didnr t  find a t ~ a c k ,  he'd just keep d n g  circles.  

mce he treed h i s  prey, then would he. badc? 

oh, yes. 

But he was s i lent  un t i l  then? 

This one particular dog was ; he w a s  a gam hog's dog. (laughs ) A garre 
hog, they go out fo r  the coon, they don't go out fo r  the sport. Well, t h i s  
old dog in particular w a s  a still  t r a i l e r ,  and you never heard him bark un- 
till he treed. The only way that  you could t e l l  tha t  he w a s  running the 
track, h i s  old tall would just twist and wind and t w i s t  and w i n d .  S i t  down, 
it couldnrt be long until old N i g  done somthing. ( l a u s )  

Q. From where you were sitting, w a s  the dog usually visible? 

A. Oh no, not a t  nf@t. 

Q. You always did the coon hunting at night? 

A. C& yes, fox hunting too. 

Q. But your hunting with the bird dog was during the day, and that  dog 
w o u l d  be s i lent  wouldn't he? 

A. CP1 yes, he wouldn't bark. And I remrrber one time-I'm speaking of a 
good dog now, I think he w a s  the best dog tha t  ever went t o  the field-I 
knocked a quail  down, and I saw it go d m ;  and that  old dog corn in,  and 
he mde a circle ,  and he took out eing north just as hard as he could m. 



Q. But you got your f a i r  share of coon and quail. 

A. I got rry share of quail and pheasant. I ' d  kill about, in the mi@-- 
borhood of fif'ty quail in a season. And by the way, they're wonderful 
eating. I ' d  just give anything fo r  a mss of quail ri&t today. I haven't 
had a quail i n  the-&, I 1 l l b e t  you, in the last ten years. I haven't 
been able t o  hunt. Didn't have no dog; I ' d  just as soon stay a t  the house 
as ,q hunting without a dog. That ' s what a dog is for,  t o  do the hunting, 
you" t o  do the shooting. Donald, I never could get him interested--be 
liked to hunt--but I never could get him-intesested i n  a dog. He's k i l led  
very f& quall. Once in awhile, het d get one o r  two. 

Q. Was your father interested? 

A. Not too much. J3is father was--that would be grandfather. He bred, 
raised and sold bird dogs, and I renmber h i m  t e l l i ng  rw one tire that  he 
sold a female dog and shipped her . . . 

Q. Your grandfather shipped a dog t o  Chicago? 

A. In about two weeks t im, here corn that  dog t ro t t ing  down the milroad 
track back horn. 

Q. How old was the dog? 

A. I don1 t remrher how old it was. 

Q. Why, that  ls 250 d l e s .  

A. I knaw it, but you cannot loose a dog, now. 

Q. Not a bird dog. 

A. No sir, (laughter) And they t e l l  IIE that  the philosophy o r  strategy o r  
whatever you want t o  c a l l  it, a dog that's los t  w i l l  start raking circles  
and just go i n  circles ,  and they ' l l  eventually run in to  somthing that  they 
~ c o & z e ;  and once they do, here they corn. 

I d&t t e l l  you about one experience we had coon hunting. There w a s  a 
tirrber over here north of S h e m  that  was good hmting, and we went over 
there. The people that  owned the place-it was a big t i m e r  pasture, and 
those dogs hit a coon track and away they went--and the fellow that  owned 
the place was a cattze feeder, and held go t o  Texas and byy them long-horned 
steers.  Them things was l ike  a l o t  of being civilized, now I1mte l l i ng  you. 
And when the dog got around them, of c o m e ,  they'd take a f t e r  tha t  dog, 
and the dog would corn r i @ t  t o  us, and we:had t o  climb a t ree  t o  get away 
f r o m  them long-horns. I expect we sat up i n  that  tree for  hours. Finally 
they scattered out and got; away t o  where we got down and got t o  the fence 
and got out of there or we'd have got killed. 



Q, So you kept both kinds of dogs? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How mmy did you have? 

A. I only had the one bird dog, and I had as hi& as s i x  hounds here, 
too l-mny. (laughs) 

Q. You just couldn't resist them, eh? 

A. No, I enjoyed it. 

Q. You were especially proud of tha t  bird dog, weren't you? 

A. C& yes, I was. I raised that l i t t l e  thing. That's k;fYld of a long 
story. Dad was mad c o d s s i o n e r  in t h i s  township, and he had a couple of 
fellow Mred that  worked for  him, and they went on a t r i p  out i n  Kansas. 
They saw t h i s  female dog; she looked pretty good, and they swiped her. And 
they b m w t  her horn with them, and she had pups. These boys to ld  Dad, 
they said, "Now, John, i f  you want one, you can have it. " And he got me 

first bird dog, and I raised tha t  l i t t l e  fellow up and I think he w a s  
about eighteen yews old when he died. You knm a dog's life, ra t io  between 
them and a human being? 

Q. No. 

A. One t o  nine. 

Q. How long ago was that? 

A. Tnat was a long t h  ago; I was a young man. 

Q. Today, f o r  a dog t o  ~ a c h  eighteen years of age is  considered very old. 
D i d  you ever trade back and forth with your coon dogs? 

A. &, we'd trade them and s e l l  them and buy them. It was just kind of 
a hobby. (lams ) 

Q. Sounds l ike  it was som;thing tha t  you thoroughly enjoyed. 

A. Yes, you can. You get wrapped up i n  them and you real ly enjoy It. 

Q. D i d  you ever hunt ducks? 

A. A l o t  of times and I never k i l l ed  a duck in rqy l i f e .  

Q. You didn't? 

A. I never did, and why I don't know, 1'11 bet I 've shot a t  a million of 
them and I never did kLll a duck. 

Q. How about a goose? 

A. Or a goose either. 



100 t o  200 E n  m e t  at a ceutral location, and then they had tmcks there 
would take them out around and then they would start driving and closing 
in. And when they got in to  a small circle ,  why the fox couldn ' t get out, 
he just mnz back and forth till somebody ki l led  him, shotgun. 

Q. You would meet a t  a central location, and with trucks be taken out 
into a big c i rc le ,  what do you suppose the d i e t e r  of that  c i rc le  would be? 

A. Possibly two mile. 

Q. Then you would begin t o  work your way into the circle? 

A. Work your way back toward the center. 

Q. Did you bring the dogs? 

A. We wouldntt use no do@. No, tha t  was just  a regular old man and 
fox shoot. 

Q. You call it a fox drive? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would you usually have that  fox drive because there w a s  a problem i n  
the neighborhood? 

A. Well, yes. !They were bad on chickens and s r d l  animals such as pigs 
and lmbs and that sort  of stuff. They would k i l l  them. They ~t t o  be 
a nuisance, and we began t o  have fox drives. I don't think we ever had a 
f izzle;  we'd a l w a y s  get a few foxes, and wetd turn them over t o  so= o r g d -  
zation. We d im% want t o  fool around with them. 

Q. Would you get sore other things besides foxes? 

A. No, that  w a s  a l l  you was allowed t o  shoot a t .  You w m t t  a l lwed  t o  
shoot a rabbit o r  a quai l  or a pheasant or nothing. If you did, you got 
bawled out. That s poor s p o r t m h i p  . 
Q. Dld you do a l o t  of pheasant huntlng? 

A. Yes, I did a l o t  of pheasant; huntlng. A brathepin-law and I, we had 
an enwment  with a man up at Fancy Pr ia i r ie  by- the name of Walt Cole 
that we went e v e r y  Noven-ber 11, the day the season opened. And we'd go 
pheasant hunt- there on the first day. Then after tha t ,  we d just liab9e 
go anywhere anyth-e. 

Q. WoUd you use the s m  dog fo r  the coon hmt that  you did . . . 
A. Oh no, we had regular bird dogs. Hounds were ei ther  foxhounds or  coon- 
hounds. There's as much difference as a white person and a black person. 
( laughs ) 



Q. Each of you would have a dog? 

A. Pbst e n e m l l y ,  there was three of us that  had the dogs. Maybe 
we Id have sore company and mybe we wouldnl t . It I s  quite a thrill, 
and it I s  aLmast unbelievable that  you get acquainted with a dogs voice 
and we could t e l l  whether my dog was leading o r  your dog was leading o r  
sornebo~ else 's  dog was leading. (laughs) 

Q. What kind of do@ were they? 

A. Foxhowlds, coonhounds. A P i end  of mine had an awful good coon dog, 
but he was what they ca l l  a still  t r a i l e r ,  and he never would say a word , 

unt i l  the coon went up a tree, then he'd si t  there and bark and bark and 
b a ~ k  until we went t o  him. A foxhound, the sport you get out of them is  
just what I said, just l is tening t o  t h e m  dogs bawl and m, you never 
c a w t  a fox. ( l awter )  

Q. But you would get the coon? 

A. Somtimes , i f  he went In a hole, we didnT t get him. If he went up a 
dead tree, chances are we didn't get him. Coon hides w a s  woAh a l o t  of 
mney at that time, we'd get f i f teen,  eighteeri dollars for  a coon hide. 
Then the dang womn, they quit weardng f'ur coats, and coon hi&s got down 
t o  f i f t y ,  seventy-flve cents; wasn't worth skinning. ( l a m s )  

Q. How hi& did they get? 

A. Around eighteen, twenty dollars f o r  a good black coon, the blacker 
the bet ter .  

Q. That wm worth it then, wasn't i t ?  

A. Yes, as far as money was  concerned, but we wasntt out there f o r  the 
mney that was in it. We was out there f o r  the sport. 

Q. But i t t s  a c e  i f  you can get somthing for  it too. What did you con- 
s ider  a good season? 

A. If we got ten, :;twelve, we  done pretty good fo r  a season. 

Q. Are they good t o  eat? 

A. Sow people ea ts  them; I never did try one. They say they are, and 
I don't see why they wouldn't be, they're about the cleanest animal that 
there is tha t  muls loose. They wash every b i t  of food they eat .  If you've 
ever noticed on television, a coon w i l l  sit down there nn the rock o r  some- 
thing and h e ' l l  wash the Msh o r  whatever he catches before he eats  it. 

Q. That s true. Would you ever get foxes? 

A. No, we never would get fox. We'd get sane foxes; we'd have fox drives. 
hFe' d advertise that  rnaybe fo r  a couple of weeks and wet d have anywhere f r o m  



Q. Mr. Mills, you to ld  me you served on the election board fo r  a number 
of years, w i l l  you t e l l  m about tha t?  

A. I registered i n  1919, and I don't h a w  who appointed me on the elec- 
t ion board now; but they did, and I sat on the election board for  51 years 
straight, the sam precinct. 

A. Yes. 

Q. What were your duties on the election board? 

A. Issue ballots  and keep recii~ds of the voters and see tha t  they were 
registered correctly and so forth. Then count the bal lots  and deliver the 
bal lots  back t o  the county court house. Now then, tha t ' s  all been changed. 
They do that  by computers; we used t o  do tha t  by hand. 

Q. You man paper ballots? 

A. Yes, weld sit up there, oh, midnight, me ,  two o'clock in the m h g  
counting those ballots.  lfy job was reading them. The other clerks would 
t a l ly .  

Q. How big a precinct? 

A. We had about 250 voters i n  this  precinct. Now i t ' s  pretty close t o  
400. 

Q. What k h d  of turnout would you get? 

A. Usually, f r o m  50 t o  90 percent. Presidential election was the biggest 
t m o u t  . 
Q. That's fantast ic  when you can get 90 percent. I ' m  swcprised that you 
had any tlnu3 for  hobbies as busy as you were, but you were interested in 
hunting , were t you? 

A. I guess you'd c a l l  it kind of a sporting blood i n  you; I had it all 
rry Ufe, but I never had too much tim t o  exercise it. Like hmting quail, 
those t h inp  are done by seasons, quail season used t o  corn the f i f teenth 
of Noverrber and out the fifteenth of December; you had 30 days. After that  
it w a s  i l l ega l  t o  k i l l  them. Coon hunting and fox hunting, you could run 
them a l l  winter, and that  was just more or  less done fo r  sport. You get 
wrapped up with a bunch of hounds, you like t o  get out in the timber and 
sit down on a log and sit there and smoke your old pipe and l i s t en  t o  
them d o e  m. It's a tMll, now. 

Q. Would them be a group of you who would go out? 

A. usual ly  four orA five. 



Q. Would you buy cartons i n  big lo ts?  

A. We'd buy a hundred dozen a t  a tim. I can t e l l  you something that 
m i @ t  tm your stomach. You know cockerels in a laying breed of chickens 
is  not worth very much. 

Q. A what? 

A. Cockerel, male bird. When they were sexing these chickens, they run 
usually about half and half, about half cockerels and half pullets.  Well, 
I 've seen them have barrels  of cockerel chickens, they just throw them i n  
them barrels and k i l l  them; take them out t o  the dump. 

Q. Wouldn't they have been good t o  raise for broilers? 

A. Yes, but they would consume just as mch food as a heavier breed of 
chfcken, and when you got done, you'd have a l o t  more chicken. So they 
didn't figure it was hardly worthwhile t o  fool with them. 

Q. This was done by the hatchery? 

A. Yes, Schafers done it. 

Q. Business is business, r ight? 

A. Yes. There again you can see it's not a l l  profl t .  And they had flocks 
of chickens scattered around the country that  they depended on fo r  t he i r  
breeding flocks, tha t  they got t h e i r  eggs from that  they se t ,  put i n  the 
incubator. They would t e s t  those flocks t o  see that  they w a s  clean of a11 
kinds of disease, and then they would pick the cockerels t o  put with those 
hens t o  make the eggs f e r t i l e .  

Q. Are chickens as susceptible t o  disease o r  t o  problem as say yowl 
dairy herd was? 

A. Yes, 2: used t o  know the n m  of some of t he i r  diseases. We've got a 
gallon of sulmite, or  part of a gallon of s M t e  i n  the basemnt. How 
come we have it-it was a pretty expensive drug t o  buy locally fkom a 
veterinarian--this boy across the road here became a veterinarian, and 
he was a very good M e n d  of ours. He happened t o  be horn one tim?, and 
b t h e r  asked him i f  he wouldn't get her a @;allon of suZmite for  her chickens. 
And he said,  "Yes, 1'11 get you a gallan. lf So he went down t o  the whole- 
sale drug place and got her a gallon of sulmite. 

Q. What did she use that for? 

A. I can1 t think of the name of it, but what it amounted t o  was bloody 
scowls. There is a nam for  it, but I can't t h h d ~  of it. 

Q. How did she administer th i s?  

A. &I the water, and it would clean them up. It would k i l l  them i f  you 
didn't do sorething about it. 



A. I don't know whether i t ' s  n-dsmanagemnt o r  what, but they a d .  
There's not too mch profit  in eggs. I was talking t o  the elevator man 
yesterday i n  regards t o  chickas. Pbst of the chickens, especially 
broilers,  are raised in the south, Mississippi and Arkansas and down in 
there, and they've discovered tha t  they can feed wheat and get along with 
it p re t t y  good up t o  50 percent of t he i r  ration. They can add 50 percent 
wheat and then the rest has t o  be corn for the i r  broilers. O f  course, 
that  hurt the corn market, but it did help the wheat market a l i t t l e .  It 
takes a l o t  of supplemnt t o  bring tha t  protein up t o  have a balanced 
feed. 

Q. It ts not a l w a y s  as easy as it looks, i s  it? 

A. No, not by a long ways. Wiedlocher Feed ~ o r n p a n y g  ithere in Springfield 
furnished feed fo r  both of those places, and It d like t o  bow how much 
money they los t  on each one of them. I know they los t  plenty. 

Q. What was the n a n ~  of that  company? 

A. Wiedlocher. They manufacturer-brand nam is Hubbard Feed. I had a 
f'unny experience with them one t i m e ,  and I f e l l  out with them. Back i n  
the w a r  blackstrap molasses--that's made fYom cane, tha t ' s  raw molasses-- 
every once Jn awhile, especially i n  the dairy business, i f  a cow i s  pm- 
ducing heavy, it draws a l o t  of sugar out of her body and system. And 
they--I forgot what they c a l l  it, but the veterinarian said, " A l l  i n  the 
world she needs is a gallon o r  two of blackstrap t o  ralse that  sugar con- 
tent  in her system. '' And I went down there and I asked them i f  they would 
s e l l  me sonu; blackstrap. "No, go t o  your veterinmlan and get it. I' "Man, " 

I said, ''the veterinarian doesnft stock b lacks t rq  molasses. " And they 
wouldn't s e l l  it t o  re. A l l  I wanted w a s  a couple of gallons, but they 
wouldnf t s e l l  it. 

Q. Where did you finally get it? 

Q. Schafers, tha t f  s another feed store? 

A. Yes, ri@t acmss the s t ree t  you might say frmn them. And then I went 
t o  bwing feed f'rom Schafers, and I bought a l o t  of feed f r o m  Schafers. 

Q. You had a l o t  of mouths t o  feed out here. 

A. Yes, and I bo@t a l l  of Pbthert s egg cartons at Schafers. We bought 
a l o t  of day-old chickens f'mm Schafers. They mm a big hatchery there for  
a long t-. 

~Wiedlocher & Sons, Inc. was located at 426 North Second Street. 
[Ed. 1 

l Q ~ ~ e m  was located a t  225 North F i r s t  Street.  [Ed.] 



Winfred E, Mi91s 

about eighteen weeks, eighteen t o  twenty weeks. 

&. About how old would you l e t  one of your laying hens get before you 
would s e l l  her off? 

A. If they w e r e  good, we &&t keep them for  two years, but no longer 
than that. 

&. Then what did you do with them? 

A. Sell them. 

Q. Would you use any of them yourself? 

A. Oh, whenever we wanted one. (laws) But there 's  a l o t  of difference 
i n  baking chickens and laying chickens. wing chickens are bred t o  lay 
and baking hens are, I don't know just  how t o  describe it, they're mre of 
a ~ a t y  type chi cken. They got wider breasts and bigger l e e .  A laying 
hen I s  mre l ike  a racehame, slim bui l t .  

Q. It's %n the breeding then? 

A. Yes. 

Q. mat breed of chickens did you have? 

A. White kg$om. White' Rocks are the broilers.  There' s a world of 
difference i n  them. 

Q. When did Mrs, W l l s  go out of this buisness? 

A. Just kind of gradually. I think she s t i l l  sold a few eggs when I 
went t o  the hospital, o r  pretty close t o  it. I went t o  the hospital. on 
Deceuber 10, 1974, I believe. I think mwbe she was still Mdaing  around 
with a few eggs, not many. I would say around emly 1970ts, 1971 or 1972, 
she went out of the egg business. 

Q. Mshg chickens is somethhg people aren't  doing mudl d f  anymore on 
an individual basis,  that  is a family basis. 

A. There's very few flocks of chickens on farms todw, very Sw. 

Q. Why is that?  

A. There's a l o t  of work attached t o  takin@; care of them, and there's a 
l o t  of expense added t o  t he i r  feed. And 1;co many young w a r e n  that  don't 
how anything about it that s got a job i n  tm, working in town, they a in ' t  
pt no time t o  fool with chickens; and they buy t h e i r  eggs. 

We -had two laying flocks in t h i s  neigfibohood, not too  fa^, f 'mm here, had 
sixteen, seventeen thousand hens in each one of them. And they had a l o t  
of e m ,  and they both. went broke. 



Winfred E. Mills 
. . 

eggs next Saturday?" That's the way she bu i l t  up her business. Even the 
old colored fellow that mo? the elevator, he knew she w a s  taking eggs 
upstairs and he got her t o  bring him a couple dozen em every Saturday. 
It 11 t e l l  you, shet d get out of tha t  car on Sixth Street and she1 d have 
two shopping bags that ,  I 1 l l b e t  you, had 20, 25 dozen eggs i n  them. 

Q. And she was such a l i t t le,  t h y  person. 

A. Yes, today they woulcin% le t  you double park long enough to get out. 

Q. What did you do while Mrs. Mills was at Westenberger's? 

Q. I want you t o  t e l l  it aga3.n. (laughter) 

A. Well, I 1 d  f'ind a parklng place. Wst  generally, I ' d  go t o  the Coney 
Island place up there and get me a hot dog, and then I ' d  .go back t o  the 
Strand Theater and watch a picture show all afternoon. 

Q. Did you have a certain time that you two would m e t ?  

A. Yes, usually about four or four-thirt;y, and she was always l a te .  

Q. She probably looked fornard t o  those Saturdays. 

A. Sure she did. 

Q. This w a s  yew in and year out? 

A. Yes. And I said, llMother, I wish I could l e m  you that  you can w a i t ,  
but I can't. When I corn along, say Sixth and Washington [Streets 1 there, 
I got t o  keep mving.v I said, ''It w o u l d ~ ~ t  hurt you t o  stand there f ive 
o r  ten  minutes because I can't stop." Oh, we dldnlt  have no bad argumnts 
about it; it rd@t help fo r  a week o r  two. (laughs) 

Q. Then it was  back the way it was before? 

A. Yes. 

Q. H m  djd she replenish her laying hens? 

A. She bought day-old chicks. 

Q. Didn't you incubate sore of them here? 

A. My mther  did, but wife never did, That's pretty complicated and 
a l o t  of work attached t o  it, and she never did try t o  incubate any eggs. 
We raised quite a few chickens in the brooder house. It got t o  where they 
got t o  sexing chickens, and you could buy pullets,  and they'd guarantee 
95 percent t o  be pullets.  We would rajse them pullets  and put them i n  the 
laying house. We'd leave them in the brooder house un t i l  they got about 
sixteen, seventeen weeks old. They usually s tar ted coming in to  production 



Twenty-three ounces is  considered a hen e e .  Anything below that  is a 
pullet egg mti l  you get down into fourteen o r  f i f teen omces and tha t ' s  
peewees; they're not worth very much. And, of course, we kind of used 
the Dutchmnts theory, the Dutchman never sold anything he could eat.  If 
he couldnt t s e l l  it, he'd ea t  it. (la@ter) 

Q. So whichever ldnd wasn't s e l l h g ,  tha t ' s  what the M l l s t  family had 
fo r  breakfast? 

A. Yes, we nL@t have t o  cook two o r  three for breakfast, but tha t  w a s  
just as good as one big one. 

Q. If they were over a cer ta in  wei&t, those w e r e  extra lmge eggs and 
she sold those separately? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Md she deliver o r  dld people core here t o  the fm? 

A. Mostly deUwr, a f e w  came out after khern, but she kind of had a habit 
( laughs 1 I thLnk, just wanted t o  go t o  town and bmse around. 

Q. Did she do it on a particular day? 

A. Saturday. 

Q. In the mant im,  where did she keep all these eggs 

A. Ln the cellw. 

Q. Where it was cool. 

A. Yes, cool. It's about 47, 48 degrees down there riat now, 1'11 bet  
you. Well, I don't know, since w e  opened the furnace room whether it would 
be that cool or  not. 

Q. But at that tim, the furnace mm w a s  separate? 

Q. That's right.  Would she deliver some GT the eggs dlrectly t o  a house- 
hold? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Md she s e l l  any domtm? 

A. She took a world of them o Westenbergerls t o  clerks that  worked in 
there tha t  got ahold of. themk Well, she knew the girls t o  begin wlth, and 
they knew she had eggs. 'lMrs. IMlls, can't you bring me a couple dozen 

fhkstenbergerfs, a dry goods store located at 206 South Sixth 
Street. [Ed.] 



A. That's right. We've went thm@ so many things together, good 
and bad. And it s just kind of hard t o  think about parting, but i t 's 
coming. 

Q. For all of us. 

A. That's ri&t. 

Q. Tell  re about Mrs. l%llsl egg business. 

A. Well, she worked hard on that  e m  business. 

Q. DLd she take it over f 'mm your mother? 

A. Probably, you rd@t say tha t .  Pbther always had chickens. I c a l l  
them both Pbther. ( l a m s )  And then Pbm got interested in it, and she 
liked it, and she had a l o t  of egg cusbomers, and she-enjoyed it. 

Q. How many chickens did she have? 

A. Oh, she'd average 150 t o  250 laying hens. Besides tha t ,  she'd raise 
a bunch of broi ler  t o  eat .  

Q. For yourselves or  t o  s e l l ?  

A. Yes, she didn't s e l l  many broilers.  We just  raised them for  o w  own 
we. 

Q. %eld get over 100 eggs a day? 

A. Qh, yes. A l o t  o f t i m s ,  she'd get 150 egg a day. 

Q. What did she do with them? 

A. She bmmt  them Fn here and sat down and washed and weighed and 
boxed every one of those e g g  according t o  size. 

Q. That was a lo t  of handling. 

A. Yes, it w a s .  And I made so much f'un of her. She w o ~ l & ~ t  get mad, 
but she woul&'t quit her pattern. I sdd, "Pbther, as many of them things 
as you've handled you should be able t o  pick one up and look at it and t e l l  
which carton it goes in!" But she wouldn't l i s t en  t o  me. 

Q. She just went right on and wei&ed every one of them? 

A. Yes, 

Q. H m  did she divide them, you said she had three different places that 
she would put them In? 

A. By we i&t .  Twenty-three, twenty-six and th i r ty  ounces per dozen. 
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Q, Did they t e s t  each can? 

A. Yes, everyday, W e l l ,  I said yes, they do, they take a sample out 
of each can everyday, and then they have what they e a l l  a composite 
test. Th%gtll put that  in a glass tube and keep it fo r  several days, 
and then they ' l l  t e s t  the composite; tha t ' s  what you're p a d  on. 

Q. While you were in the dairy business, l@s. %lls had a business too, 
didn't she, she had her egg business? 

A. M e l l ,  she never milked a cow i n  her life. She never even t r i ed  to .  
No sir, she didn't; she never was aromd tha t  dairy barn. 

Q. How about Ruth? 

A. ah, she w a s  around there a l i t t l e ,  but I dont t think Ruth ever tried t o  
milk a cow. But Donald, he just went t o  it l ike  a pig does t o  slop. 
( l a w t e r )  I remrrber the old cow that  he learned t o  milk on, she stood 
r i@t  by the door. Shet d give a barrel of milk, and she was just as gentle 
as a cat. He was just a l i t t l e  shaver about so high. 

Q. How old would you say he w a s ?  

A. I ' d  say eight. And he d sit down there and milk that old cow and sweat. 
He thought he was  a big mn. (lavgt?~) 

Q. Even at the age of eight, he was help t o  you, wasn't he? 

A. C h  yes. You bow, Jks. Berg, it!s hard t o  believe how long weke been 
together. 

Q. I was just  going t o  ask you about the relationship between you and 
your son. You're very, very close, aren't you? 

A. Very close and very, very, few people are that close. 

Q. Do you find tha t  you sor t  of look at a problem and each of you in&- 
pendently corn up with the s a m  solution? 

A. We never had an argumnt i n  our lives. 

Q. He just likes t o  kid you about those ten-dollar beans. 

A. Yes. ( l a m s )  But I love him, and yet today he wants Dad's advlce. 
I sometims think maybe tha t  s not good; Dad ain't going t o  be here too 
much longer. 

Q, We hope tha t ' s  not t rue ,  I%?. Ells. 

A. And then he's going t o  have t o  go on Ms own. 

Q. He wants the beneflt of your experience. 



A. Wen we star ted shipping mllk, I shipped t o  I l l ino i s  Dairy, we @;ot 
$1.75 a hundred; t ha t ' s  twelve gallons of milk. PKk weighs eight pomds 
t o  the gallon o r  a l i t t l e  bet ter .  And I shipped there for,  I don't how,  
I guess twelve, fif'teen years, and I f e l l  out with the plant manager. 
And there was an old fellow running a l i t t l e  dairy in S h e m ;  he wanted 

mUk awf'ul bad. And I said, " A l l  ri@t, you can have it." And I 
started l e t t ing  him have the milk, and we f e l l  out i n  a couple! of years. 
Then I. A. Madden was mw?ing Producer's Dairy in Springfield; he wanted . He said, "Br ing  her on in; we'll  take it." And I finished up 
n y  career with the Producer's Dairy. 

Q. Would you mind t e l l i ng  IE what you f e l l  out about, was it something 
about the business? 

A. Well, a t  the I l l ino i s  Dairy, he was just l ike  a milk Inspector, C a r l  
W t e  w a s  h is  name, he s a d  the milk was d i r t y .  And I said, " C a r l ,  I 've 
been shipphg here for  f i f teen  years. Did it take you fif'teen years t o  
find out tha t  m i l k  was dirty?" You can't argue with a person lfie that ;  
they got the club over y o u  head. And he said, "We just can1 t take it in 
that  shape. " "That s a l l  ri@-it, 'I I s a d ,  "1' 11 quit,  And then over a t  
Sherman, I think he said the milk w a s  sour. I don't remrnber just what we 
f e l l  out about, but anyhow I wasn't very enthused with him. And we went t o  
shippine; t o  the Producer's, and we never had a bit of trouble from then on. 

Q. Did the price you received go up h relat ion t o  the prices you had 
t o  pay? 

A. Oh, yes. It fluctuated at that  tima. Milk yet today is based on a 
three-five butter&t t e s t .  That's what they c a l l  standard. S a y  m i l k  was 
worth $2.00 a hundred fo r  three-flve mllk, and f f it went above tha t ,  say 
three-seven, three-eight , you1 d possibly get $2.50. And i f  it went below 
three-five, you'd probably get $1.60, $1.50. It fluctuated; it still  
does today on the same basis. Today milk is worth about $11 a hundred for  
three-five . 
I ~IOW one tire we was growling about a l i t t l e  mre money fo r  our m i l k - -  
and Mr.. hdden was a pretty nice old fellow that  ma? the dairy-and it went 
ri&t back t o  labor trouble just the same as things are today. He said, 
"Boys, i f  you gave us that  milk, it would still cost the c o n s m r  ten 
cents a quart,. It costs us that  much t o  process it and deliver it .  " 

Q. How about here fo r  your own household, did you use the milk that  . . . 
A. C& yes. And I f  we wanted a  l i t t l e  whipped cream, we kind of fudged 
a  little. (laughter) I raised a l o t  of cane about that ,  you let a can 
of ELlk-ten gallons of milk-set ove rn i a t  and the cream is thick on it. 
It doemlt take much of a dlpper full out of there to get all the whipped 
cream you wanted, but look out, it w i l l  show up on your t e s t  too. 

7Producers Dairy Conpmy w a s  located a t  200 North Ninth Street.  [Ed. 1 



i f  i"chadn't been for rdlking cows I ' d  have never got through the mi- 
versZty of I l l inois ."  He said, "1 took c a ~  of that dairy herd over there 
fo r  four y e w . "  He understood what the dairy business w a s  all about. And 
then we had another one by the nam of McElroy. He was ornery; you couldn't 
satisf'y him. And they f inal ly got t o  where they wanted you t o  have a pan 
between the mLlk b m  and milk house with a disinfectant solution i n  f'c 
that  you walked throu& back and forth. W e l l ,  we never did that .  

Q. W a s  that a requiremnt when you were s t i l l  in the business? 

A. No, it was just becoring enforceable about the time we quit;. It is 
today. 

Q. &I@ of your, neighbors had quite an experience with tha t ,  didn't he? 

A. Yes, that  was with McElroy. He got h i s  pan about so deep f u l l  of stuff. 

Q. About four inches deep? 

A. Yes, and McElroy w a s  shying around it and looking into the milk house, 
and Fitchen, he just pabbed him by the back of the neck and he says, 
"You just  walk through that  ; I do. " And he, [McElmy] suspended him fo r  
two weeks. 

Q. Didn't you t e l l  m that  M r .  McElroy d X n i  t have boots on? 

A. No, he just had low-cut shoes on. 

Q. He didn't appreciate the h m r  of the situation. (laughter) 

A. He ev&dently didn't. 

Q. That was quite a hardship t o  be suspended for  two weeks, wasn 

A. It *was. 

Q. What did he do with the milk? 

A. He gave it t o  hogs. He couldn't t e l l  the cows t o  hold it for two 
weeks. ( l a m s )  

Q. I didn't know i f  he had any opportunity t o  sell it someplace e lse  
during those two weeks. 

A. No, he d i d '  t bootleg it, no way; he just took her out and dwrrped her 
t o  the hogs. And I don% remn-ber what t h e  of year it was, it could have 
been that  it was a tim of year when they had a surplus and they didn't m e  
whether they got any rdlk o r  not. Now, i f  it had been a tim of year when 
there was a shortage of milk, he'd have never been suspended. You know, 
supply and demand had a great effect  on things. 

Q. What about; the price that you receixed for  the m i l k ?  
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Q. What type of things did you have t o  do? 

A. You had t o  paint all the inside of the cow barn, md you had t o  keep 
it clean and keep the f loor limed--the floor was just as white as  that  
pape-and the walls was palnted. Satre way with the milk house, we have a 
d l k  cooler--still out there--you had the keep tha t  milk house just as 
clean as you would a m o m  in your own horse. That's one thing that kind of 
discouraged us, it didn't make any difference what you done, them inspec- 
tors  would always want something else,  want somthing else done. The last 
thing we f e l l  out about tha t  helped n~ decide t o  quite, they c m  out 
here and they was going t o  Inspect the water. I said, "You go ahead and 
inspect it i f  you want, but I'll t e l l  you right now, I ' m  not going, t o  do 
nothing with it. It; suits us. l1 And he w a s  going t o  have me dump a gallon 
of clomx in it, I believe. I 've seen tha t  In water and I said, "You ain't 
going t o  put tha t  in well. And they didnl t . And just such things as 
that  brought on and b m m t  on and . . . 
Q. After all, you were drinking the same water. 

A. Why sure, yes. 

Q. You've never had any trouble w i t h  that well.? 

A. No, the water i s  awful hard, awrul. hard, but we've got a world of it, 
and thank God fo r  that .  So many people hasn't got any. 

Q. How did you clean those mLlk cans? 

A. They cleaned them at the dai ly.  When they brought the can back, it 
was ready t o  put milk in. 

Q. Was it sealed in some way? 

A. Yes, it had a mushroom top that  went down on it Fnside and then over 
the top, regulavl mushroom top is what it w a s .  

Q. They would pick the m i l k  up once a day? 

A. Yes, everyday. 

Q. After you got the mllk, you put it i n  the can and then placed it In 
the cooler? 

A. Put it in the cooler and cooled it, and then the miLkman picked it up. 

Q. What about t h k g s  like washfng your feet off,  your shoes off ,  o r  your 
hands, things l ike  that? 

A. Well, cleanliness w a s  the bible. But we quit before they got too far 
along with tha t .  We was clean enough, as far as tha t ' s  concerned, but as 
I say, those inpectors, it kind of went t o  t he i r  head, especially some of . 
them. Paul  Hanger w a s  a prince of a man. And he to ld  me, he said, " W i n ,  



A. If they s e t t l e ,  we didn't l ike a cow t o  calf mre than once a year. 
We had a l i t t l e  trouble of g t t i n g  a cow t o  s e t t l e  with that  ax4ificia.l 
breeding, and that's no good. When you're in the dairy business, you l i ke  
fo r  e m  t o  corn f%eh kind of uniform, keep your, milk supply pretty mi- 
form. And if one dsses, it w i l l  t h r m  you a l l  out of k i l t e r .  That's one 
of the differ@nces between natural service and arkkflcM. Natural service, 
they don't miss very often. 

Q. Because your dlk: cows would calf every year, would you have a surplus 
of those animals? 

A. We sold a l o t  of them fo r  veal calves. 

Q. Did you ever go ahead and feed sore of them out? 

A. S m '  of them, yes. And we saved a lo t  of them for replacements, for  
heifers, we saved a lo t  of heifers,  go dght  i n  the &lki,ng l ine.  

Q. How long were you in that  business? 

A. Forty-one years. 

Q. Do you remmber when you stopped? 

A. I don't know i f  I do o r  not. 

Q. Has it been quite awhile ago? 

A. It has. It I s  been a t  least  twenty years ago. 

Q. I remrber your tel l -  m tha t  when you first stopped the dhisry 
business . . . 
A. I thought we'd starve because we got our milk check every two weeks, 
but we survived. (laughs ) 

Q. That w a s  a big decision t o  make, wasn't it? 

A. Yes. 

Q. &d it Just get t o  be too mch fo r  you? 

A. Yes, and then Don got wild ideas and wanted to. get married, and I h e w  
I couldn't do it by wself, so we just decided t o  quit. 

Q. Wat about g o v e m n t  restr ict ions,  Mr .  Mils, did you have t o  met 
certain requiremnt s ? 

A. That Grade A specification, yes, you did. 

Q. W& that the federal g o v e m n t  o r  the s t a t e  g o v e m n t ?  

A. State. 



Q. Was that  something l i ke  a refrigerator? 

A. Somthing, yes, similar. It had an i c e  bank in it. It was a water 
cooler, but nevertheless, the coi l s  was &ways covered w i t h ~ i c e .  

Q. Did you rd lk  by hand? 

A. P a r t  of the tW. We finally bought a de Lava1 Milk Machine. And by 
the way, i t 's  out there; I'll sell it t o  you pre t ty  cheap. (laughter) 
I f  you'd put new tubes on it, i t 's  just as good as new. We never did use 
it very much; we didn't l ike  it. 

Q. Is that  r ight? 

A. No, there's two reasons. Don and I could rrdllc cows fas te r  than that  
milk machine could m i l k  them. 

END OF TAPE: 

Q. Mr. Mllls, we were talking about the dairy business and the fact  that  
you bought a milking mchine that  you and Donald didn't like. 

A. Well, we bought it, and we used it possibly a year, and the motor 
burned out on it. I had an ar-nt with the people that  I b o w t  it f m m  
t o  get a new mto r ,  but finally they replaced it; and, of course, i n  the 
mantire we had t o  rr;lLk by hand. The dairy business is  something tha t  I s  
got t o  be tended t o  twice every day; and, I don't know, we just  didn't 
think: too much of it. I'll t e l l  you, they're good; I guess they're be t ter  
today than they was then because them days you put a milk machine on a 
cow's udder and you2eave it on too long, you could suck blood out of her. 
And &t would cause mast itis, and we j ust dlscwded it, quit using It. 

Q. You found with the two of you tha t  you could adequately handle it? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What breed of cows did you have? 

A. Mostly Holstein. 

Q. Did you do your own b r e e m  here on the farm? 

A. Pa& of it, and then we did som art i f icial .  inserrdnation. 

Q. How dld you find out about tha t?  

A. Well, we helped o m z e  the association. They had t o  go around and 
get enough mhers t o  hire a technician, and then we used it. And you c a l l  
him, he'd c m .  

Q. HOW of'ten do you have t o  breed a milk cow? 



Q. Were these people who just moved f r o m  farm t o  fann and shelled corn? 

A. Yes, .cheyfre mounted on a truck anymore, most of them. They're pro- 
pelled by power takeoff. 

Q. I see. You to ld  IW you do have a hand shel ler  In the ban. 

A. I got one out a t  the barn. 

Q. Mr. MiZlg,a good part  of your career you spent as a dairy f m r ?  

A. Thatfs right.  

Q. How did you happen t o  get in to  that  business? 

A. That s t w e d  back there when times was hard and nobody had any money. 
AnythFng you could s e l l  t o  get sore money out of you were in fo r  . . . 
We got s tar ted shipping a l i t t l e  milk. We had what they c a l l  a m i l k  stand 
over here a t  the comer. There was a beautiful big elm t ree  that  stood 
there that  shaded tha t  whole comer. We went together and bui l t  a mLlk 
stand there. The whole nei@borhood would br ing the i r  milk i n  there of a 
morning, and then the rdlk hauler would corn there and pick it up d take 
it t o  Springfield. We star ted shipping milk t o  the I l l ino i s  D a A y a %  It w a s  
there on Fourth Street. liked Schuster was the manager, and Maxy Reilly w a s  
the o f f i ce  clerk. Carl M i t e  was the plant manager, and he was tough. 

Q. Did you start out small? 

A. Yes, we ended up small compavlative t o  what they are today. We s t m e d  
out, I think, shipping ten gallon and the most we ever shipped w a s  f'if'ty 
gallon a day. 

Q. How mmy cows would tha t  be? 

A. We usually aimd t o  miXk about ten cows. 

Q. When you took it t o  the s tat ion up the road, did you put it Fn big 
cans? 

A. Ten-gallon cans. 

Q. Did the man pick up those c a m  and take them in and did they leave 
other cans for you, empties? 

A. Some ths  we had two sets of cans, s o m t ~ s  he'd bring the cans back. 

A. Yes. That went on f o r  several years, and f i n a l l y  we got a mLlk hauler 
tha t  came right t o  the house here and,picked it up. We had a milk cooler, 
and he'd take it- right out of the milk cooler. 

6 ~ l l i n o i s  Dairy was located at 326 North Fourth Street.  [Ed. 1 



you paid your rent.  And when you l e r t  it, you could also s e l l  tha t  house 
and s e l l  your lease i f  you could get somebody t o  buy it. That w a s  in 
t he i r  policy. They just wanted so mch cash rent off of that  land. But 
there fo r  years one of the things tha t  was in their  lease was tha t  at 
least  25 percent of the land had t o  be a legume. But they raised the 
rent on that  land and Jwt turned them loose, they raise anythhg and 
everything. 

Q. Is that  fight? Do you mean each individual f m r  had t o  hold back 
25 percent of h i s  acreage . . . 
A. Thatls the way it used t o  be. 

A. Now then they don't. 

Q. Is mst of that  land farmed by tenants? 

A. Yes, mst of it. There's one of the Scullys l iving over there just 
west of Buffalo. I don't h o w  which one, I never mt him, but he's one 
of the Scullys and he f m .  I don't know how many thousands of acres over 
there hirnself. He feeds a l o t  of ca t t le .  They got two or  three of these 
big blue Harvestores tha t  they s tore  pass silage, corn silage in them. 

Q. Keep it right there on the f m ?  

A. Yes. 

Q. How do you store the corn tha t  you feed here on t h i s  farm? 

A. We store at the elevator. 

Q. Don't you keep som t o  feed your . . . 
A. Not any more. [It's] stored a t  the elevator. They got what they call 
a grain bank up there. You can put it in the pain bank: and go get it 
any time you want it. 

Q. So that  has eliminated your having t o  keep it here on the f m ?  

Q. You told m a t  one ,time you did store it here on the farm . . . 
A. Oh yes. 

Q. In the ear. Dfd you feed it by the ear? 

A. Yes, a l o t  of it. If we had more than we could feed we had shellers 
corn in in the wintertime and she l l  it out. 
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Q. Now did someone f'rm the kpartment of Agriculture cone out and-- 
or did they t e l l  you how t o  do tha t  sort  of thing? 

A. NO, they tawt it t o  ~IE in there. 

Q. You, fn turn, brought t h i s  information . . . 
A. I went out t o  the farm and l a d  them out for  the farmer. They're 
supposed t o  be bu i l t  Pn a saucer shape. They don't want t o  be f l a t ,  they're 
supposed t o  be b u i l t  in a saucer shape. And you got 'GO take a l o t  of things 
into consideration when yout re building a watemay. The f i r s t  thing you 
take in to  consideration i s  the watershed, how much water actually travels 
down that  waterway. You got t o  use your om judgerrent and a l i t t l e  horse 
sense. The leas t  a waterway could be was a rod wide which i s  sixteen feet ,  
and then fYom there on up, the more the watershed, the wider the waterway. 

Q. These watersheds, t h i s  is the natural drainage of the land? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That 's a pretty good thing t o  have. Another thing I wanted t o  ask 
you about w a s  the Sol1 Bank, a g o v e m n t  policy tha t  come out i n  1956, 
whereby f m r s  were paid not t o  plant anything. 

Q. What did you think about tha t?  

A. Well, as I've said before, we can produce mre than we can consum, 
and the world W e t  wouldn't consurne and couldn't consume it. So what's 
the use of producing it. They come out with that  Soil  Bank, and that  Soil  
Bank conserved the so i l .  !They just  left a l o t  i f  it idle.  Most of it 
locally was seeded i n  a legume. Tnat put organic matter back in the so i l ,  
and wet re reaping the harvest off of that  today. 

Q. Is there much of tha t  gokg on today? 

A. Not today, no. This Scully outfit--that's f ig l i sh  awned-they own 
thousands of acres of land f b m  k c h m c s b u r g  t o  LFncoln. It's a l l  good 
land. One of the things in t h e i r  policy was 25 percent of tha t  land had 
t o  be in a legum every year. They t e l l  ms now that  they've opened the 
door. 

Q. They're planting a l l  of it? 

A. !They re planting a l l  of it i n  grain which is not a good thing, but 
they re doing it. 

Q. bn!t  they also raise stock? 

A. No, not very many of them. Them Scully leases they c a l l  them, i t ' s  a 
fumy deal. It was a cash rent deal. You paid so much cash rent for  it, 
and it wax yours, and you b o w t  the house, and it was yours a s  Long as 



A. Yes, I guess it is. They haven't corn up with some cancer causing 
chemical that  I know of. But i t 's  a l l  dangerous s tuff  t o  handle. 

Q. Yes, it has t o  be used with a p a t  deal of caution and respect. 

A. Yes, and you're supposed-if you do it according t o  Hoyle--youf re 
supposed to use a mask and rubber gloves and a l l  tha t  sort  of s tuf f .  
We're In too big a hurry t o  go t o  all that  tmuble. 

Q. But you said this year you had your crops custom treated. 

Q. Did they come in with machinery? 

Q. It went ri&t down the mws? 

A. No, they got a big boom on each side, they take 60 foot at a throw. 
!key can cwer  a l o t  of acres i n  a little while. 

Q. Another thing, when I cam out t h i s  evening, I asked you about a strip 
of land that  rwns t h r o w  the Meld and you to ld  me that  was a conservation 
water ditch? 

A. A waterway, a grass waterway. 

Q. How did you happen t o  leave tha t ,  o r  did somone come out and recomnd 
that  you leave that waterway? 

A. When I was workFng fo r  AAA, Mrs. Berg, I laid them out all over the 
cowtry. And 1'11 adnit, there was a l o t  of money throwed away, and there 
was a l o t  of so i l  saved. And I think the s o i l  saved outwei@ed the waste 
of money because, 1'11 t e l l  you, you take a stream of water going down 
through the  f i e l d  there at a pretty good l ick  washes a l o t  of s o i l  away. 
That's the purpose of a grass waterway. I expect that we've got at least 
two mile of waterways on t h i s  farm. 

Q. So b other words the stand of grass holds the earth i n  place despite 
the fact that the water i s  moving across it? 

A. That's right.  

Q. You told me the water going thr0ugt-i t h i s  p a s s  waterway goes t o  L i t t l e  
Wolf Creek? 

A. Into the river.  

Q. In turn, tha t  drains into the Sangamon River? 

A. That's ri&t. 



scare cane along, they made those fellows put that  corn in  an oven and 
heat it fo r  so long t o  be sure t o  k i l l  the corn borers that  might be in it. 
That kind of t ickled us becam@ that  heat spoiled the luster of tha t  corn, 
but they still  beat us. (laughter) Eddie Lutz and Pete Lutz, you couldn't 
beat them fellows showing corn. They c o ~  f r o m  Sullivan, Indiana. They 
discovered l a t e r  on that tha t  was useless because the trains comhg from 
the east in to  Chic= W o n  Station, especially in the rain, they found them 
corn borers stuck a l l  over that  t ra in .  A s  soon as the t r a i n  stopped and 
se t  awhile, corn borers flew off. So, tha t  was useless. Then they went 
t o  spraying for  them. 

The cycle of a cornborer is a math, m d  they w i l l  lay the i r  eggs Fn a s ta lk  
of corn which is going on right--not now but it w i l l  i n  July.  Those e g s  
w i l l  hatch out in to  the form of a worn, and then they ' l l  bore in to  the 
corn stalk.  O f  c o m e ,  that  weakens the corn stalk and causes a l o t  of 
stalk damage ; corn w i l l  fal l  over. They ' ve done a l o t  of spraying with 
different cherdcals . They got them pretty well under control. You don't 
hear too much about them anymore. But I 've seen quite a few corn borer 
moths this s m r .  Theyf= a l i t t l e  white butterfly i s  what they are about, 
oh, tha t  big. 

Q. About an inch and one-half? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you sprayed fo r  them o r  are you going to? 

A. I never did, no. hihen they're really working, you can go out along a 
corn field t h i s  time of d g h t  and l e t  you car li&ts shine down through 
the rows and tha t ' s  just al ive with those l i t t l e  butterflies i n  there. 

Q. Does that  worry you, M r .  l!Ells? 

A. Not toomuch, it candmags the cornquite  a l o t ,  but they'vemade a 
wonderfil improvement in t h i s  machinery that  downed corn don't bother them 
too much anymore. That used t o  be a headache. 

Q. You man tk machine can get down there and get it? 

Get it and once of it, it through. 

Q. What about controlling weeds? 

A. Well, they're s t i l l  working on them. There's dozens of different com- 
panies advertising chemicals, and they're a l l  the best. Now them can't 
be but one best. We've been using Lasso and Sencar, and we seem to have 
pretty good luck with that .  

Q. When you use those chemicals, does that save having t o  go in and culti-  
vate again? 



A. A two-row. Fact of the matter is, the Mrst  one we had w a s  a Case 
Snapper. It didn't shuck it; it just jerked it off of the s talk.  Then 
the next one was a one-row New Idea. It would even pu l l  the silks off  
of it; it was just as clean as it could be. 

Q. Would it also shuck the corn? 

A. Yes, it was r e a l l y  shucked clean. Then we bought a two-row New Idea 
which we s t i l l  got. Then we went f m m  that  t o  the corrbine. 

Q. Do you remrrber when you got the corrbine? 

A. No, I couldn't t e l l  you. 

Q. Was that  a real big investment? 

A. It is nowadays. I suppose it was figured pretty big back then because 
money wasn't as plentiful  then as it is now, but now then $30,000, $40,000 
for a piece of equiprtent sounds awful big t o  rre. The combine we've got i s  
three years old, and we @ve $16,000 for  it. I can get more money for 
that  today then we give fo r  it. I expect that  same combine today would s e l l  
fo r  at least  $20,000. 

Q. Do you and your son~work on that piece of equipment yourselves? 

A. No, we haven't done mch work on that  kind of equipment. 

Q. You to ld  me you could still  work on that t ractor .  

A. Sure, we could work on that  combine too i f  we were like we was twenty 
years ago. But I'm not, and he wouldn't tackle it by h imel f ,  I know. 

Q. If -you have a breakdown, does someone come out t o  the fm? 

A. Most generally. We have service over here, Brickler Farm Service. They 
come ri@t out on the farm and do most anything. 

Q. What kind of changes have you seen as far as insect and fisease control 
ay.e concerned? 

A. Quite a lo t .  

Q. Has that information corn t o  you through the Farm Bureau? 

A. That's ri&t. It seems l ike  there has been a l o t  of new insects and 
diseases developed i n  the l a s t  ten  years that w e  never heard of before. 
They claim they are b m w t  i n  here by different ways .  I mmmber when I 
was showing corn, the big scare was corn borer, and it star ted in the east ,  
Ohio, and then it moved in to  Indiana. We couldn't beat them fellows i n  
Indiana showing corn. They growed perfect corn. But when that corn borer 



A. Yes. We was just beghning t o  work out of the hard tirnes. Business 
was slow. The inducemt  that  they put out a t  tha t  time t o  s e l l  a t ractor ,  
they would give you the chofce of a cultivator,  a plow o r  a disc, whichever 
one of the three you wanted. Well, I had the disc, and I had the plow, so 
I took the cultivator. I still  got it yet today. 

Q. You to ld  ~lle you've kept a l l  these old pieces of equipment. 

A. Yes, I got a l o t  of horse-drawn equipmnt out there. 

Q. You do? Do you ever klnd of wish you could h ~ o k  a mule up ) t ~  it and 
try it agaln? (laughter) 

A. (narrator nods) When I ' m  gone, Mrs. Berg, you w a n t  t o  attend the 
sale,  it w i l l  be a mss, I ' m  t e l l i ng  you. 

Q. You mntioned once that Donald has one of these t ractors  too. 

A. He has. He's got one of them. 

Q. You a lso  mntioned tha t  you and Donald could have worked on tha t  tractor 
blindfolded . 
A. I thfnlc we could. 

Q. That was somthing that  w a s  brand new t o  you when you got it. 

A. Nine was, h i s  wasrrlt. 

Q. How did you learn that?  Did they teach you how t o  service it or  . . . 
A. No, we just was mechanically minded enough ourselves that we would 
tackle anything l ike  that .  We never thought about taking anything like that 
t o  a shop t o  get it worked on. We worked on it ourselves. We'd been 
around the shops, and we bowed how they did it; so we got our tools,  and 
we done it. 

Q. You said you star ted out with a one-row corn picker? 

A. That's right. 

Q. Was it horse-drawn? 

A. No, it was tractor-drawn. 

Q. That 's when you picked the corn by the ear? 

A. That1a. piat. 

Q. Later you went t o  . . . 



Q. The plow, would tha t  have been just  one blade going down? 

A. No, it was two. A gang plow needs two. 

Q. Two horses? 

A. No, four. You could e i ther  use four o r  five. I 've plowed many a 
day with five, three in back and two in front. Fact of the m t t e r  is, I 
like t o  work them that  way. 

Q. You to ld  me, I&. Mills, tha t  you saved back a couple of mules just 
t o  plant corn. 

A. That's right.  

Q. Even a f t e r  you had a tractor? 

A. That's right.  

Q. Why did you do that? 

A. I don't know why. It kind of gets in your blood, I guess, and I hated 
t o  give up the old mules. I didn't think I could afford a t rac tor  planter, 
which I finally overcome it. 

Q. When you f inal ly sold those mle s ,  where did you s e l l  them? 

A. The k i l le rs .  

Q. Were they old by then? 

A. Yes, they were old. That had done t he i r  j ob . They went . t o  the ki l l e r s .  

Q. What was the f i r s t  t r ac to r  that  you had? 

Q. That's the one you still  have? (lawter) 

A. I s t i l l  got it. (laughs) 

Q. C a n  you st i l l  use it? 

A. Yes, it w i l l  run. We use it, not too often, i t ' s  got a scoop on it. 
About a l l  we use it fo r  is when we haul mure. We use the scoop. 

Q. That was really s o ~ t h i n g  in those days, wasn't it? 

A. Yes. A fellow to ld  n?e t h i s  winter he saw one of those old t h i n s  
s e l l  at a public sale  last winter fo r  $500. 

Q. Is that  r i@t?  

A. Yes, and the fellow t o ld  him, he said, "It won't run." Sombody 
wanted it fo r  an antique. I give $635 fo r  tha t  t rac tor  new. 



Q. Do you stf 11 plant Pioneer corn? 

A. Yes. 

Q. They made a belie%ver out of you? 

A. Well, seeing is believing. 

Q It surely is. You believed in it i f  you sold It fo r  a l l  those years. 

A. I mde a practice of se l l ing  the nLwlbers of corn that  did good for me, 
If they did good fo r  me, I had confidence i n  it enough that I could s e l l  
it t o  you. But if it w a s  sorething new, I wouldn't recomnend it t o  you 
un t i l  it had been t r ied .  

Q. In t h i s  p&fcular area? 

A. Yes. I talked t o  a plant breeder, Ivlrs. Berg, and that  I s  a very, very, 
deep subject. You get a sc ient is t  t o  talking and you want t o  shut up and 
l e t  him do the talking and you do the listening. He said they start thou- 
sands of s trains of corn tha t  come up with nothing. Once i n  awhile, they 
h i t  a good one. He to ld  me-don't ask me how I don't know, tha t ' s  a 
secret i n  being a scientist--they crossed a g ra in  of corn wfth a blade of 
grass, and they come up with a pod about like a pea. It had som l i t t l e  
pimples on it, garLns. They crossed tha t  back on corn, and the next one 
they got was a go l f i a l l  [size] tha t  was f'ull of seeds. And they crossed 
that  thing back and forth on corn until they developed a strain of corn. 
That's plant breeding. 

Q. -Have you found t h i s  increase i n  productivity in other grains? 

A. There hasn't been as mch increase i n  saybeans par t icular ly  as there I 

has been in  corn simply because they can't breed soybeans l ike  they do corn. 
Wheat has increased qqi t  -a- bit in production. 

"" ~> 

&. You don't rase wheat? 

A. Not very much. We had some year before l a s t ,  [but ] we haven1 t had 
any wheat t o  speak of fo r  a long t i m e .  

Q. You s t ick  t o  corn and soybeans? 

A. Corn and beans, yes. 

Q. mat about the equiprnznt tha t  you used, when you were a young man 
and you were using horses and mules, what kind of equipment did you use? 

A. They had equiprent fo r  horse-drawn, there was horse-drawn equipment 
is what it was. 

Q. Was that the gang plow? 

A. That was the .gang plow, cultivator,  just  all kinds of equipmnt tha t  
was hame-drawn equipment. 



was  the top yielder, 168 bushel of dried corn. They took us t o  Jim and 
Babe's Steak House. 

A. Yes, which I didn't think much of. ( l a m s )  

Q. Was the steak good tho@? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That's good. Did you keep a pretty close record of the yield that 
your customrs got f m m  the corn you sold? 

A. Not too close, only by mouth. I didn't keep no record on it. !They 
always to ld  me i f  they had a good crop, and they always to ld  me i f  they 
didnl t have a good crop. (laughs) 

Q. I'll bet they did. 

A. This hybrtd corn, it a l l  goes by numbers. This particular nmber we 
had out here was 3376, which was a very populw number. 1 thFnk the corn 
that  he raised out there w a s  3334. 

They're continuously changing the breeding of t h i s  corn str iving fo r  
s turdier  s talks,  more resis tant  t o  insects,  yield and atandability. They've 
got a l o t  of things t o  take in to  consideration when they are breeding corn. 
After they develop a s t ra in  of corn, they test that  f o r  seven yews before 
they put it on the market. That sounds l ike  a long time, but they raise 
two crops a year. They'll r a s e  one here and one i n  Florida and one Fn 
Argent h a .  

Q. I see. So they are able t o  double up then? 

A. Yes. You know what a bad rider corn would do t o  t he i r  reputation i f  
they..let it get out. 

Q. Have you ever had a yield close t o  the 198 bushel yield you had before? 

A. I never had tha t  before. 

Q. How about since, have you ever had it since? 

A. Yes, I think I've had it since, but it wasn't Fn a t e s t  plot. That 
was a t e s t  plot fo r  the company whereby we had sixteen diffexent samples 
planted right side by side. They had t o  be harvested separately, taken t o  
the elevator and weighed and tested separately. supervisor was here, 
and he took the data on al l  of it. In fact ,  he rode the combine t o  find 
out the s tandabi l i ty  and the ear dropage, all that s tuff  was taken into 
consideration. mey had a pretty cornplebe picture as t o  what a nmber corn 
would do. And they had those t e s t  plots not only here but a l l  over the 
State of I l l inois .  They would get those figmes together, and tha t  was a 
pretty good way t o  p m e  out a s t r a i n  of corn. 



the nam of &or& Bby called on me and wanted t o  know i f  I would be 
interested i n  a dealership. We talked around awhile, and I sald, "I 
don't know, I mL@t give it a w h i r l .  I can always qa t s ! '  He said, 
"All ri&t. He wrote up a contract, and I've got the contract i n  there 
yet. ( p o h t s  t o  bedman) We went along fine, and I w a n  a l l  kinds of 
prizes f 'mm the corrpany, everything, tools,  set of lamps there in the 
l iving mom and I don't know what all. He was a fine fellow, but he liked 
his liquor. We would have two o r  three meetings a year, and he alwws 
wanted t o  have them out a t  the--there on Wabash Avenue, I forget the rm-e 
of the place. Anyway, they had a bar i n  there and he was at the bar more 
than he was a t  the metings . Maybe he '.d be able t o  talk,  and maybe he 
wouldn"r,. He was a good supervisor; that  ' s what they called them, DSM'S . 
The corrpany wouldn't fire him [but] finally--I don't know just what 
happened t o  him--he qui t  o r  somthing. 

Then they got another fellow by the name of Alva Lamb who was a prince of 
a man. He took quite a Uking t o  m, and we got along fine. I planted 
two t e s t  plots for  h im,  ri@t out here east of the house, at different 
times. The nearest I ever come t o  raising 200 bushel of corn t o  the acre 
was in one of those t e s t  plots. I raised 198 bushel t o  the acre. 

Q. Do you remrrber what year that  was? 

A. No, I don't think I can in particular.  

Q. I just wonde~d,  w a s  tha t  a year tha t  the weather was just real great? 

A. It was [a] perfect year. 

Q. Even today, that  would be fantastic,  wouldn' t it? 

A. Well, not too fantastic,  Mrs. Berg, there1s a l o t  of corn anymre tha t ' s  
making 180, 190 bushel t o  the acre. There was corn in the neighbohood 
las t  year that  did  it. 

Q. Is that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And l a s t  year wasn't considered a particularly good year. 

A. No, it wasn't; but it w a s  spotty. We were, so happened t o  be i n  an 
area right here where we &Ldntt; have no rain a l l  s w r .  Five miles from 
here they had a wonderful crop. That f e l l m  that  I mentioned that  raised 
168 bushel t o  the acre, 1'11 bet h i s  corn was all bet ter  than tha t  laxt 
year. And he l ives  out east of W i l l i m v i l l e  about f ive mile. 

Q. That particular case was a m who w a s  the first one t o  ralse that  
mch. Was he one of your customers? 

A. He was one of nly customers. They offered a steak dinner for  the man 
and h i s  wife plus re and q wife fo r  the hi@est yield In the area. He 
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A. We W regulations to go by--this is vhat they called their central 
divisim--and the regulations on cxtr corn, it had to  be tm inches lag. 
%t was a nust; it had to be. It could be a li t t le lmger ,  but it 
ccwldn't be no shorter. 'Ihat's a hard job to do to find a ten-inch corn 
that's anyways mar pesfect , and that one single ear was almost perfect. 
I got acquainted with a lo t  of p e ~ p l e  a l l  over the country, Indiana, Ohio, 
Nebradw, North Dakota, and I ran across a fellaw up there [WhOJ was in 
the northam division that shuwed 8 112 inch corn. He said, "Could you 
pick me cut a $9od ten-ear s q l e  of 8 112 inch carn?" I said, "Yes, I 
can get you a good one 8 1/2 inches." So I did and took it up themnext year 
and s b d  it to him. 'Ihey was shming com the sene reason w was; 
they was selling seed com. If they could say they rmn a prize at the 
htematltonal Fat St& Show, that mant a boost in their business. So I 
s-d h-9 my t e ~  ears. "Gosh, " he says, 'that locks good. l1 I said, 'Well, 
I don' t thi& there's arry question but what yau d d  w i n  w i t h  that in 
your r a m ,  but I can't shm it." So he says, 'That do you want for it?" 
I e W k d , .  and I said, 'Nil, I want $5 an ear for that ten ears of corn." 
Ne studied a l i t t le  while, and he says, "I 'm going to  buy it. l1  (laughter) 
It ' s a l i t t l e  an the crocked side. He said, "Cane back here. " We was in 
the grandstand there &ere &ey held the Interntianal Show, and they had 
a little cubbyhole there of sare kind. He says, "Came back in here." He 
began to unbutton his clothes, and he had a m y  belt  an. He got in there 
and got zae out $50.00 and give te for that ten ears of corn. And he s h m d  
i t ,  and he mn with it. Yes, s i r ,  he won fixst place with that ten ears 
of cam. 

Q. 'ihat was a real boost of business then, wasn't it? 

A. m ' d  have thrcrwn us both out of the shm if they h e w  what happened. 
(laughter) But I Zmew it was going on; you could see it every day. That ' s 
shuw b u s ~ s .  

Q. tJas that Wing the time that you were a dealer for Pimeer or did 
that came later? 

A. No, that was before. I never s h d  my, Pianeer corn because there was 
no u n i f d t y  to it. Yau couldn't get tvm ears that locks anyways near 
alike. I tried it, but you can't. 

Q. k b n  you w e  a dealer for Pimeer ,  did you raise scaxle of the seed corn 
k e  on tb f m ?  

A. No. 

Q. It um rabed sane place else? 

A. They s a i s d  their seed plot, it was m r  at Mrtm and wer at Cham- 
paign, that's rn of Pioneer's plants. 

A. I W the te r r i to ry  here of two tmdxips, Fancy Creek and Williams, 
lhey m e  lwal ly  a r d  here. I started frrxn not.hing and I wrked that up 
to about, I thhk a r d  700 bushel a year, which was quite a boost. 
You wanted to  knw hr;rw I cane to get t o  b~ a dealer. I guess they had heard 

' r  Pretty rmch interested in seed corn, good wm. There was a by 



Q. l?Q goodness, that ear  of corn sure got amund, didn't i t ?  

Q. 1'11 bet that w a s  a t h r i l l .  

A. It W a s .  

Q. Tell me, when you harvested, how did you determine that th i s  was an 
ear of corn that should be shown? 

A. In judging anything uniformity--they judge it by points--uniformLty 
usually catches the eye ahead or  anything. If It 's  uniform, that looks 
p o d 3  that ' s  50 polnts right there. Then they st& digging i n  for  dif- 
ferent characteristics: Indentations, f i l l  out over the ends of the ears 
and the color. They t& a l l  those things into consideration. 

I w a s  wry well acquainted with the corn judges, Frofessor Hackelman and 
Claude Chapman, fmmthe University of I l l inois .  They w e r e  very good 
friends of mine. I showed corn every year a t  the Intermatiom1 Fat Stock 
Show for, oh I guess, ten years. I core within that  mch (points t o  t i p  of 
index f'inger) of winnhg first up there on a ten-ear sample. They were 
Judging the corn, and I w a s  there, and Professor Hackelman come t o  m and 
he says, 'Win ,  one of those  ears has g ~ t  dep1odia.I' He took m and showed 
m, and it did have. He says, "I've ei ther  got t o  t h r o w  that  sample out 
or put it way down tenth o r  fifteenth place." 'Well,'' I said, "just throw 
her out of the show." Which he did. 

Deplodia is a disease. Corn a t  that  time was judged on quality fo r  seed, 
which we did s e l l  quite a bit of seed. An ear t ha t l s  got deplodia is no 
good. It w i l l  have a rotten streak ri&t across the kernel just l ike that. 

Q. Toward the loner end of the kernel? 

A. Yes. Now then, we w e r e  a l lwed  t o  take out two kernels for  inspection, 
and we usually t r i ed  t o  pu l l  those two kernels as n e u  the center of the 
ear as possible. They usually ei ther  took out two kernels when they was 
judging above or  below where we took them out. He happened t o  take out 
the two kernels above where I pulledthem, and those two kernels had that  
rotten streak ri@t across the kernel. 

Q. That was a disappointmnt , wasn't i t ?  

A. Yes, that  was a dissppointment . And he had up in second place. 

Q. Did you do something t o  the ears? 

A, Oh, yes, we polished them and polished them. I've spent hours a f te r  
hours af'ter hours after days after days ge t t ing tha t  corn fixed. I'll t e l l  
you another experience I had; you can ei ther  record it o r  l e t  it go. 

Q. We want t o  hear it. 



Q. Tel l  m about that .  

A. The first corn show I ever went t o  was, I think, 1929 in  Hamibal, 
Missouri. I had the ,pmd-champion, single ear. It w a s  a National Corn 
Show i n  I-Iannibal, Missouri. It was a beautiful ear of corn. 

Q. That m u s t  have been a thrill. 

A. It was. They had a big banquet and presented me with a trophy. The 
rules of that show, everything tha t  we showed, they paid pretty good 
prizes. I remember particularly the first prize on tha t  single e m  of 
corn was $25.00. That was a l o t  of money fo r  a single ear of corn. 

Q. It sure was. 

A. They would s e l l  a l l  the corn that  was entered in  that  show. Well, it 
was kFnd of a racket. They expected the exhibitor t o  buy that  corn back 
so they wouldnlt be out no prize mney, and the exhibitor would get h i s  
corn back. (laughter) But it didn't work; I to ld  them, I saPd, "No, I 
don1 t want the ear? of corn, go ahead and sell  it. " They did, they sold 
it, and I t  bmught $25.00. 

There was a man in Indiana bo@t it, Indiana is quite a corn country, and 
they show corn over there a l l  winter long. This happened in Hannibal, 
Missouri, along ewly  in  the fall. He b o w t  tha t  ear of corn and took it 
horn with him, It so happened he was back i n  this  area the next spring 
se l l ing  f e r t i l i z e r ,  m d  I said, " S a y ,  what shape is that ear  of corn in; 
i s  it good e n o m  t o  show again?" "Oh,1v he says,  "1 think it would be. l1 

I said, III1d l ike  t o  have tha t  ear of corn back; what w i l l  you take for  
it?" He says,  "What w i l l  you give?" ( h a t e r )  I said, "Ill1 give you 
$5.00 i f  youl l l  ship it back t o  me ." He said, " A l l  right, 1'11 do it. " So 
I gave him a f ive dollar  b i l l ,  and i n  about two weeks I got a notice from 
the express off ice I had a package the=. I went and got it, and it was 
that  ear of corn. Well, I showed that  ear  of corn at the I l l ino i s  State 
Fair, and I won first and pand  champion on it at the State Fair. 

Q. That would be the next year? (laughter) 

A. You catch on f a t  .. 
Q. You surely do know a bargain, M r .  Kills. 

A. I sent that  ear  of corn-they had another National Corn Show, Inter- 
national Corn Show, i n  Regina, Canada--and I sent tha t  ear of com i n  a 
ten-ewcom sarrrple t o  Regina, Canada, and showed it. I won ninth place 
on that  ten-ear sample up there. Tney sent me a check for  forty-ei@t, 
forty-nhe dollars, and I took it up t o  the bank, and I says, "Is t h i s  
thing worth anything?" He says, "I don't know, we f l l  have t o  send it i n  
and see." They only discounted it two or  three dollars. 

I got that ear of corn back on a F ~ i d a y  and the Fair opened up on Saturday, 
and I showed that ear  of corn again at the fair in a ten-ear sample, and I 
won first, champion and grand champion. 



i t ' s  a write-off b i l l  on the i n c m  tax. (laughs) Mhy burden yourself 
with somthing, that  s tuf f  is  dangerous. 

Q. Do you have t o  have special equipnmt t o  use i t ?  

A. We have got the spray and. we can spray it. O f  course, these people 
a t  the elevators sprayed custom spraying, and they've got sprayers mounted 
on bf g tmcks--&hey1 ve got two of them. Boy, they can cover a l o t  of acres 
in a l i t t l e  while, but tha t  costs. 

Q. What kind of changes have you seen i n  the way you plant crops? You 
star ted out as a young man using horses and mules, and I lmow you have some 
very sophisticated equipment today, so you've seen a l o t  of changes. 

A. I have. 

Q. When did you begin depending more on mechanized equipmnt? 

A. When they introduced hybrid corn. That's when we seen the big change 
in the productivity of corn. Henry Wallace i s  the man that  Invented hybrid 
corn fo r  nly way.  When I star ted se l l ing  Pioneer corn, it was, oh l e t ' s  
see, 1952 when I s tar ted  selling corn. 

Q. This was as a dealer f o r  Pioneer brand? 

A. Yes, and people were skeptical of it for  two reasons. You can't keep 
it fo r  seed. The old corn we used t o  ra ise  is what they cal l  the old-type 
Reed Yellow Dent. That's the corn I showed; it was beautif'ul corn. 

Q. What was that  name again? 

A. Reed Yellow Dent. 

END SIDE ONE 

A. People were a l i t t l e  skeptical of hybrid corn because it can't be 
kept .for seed. It won't do too bad the first year, but a f t e r  tha t ,  i t 's  
just  l iable  t o  go all t o  pieces. So they didn't take no chances, they just 
e i ther  bought hybrid corn o r  planted the old-type corn. Hybrid corn out- 
yieldedthe old-type corn, and it was so mch more sturdy and vigorous than 
the old-type corn, they just quit it entirely. They went strai&t t o  hybrid 
corn. It would outproduce the old-type corn. 

Q. About how mch? 

A. I' d say anywhere from thirty-flve t o  f i f t y  bushel t o  the acre. 

Q. You mntioned that  you showed corn? 

A. I did. 



them abreast o r  we worked them in tandem, anyway that  suited the job. 

Q. You had a cer ta in  way t o  do it fo r  a ce&& job? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What would be your first job i n  the spring? 

A. Tne first job back them days was breaking stalks,  raking them and 
cleaning the pound. That's a l o t  different from today; you wouldn't think 
of b u a h g  a stalk today. They raked those and bwned them. Nowadays, 
they got t h i s  heavy equipment you can go out in a cornstalk f i e ld  and just  
cut that thFng a l l  t o  pieces. You would be suvcprised how it has changed 
the organic matter in the s o i l  by leaving that  residue on the s o i l  and 
plowing It under. Back them days, they cleaned it off as clean as th i s  
table; there w a s  just no organic matter i n  it. 

4. About what time did that  become the thing t o  do t o  plow it back in to  
the s o i l  rather than t o  burn it off? 

A. I ' d  say in the 1920ts, along Tn there. 

Q. Was t h i s  information that  cam to you from the universT%y? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would tha t  come thm@ som local  organization? 

A. The local  Farm Bureau. The sam thing exists  t o m ;  the farm adviser 
talks on the radio pretty near every day. Him or  his assistant gives you 
the @;rowing conditions, diseases and what not tha t ' s  happened t o  the growing 
crop. It s valuable information. 

Q. They not only t e l l  you what's going on, but they help you with a 
remedy t o  correct a s i tmtaon that  develops? 

A. ThattsYzi&t. I don't how, there's been an awf'ul l o t  of spraying 
with chemicals and a f f e r e n t  things, and I just wonder how EPA is going t o  
take that .  You know yourself, they've got anymore t o  where everything, even 
the clothes you wew, cause cancer. So I don't know i f  they w i l l  outlaw 
these &emicals o r  not. If they do, I'll te l l  you, it w i l l  be quite a 
slap i n  the f m r '  s face. They've got chemicals that  w i l l  do almost any- 
thing you want t o  do, k i l l  weeds. It's a kw?y thing about tha t ,  them 
chemica,ls, some of them you can spray corn with. After d l  corn belongs 
t o  the grass family. There is another chemical that  w i l l  k i l l  corn, but 
you can spray soybeans with it. 

Q. You certainly have t o  know the ri&t thing t o  use then, don't you? 

That s 

Q. Do you do yowl own spraying on the fann? 

A. S o m t f n ~ s  we do. Tbis year we hired it a l l  done custom. After al l ,  



Q. It's much more sc ient i f ic  today? 

A. Oh, yes. i3a.ek.b the horse and b w  days, there wasn't no such 
thing as f l e l d  hamresting. We have a corn crib out here and one out at the 
barn, and solnetimes tha t  wouldnlt hold it. We picked it in the ear and 
stored it i n  the ear. It would stay un t i l  the f o l l m h g  winter, and then 
we l d get a shel ler  t o  corn i n  and she l l  it out fo r  us and then take it t o  
the elevator. That's the two different mthods of farming, now and back 
then. 

Q. Different equip=&? 

A. Yes, today a combine i s  used fo r  harvesting everything: corn, wheat, 
oats, beans and everything. There are a few local i t ies  that  are s t i l l  
using corn pickers, cribbing It i n  the ear. 

Q. You mean i n  t h i s  area? 

A. Not around t h i s  area, no. 

Q. Are there som places where it is being picked by the ear in I l l inois?  

A. Yes. I don t know what the Amish se t  t lernent i s  doing over around 
Arcola and Arthur whether they pick by picker o r  corrbine. They are a wry 
peculiar t r ibe  of people. 

Q. Yes, they are. Letls t a lk  something about the farming. When you were 
a young man, you f m d  with draft animals, &Ldnl t you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How many did you have? 

A. From ten t o  twelve head. 

Q. Homes o r  mules? 

A. Both. 

Q. %much pasture did you have t o  have fo r  them. 

A. Ch,  we had about twenty acres in permanent pasture. [During] wo~k 
season, they didn't get too  much pasture. We kept them up and fed them 
dry feed. If we put them out on pasture, they couldnlt stand the heat. 

Q. How did you work them, i f  you had ten t~ t w e l v e  head, did you alter- 
nate the ones tha t  you used? 

A. There was always som of them bunged up s o ~ w h e r e ,  and they always 
had a few extras. They always bred t he i r  mares, and they raised the colts;  
and, of course, that  made extra horses. Weld break those col ts  when they 
were three years old. You just had a surplus around, a s+called surplus. 
As to how we worked them, we worked them anyway we needed them. We worked 
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A. I called him yesterday, one of the e lemtors ,  yesterday a f t e r  the 
&et had closed. I ' d  heard what it had done, went up four cents yester- 
day. Fact of the m t t e r ,  I had called the other one f'irst , and I said, 
"What are you bidding on corn today?" He said, "Tb~o dollars and twenty- 
eight cents. '' But I said, "I don't w a n t  t o  s e l l .  " (lau@s) So I called 
the other elevator and I said, What are you bidding on corn today?" ''Two 
dollars and twenty-eight cents," he saLd.. I said, ''You couldn't mmke that 
$2.30, it would be a l o t  easier  figuring?'' He said, "I ' rn afraid not. " 

llWell, l1 I said, " I ' m  just going t o  sel l  you 1088 bushel. Now he had t o  
get shut of that  corn o r  take a chance on the market being down today. 
So he called som broker; he didn't keep that corn ten minutes. 

Q. You real ly have t o  be on the bal l ,  don't you? 

A. That's plainly speaking, you do. (laughter) I was up there one time, 
Mrs. Berg, and sold som corn o r  some beans, one, and things were pretty 
quiekA, seemingly. And after he got done t a l k h g  t o  re, he turned r i @ t  
mund t o  pick up the telephone t o  c a l l  the broker, and they went down s i x  
cents. He los t  s i x  cents a bushel there i n  less than f ive minutes. 

Q. His is a pretty precarious job, i s n ' t  i t ?  

A. You got t o  be on the bal l .  And by the s m  token, it w i l l  happen the 
other way. It could have gone up s i x  cents above what he gave m. But 
it'll average out pretty evenly. He may loose on one, but h e ' l l  make on 
the next one. 

Q. I observed a si tuat ion the last two years, Mr. Mills, where corn has 
been-laybg on the ground in  p i les  around an elevator. 

A. They was aut of stomge space fo r  it. And you how, i t 's  remarkable 
how that  pain w i l l  keep out in the weather that way. It ssem l ike  It 
f o m  a coating and st icks together. You see i t ' s  in a cone-shged pi le ,  
and it w i l l  s t ick  together and shed water just like a roof. Now you don't 
want t o  w a l k  on that  corn and make holes in it. Keep kids off of it. If 
you don't, it w i l l  mt. That leaves the water right in it. It may l ay  
there fo r  a mnth o r  two. They eventually clean it up when they get room 
t o  handle it. 

Q. Yeam ago, how did you determine when it w a s i t i m e  t o  harvest your corn? 

A. Well, nowadays you .p entirely on the moisture content. 

Q. How do you determine the mi s tu r e  content? 

A. They have moisture tes ters ;  we have one of our own. You know, you 
always s t r ive  t o  s e l l  nurnber two corn, and rimer two corn is allowed t o  
have 15.5 percent moisture. If you have mre than tha t ,  you' re docked. 
I f  it has less  than that ,  you1 re losing money. So you s t r ive  t o  s t r ike  
as near around 15.5 percent as you can. I f  you put corn i n  the elevator 
at 20 percent moisture, which we do a l o t  of tirnes up as hi@ as 25 percent 
mist=, they've a l l  got dryers. They dry that  corn down t o  15.5 percent, 
and you stand the shrink. They charge you about, I think, three and one- 
half cents, four cents a bushel t o  dry it. 
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He l ikes  t o  rub it i n  a l i t t l e .  (laughter) 

Q. I' 11 bet he does. 

A. It!s a garre of chance. 

Q. I ' m  s u e  it is. W i l l  you always dispose of last. years crop before 
you harvest the current year? 

A. No. I f o m d  a habSt, why I couldn't t e l l  you, of holding rqy crop 
aver. Now the stuff that  I ' m  sellin@; now was produced &it year. I never 
was taught t o  s e l l  anything before I had it. You can c a l l  the elevator 
and s e l l  t h i s  crop of beans right out here fo r  $7.56 a bushel. But, they 
buy bushels. They'd say, "How many acres you got; what do you estimate 
they1 11 make. " Thirty bushels, s ixty acres, eiateen-hundred bushels, they ' d 
m k  you down sold eignteen-hundred bushels of beans. And now you bet ter  
have them. If you haven't got them, you got t o  core up with somthing, 
mney o r  the beans, one. 

Q. If you don't have them you have t o  buy then? 

A. That ' s right.  I f  they ' re $10.00 a bushel, that  s your hard luck. 

Q. You are participating Fn a m k e t  today tha t  your father would be 
unfamLliar with then? 

A. Yes, tha t  I s  right. A l t h o w  seem l ike  we 're closer t o  the m k e t  to- 
d&y on account of radio and television and what not, and we pay closer 
attention t o  it. Them days, they didn't get t o  town too often. O f  course, 
they had the telephone and newspaper, but tha t  didn't keep you up t o  date. 

Q. T o m  our opportunity t o  observe what's @ing on i s  instantaneous with 
radio and television which it wasn't back when he was selling. 

A. That's rLght. I don't know who s e t  the ru les  and regulations of the 
b a r d  of Wade in Chicago--that's the gr& center of the world, the market 
center--but sombody core up with the rule tha t  soybeans can break as much 
as  thiPty cen$s a day, up o r  d m .  If they do that  three days i n  a r o w ,  
then they drop back t o  twenty cents a day, up o r  down. And tha t ' s  dangerous, 
I'll t e l l  you, i f  you're playing the board strajgjnt. They went up sixteen 
cents today. 

Q. They did? Do you et that  report Fn the mrming or  at noon? 

A. A t  noon, twelve o'clock, the lllarket closes at one o'clock, opens a t  
nine and closes a t  one. 

Q. Do you deal through the elevator o r  do you deal through a broker? 

A. No, we deal with the e lamtor ,  and he deals with the broker. 

Q. So you have several people involved then. 



produced pre t ty  good and pretty good market f o r  them, and today they're the 
best crop we got by far. Hell, they're hovering around ten dollars a 
bushel all the tire. 

Q. How mch of your farm t o w  is i n  soybeans? 

A. I ' d  say about 50 percent. 

Q. You're 50 percent soybeans and 50 percent corn? 

A. Yes, close t o  that .  That is  i n  t h i s  m a .  Now i n  som areas, it w i l l  
run more t o  soybeans and less  corn o r  more corn and l e s s  soybeans. I heai-d 
a fellow say the other night f r o m  the south, he normally has 2500 acres of 
cotton; he's planting it a l l  t o  soybeans. 

Q. Oh w,  2500 acres. 

A. Well, t h e i r  yield down there is  not nothing t o  compare with ours, so 
it mi@t not be as bad as it sounds. 

Q. The corn you ra ise  on the farm, at leas t  sow of tha t  you keep t o  feed, 
don't you? 

A. Oh yes. 

Q. What about the soybeans? 

A. We don't keep many soybeans, i n  fact ,  we don't keep none but our seed. 

Q. You keep some of your crop fo r  the seed fo r  next year? 

A. Yes, we haven't got the storage; we usually s t o ~  them i n  the elevators. 
They've got plenty of storage, and we put them i n  there and pay. storage on 
them. 

Q. Then do you watch the market? 

A. Yes, try to. (lau&ter) 

Q. I heard somone compare that  t o  being in Las Vegas. 

A. Well, there ain't much difference. 

Q. Co you l i s t en  t o  it every day? 

A. Everyday at noon. Corn was up four cents yesterday, and I sold 1088 
bushel. Today it was up one-half cent. 

A. I ' m  not going t o  t e l l  you about the beans. Last f a l l  we got them in  
the elevator, and I sold them, sold part  of them for $7.35 which I 
considered, and still  do, as a good price f o r  beans. Well, Donald hung on 
t o  his, and he hasn't sold any f o r  less than $10.00, that  up t o  $10.10. 
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Q. When you say the bins, we're talking about the surplus grain that wax 
stored? 

A. Yes, there wasn't many farms, there's a few more farm-today, quite a 
few more farm today tha t  has farm storage thani,there w a s  back then. 
They depended on those bin s i t e s  fo r  starage. When they had the sales and 
sold those bfns, there was a l o t  of farms, well, the bins went t o  some 
farm somewhere. You lonow how they mved them? 

Q. No. 

A. Helicopter. They just hover d m  over that  bin,  throw a rope o r  some- 
thing around it and just raise up with it and fly acmss corntry wherever 
you wanted it, and they just s e t  it d m  on the ground just as easy as you 
s e t  a basket down. 

Q. What were those bins made of? 

A. Galvmized s tee l .  

Were they put. in to  concrete somthing t o  hold them fas t?  

A. Som of them. The ones tha t  was put out on the farm, I ' m  pretty sum 
w a s  put i n  concrete, the mst of them. But around these bin s i t e s ,  I don't 
think they were set i n  concrete; they were s e t  on concrete blocks. 

Q. I see. 

A. I never heard of one of them blowing away o r  blowing over. 

Q. When was it that you stopped working fo r  AAA? 

A. Gosh, I don't know when it was. I worked for  them for  about twenty-six 
years, Mrs. Berg. I s tar ted  i n  1932, that  would be about 1948, wouldn't it? 

Q. Yes it would. 

Q. Are you still  to ld  today how mch of your acreage should be planted? 

A. Well, no, not too much. They are thinking about it pretty strongly 
right nm. They are coming back w1tk;the allotment system because we 're 
producing more than we can possibly conswne- There' s no starage. Now the 
Secretary of Agriculture, Bergland, he's considering sore more g o v e m n t  
storage. I don1 t know what kind o r  anything about it, but demand increased 
a l l  over the world for  our foodstuff. 1'11 t e l l  you, soybeans i s  a wonderful 
crop. They make so many different things out of soybeans, and they claim 
they ve j ust scratched the surface. 

&. This is  a crop tha t  you said wasn't raised very much i n  the early 1930's. 

A. No, it wasn't. But it got ahold and people like them, and they 



A. Ehtitled you t o  the support price. 

Q. What t3.m of the year, W. Mills, would the comty comit tee t e l l  you 
how much you could plant? 

A. Not giving you a short answer, but i n  plenty of time t o  make your 
plans. 

Q. That s the p o h t  I wanted t o  mab. 

A. Yes, they give your a l lo tmnt  i n  plenty of tirne t o  make your plans for  
the year. 

Q. When would you go out? 

A. They usually sent us out t o  masure them crops along i n  August, last of 
July, first of August. And I didn't  find too much trouble with overplant- 
ing. I found one, and he was qy enew fo r  a long tim. But I said, "Bob, 
i t 's  not faul t ,  itfs the job tha t  I got t o  do, and I f= just got t o  turn 
it in that you have got f ive acres too much corn." With I did. He corn 
t o  me a year or  so a f t e r  tha t ,  and he said, "You was right. If  He famed four 
o r  five farms. He said, "1 got those different allotments mixed up. So I 
said, !Bob, If  m awf'ul glad t o  hear you say tha t ,  and If rn a w f U  somy that  it 
happened, but it s no faul t  of mine. " 

Q. You had a feeling about the job that  you had t o  do? 

A. Well sure, the re f s  only one way t o  do anything, and tha t ' s  honestly. 
And a f t e r  a l l ,  I w a s  working for  the government, the United States g o v e m n t  . 
They send people to jail, t o  the penitentiary, i f  you defraud the g o v e m n t .  

A. And I never had nobody t o  t ry  t o  bribe m. 

Q. That I s  good. 

Q. Did the si tuat ion on the farms improve with the a l lo tmnts  and the 
support prices? 

A. Well, yes, it put mre mney i n  the hands of people. Now, you how, you 
seen these bin s i t e s  spring up all over the country i n  your t h ~ .  Of course, 
they've done away with them now, and they wish they had them back. They 
would store that p a i n  in  there and the g o v e m n t  would pay them the support 
price. And I canft t e l l  you what the support price w a s ,  but it was quite a 
bit above the m&et p&ce which the f m r  would have had t o  take i f  he 
had took it t o  the elevator. It [the grain] stayed i n  those bins. I think 
it was a good thing, but yet it gave the Secretary of Apiculture quite a 
leverage over the market. He had millions of bushels of grain t o  dispose 
of,  and he had quite a temptation now t o  accept bribes and what not. Some 
say they did; I dont t know myself. 



allowed t o  ra ise  so rr~lny hogs; and i f  you had anymore than tha t ,  there was 
a penalty attached t o  it. 

Q. Do you remember what that  penalty was? 

A. No, I don't, Mrs. Berg. 

Q. Well, t e l l  us that story about the man who had too many hogs when you 
cam back for the second count. You would count mre than one time, wouldn't 
you? 

A. Yes, twice. 

Q. A t  what intervals? 

A. Well, we usually counted in October and Decerrber. And it was perfectly 
permissible for  him t o  have more hogs i f  herd  have had som farrowed or  i f  
he had bo&t some. And i f  he had b o w t  som, I wanted t o  see h is  receipt 
where he paid for  them. That would c lear  him and i f  he had som fmowed,  
why, tha t  was proDf enom i t s e l f  that  they w a s  farrowed after the f i r s t  of 
October. 

Q. You would be able t o  determine tha t  by the s ize of them? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So what happened In t h i s  particular case? You went out i n  October. and 
you counted his- hogs, and then you went back i n  December and what did you 
find? 

A. Somthing not very pleasant. There was nine or  ten more in Dece&er 
than there was i n  October which was permissible i f  he had farrowed some o r  
b o w t  som,  but he hadn't done e i the r  one. And I asked him what happened, 
and he wouldn't answer m; he woulmrt say nothing. Well, a l l  I could do 
was turn i n  what I found. And they juggled it around some way  and didn' t 
penalize him; I don't has how, but they did. 

Q. Mdnrt  you have another case where a man had t h i r t y  too many hogs? 

A. That's fiat, and I stood there and watched h i m  knock them th i r ty  pigs 
i n  the head, nice a p i g  as you ever saw i n  your l i f e .  I went i n  there l a t e  
i n  the eve- the day before and counted them, and I s a d ,  "George, you 
got too many hogs." He-says, "I knaw it." I said, 'What are you going t o  
do with them?" He says, 'We're going ko k i l l  them in  the morning. " I says, 
"NO, w e  re not going t o  k i l l  them; mybe you are, but I ' m  not. " And I went 
back the next morning and stood there and watched him and his son-in-law 
k i l l  th i r ty .  

Q. So he preferred t o  do that  rather than pay. the penalty? 

A. That's right.  

Q. You were al lo t ted  so much acreage t o  plant and then did that  en t i t l e  
you . . . 



A. No, seasonal. ?he comty cormnittee knew how many f m  there was i n  
the comty, and we used t o  have met- t o  se t  up [the] productivity of 
each fm. Now this township, as long as I've lived here there is very 
few farms i n  t h i s  t m h i p  tha t  I didn't h o w  somthing about as far as 
productivity was concerned. And I've argued with them fellows worse 
than the s t a t e  legiskature. (laughs) I think we have one of the most 
productive farms, i f  not the mst productive farm up there south of W i l l i a m s -  
v l l l e  tha t  was in the county. ?"natls awfW good M d  around WilLiamsville. 
Well, there w a s  a 240 acre farm up there with 160 acres of it a l l  i n  blue- 
grass pasture. And I made argument s t ick too, f o r  several years it was 
the hi&est producing fm i n  the county-including the use of fe r t i l i ze r  
and one thing and another, i t 's c o m n  anymore. 

Q. You man t o  have tha t  mch of the land in pasture? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That was a p a t  percentage of tha t  fm. 

A. aqy, yes, they only f-d eighty acres of the two-hundred forty 
acres. 

Q. Did they change the portion of the land tha t  was planted in  corn f r o m  
t i m e  t o  time? 

A. No, tha t  was i n  pasture there f o r  years and years; he had ca t t l e  on it. 
And there was a l o t  of s tor ies  tha t  went on about the old man; he w a s  an 
old bachelor. His s i s t e r  owned the 80 [acres] and he farmed the devil out 
of it; but he owned the 160 [acres 1, ( l a m s )  so he di lh?l t  farm it too much. 

Q. He kept h i s  ca t t l e  on that  160 [acres]? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You determined the productivity of the f m  on a township basis, so in  
other words, a l l  your work was done in  WilUarrs Township? 

A. Well, dont t rf&sunderstand m, each farm had t o  stand on its own feet ,  
so f l  type, productivity and, oh, what do I want t o  c a l l  it-there was s o i l  
type, oh, I1 11 think of it mybe a f t e r  while. 

Q. Okay. 

A. But we had t o  take that in to  consideration i n  se t t ing  the productivity 
on these f m ,  and then turn those figures over t o  the county c o d t t e e .  
And they had a record of it, and then in turn the county cormittee would 
se t  up a l l o t m t s  fo r  these farms of corn and wheat, mostly. We wasn't 
raising enough beans a t  tha t  time t o  have any effect  on it. But every farm 
had an allotment of corn and wheat, and i f  you overplanted your a l lo tmnt ,  
you w a s  penalized pretty heavily. 

And along this s m   ti^, I to ld  you the other ni&t when you was out here, 
we had tha t  hog counting deal. And it run along the same l ine,  you was 
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when I got over the=, there was a WPA tmck delivering gmceL-ies backed 
up t o  the store p-, that  building that ' s  still standing the= where it 
says apartments, there used t o  be a big porch on that .  And they were 
giving may bet ter  food than that  man that  m that store had, And what 
was qulte noticeable--you know people today has forgot the word px-ide, 
you don't see mch pride mymre--but back [In] them days older folks had 
too much pride t o  go up there and accept that foodstuff. They sent l i t t l e  
six, eight-ye-old kids with t he i r  l i t t l e  wagons; they'd go up there and 
get that food give t o  them for  nothlng. They haven't forgot that  today. 

Q. You man the children haven't forgotten, I'll bet they haven't. 

A. I can remmber when it was considered quite a disgrace t o  be onr-being 
cared for  by the county--and that  was the feeling among the older generation; 
they had that pride in them that  they didn ' t want t o  receive that food- 
s tuff  for  nothbg. But those kids did, and they're mn and womn today, 
and they still  expect that  today. 

Q. There are m n y  of them that do. 

That's 

Q. Somthing else that s tarted in those years w a s  the AAA, the Agricul- 
tural Adnbistration Agency, and you worked for  that agency, didn't you? 

A. Oh, yes. I worked for them for  twenty-five, twenty-six years. That 
started Sn 1932, I thjvlk 1932. And i t ' s  quite a long story. They t f i ed  t o  
control production thm& allotments, and it was nationwide. They f i r s t  
s tarted out electing local cormittees Fn your township, a township corn 
mittee. And then they would, i n  tun, elect a county comittee, and then 
the county cormittee would elect a s ta te  cownittee. That's the way the ad- 
ministration part of it went. Well, they elected me on the cormnittee, the 
township c o d t t e e  , and I worked with that outf i t ,  oh, for  twenty-five , 
twenty-six years. 

A t  one tim I think I had measured mare farms than any man i n  Sangamon 
County. Now, a township is s ix  miles square. This township so happens t o  
be s ix  by seven [miles]. There's forty-two sections i n  this township, 
and I masured th i s  township twice by qyself, every farm i n  it. 

Q. Now, did you receive a salary fo r  th is?  

A. hha"could you consider a salary? (laughs) 

Q. Well, you lanow, mney o r  just the honor. (laughter) 

A. Surveyorts time corns p ~ t t y  high. Yes, I was paid for  every minute 
that I worked for  them. A t  that time, we were drm ing  three dollars a 
w.  
Q. Was it year mund? 



you mi&t start a fiat, steal ,  anything. So I think that  w a s  the main 
reason it was. star ted,  and it did a l o t  -of good; but it cost a world of 
money. 

Q. Were there any WPA projects around t h i s  area? 

A. &, yes. 

Q. What were som of them? 

A. Oh, they' d dig out hedgerow, an old hedge, which you would normally 
pul l  it out with heavy machinery, they dug it out by hand. Trucks would 
bring out, oh, thirty, forty E n ,  shovels and axes, and they just turned 
in to  it and dug it out. We had them clean up about forty rod here on this 
place. 

Q. This was a hedgerow? 

A. Yes, and that  went on a l l  over the county. 

Q. How about any road work? 

A. Not too much road work. It was mostly on farms. It was al l  on the 
conservation .line, cleaning out hedgeraws and things lfke that .  

Q. Did somone come t o  you and get your permission t o  do tha t?  

A. Yes, they had a supervisor o r  foreman o r  somthing that kind of went 
around and lined up these different projects. And they had one over here 
north of Barclay. You know how a creek will grow up with t rees  and stuff 
l ike  that ;  they cleaned tha t  whole creek out for,  oh I guess, a mile o r  two, 
which Fnvolved a l o t  of work. 

Q. The people who did t h i s  work, were they %om the local  area? 

A. Oh, they were from evewhere .  A l o t  of them out of the c i ty  of 
Springfield . 
Q. 1 see. 

A. F m r s ,  they've always got plenty t o  do. They don't get much for  
what they do sometims, but they've always got a job. But ci ty people 
that  depends on factory work and that  sort  of stuff, they just didn't have 
nothing t o  do and no mney t o  do it with. 

Q. It was a very sad situation. 

A. Yes. And I ~rnerrber, Mrs. Berg, we  had threshers here--when we used t o  
thresh with the old threslng machine, why, the womn would have f r o m  th i r ty  
t o  forty men fo r  dinner+to run a threshing machine. Well, they needed 
something from the store-I saw t h i s  with own eyes--and they sent me t o  
Shensan t o  get it, and I don't know, it w a s  bread or  something. Anyhow, 



A. Yes, in a way, a l t h o w  I was too young t o  really understand w a r .  I 
registered for  the m, but I never w a s  called, and I think tha t  was in  
1918. Wasn't that  World War I, 1918 and lgl7? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Armistice si@;ned in 1918 wasn't it, November ll? 

Q. Yes. 

A. And t o  say it i n  a few words, I don't believe Fn w a r .  

Q. You think we can s e t t l e  o w  problems som other way? 

A. There should be a way t o  s e t t l e  it without killing thousands of young 
men. 

Q. Did it affect the price of farm products, do you rermber? 

A. Not at that  time, no. You probably heard o r  read about the boom and 
bust, well, 1928, 1929 were extremely good years,  everything was high; and 
boom, she hit the bottom. And 1'11 t e l l  you, in 1930, 1931 and 1932, there 
wasn't anything worth anything. I bow the stock market, people los t  
millions of dollars there overni&t, and they would jwnp out of hotel  win- 
dows and cormit suicide and just  carried on at a t e r r ib le  rate because they 
had los t  t he i r  fortunes. 

Q. And, of course, those were the Depression years? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How did it affect your l i f e  he= on the f m ?  

A. Well, as I say, nobody had any money. Hogs W ~ S  worth about two cents 
a pound, ca t t l e  worth three o r  four [cents], corn was worth ten cents a 
bushel, wheat t h i r t y ,  thirty-five cents a bushel. Well, you how that  
aln t very much mney . 
Q. It certainly i sn l  t . 
A. But we begin t o  pick up and work out of it. That's when the WPA 
projects was popular. 

Q. t P'anklin Roosevelt came in 19 33, and he in i t i a t ed  some pro- 
pm t o  help. WPA in 1935 was one of them. (tape turned off and on) 

Q. 1 w a n t  t o  ask you what you thought of programs l ike  WPA dming the 
Depression? 

A. Well, it was pretty near a case of having t o  do somthing t o  get 
people t o  work t o  keep down trouble. You know, when you get hungry, 



A. Yes. 

Where did Ruth and Donald school? 

A. Sangam Center and Williamsville HI& School. Here she corns . . . 

END OF SIDE TWO 

Q. M r .  Mills, can you remenS3er prohibition? 

A. I can. (lau&ter) 

Q. Tell  me about it, was it a popular law? 

A. ~ o p u l m  law? 

Q. How did people accept prohibition? 

A. Well, the old saying holds t rue,  i f  you want liquor, you're going 
t o  find it. Now pmhibition was passed t o  try t o  do away with the saloons 
and stop so much drunkeness. Well, it didn't; it scattered it out. A l l  
over the country, there were stills everywhere, and you could buy pretty 
cheap l iqor  i n  a l l  these l i t t l e  towns, especially around the mines. And 
it seemed t o  be m n g  the foreign element tha t  m ,the stills. 

Q. Was it secretive, did you have t o  know someone i f  you wanted t o  buy 
liquor? 

A. Well, a l i t t l e .  You had t o  know sombody that  knowed sombody t o  t e l l  
you where t o  get it. But I think tha t  was a good l a w  when they passed tha t  
fo r  several reasons. They give the l a w  some authorfty t o  control it, and 
they also received a revenue off of it. Now, I don't think today they've 
got near tax enough on Uquor. 

Q. I guess, of course, there are sonae people who think there is. So you 
don't think there is e n o m  tax on .liquor today? 

A. No, I don't. 

Q. What w a s  the general feeling when prohibition was repealed? 

A. Well, the people that didn't believe in it, of c o m e ,  liked- it, and 
people tha t  was maEcing it and se l l ing  it didn't like it. There was tre- 
mndous profi t  i n  that  s tuf f .  

Q. Oh, I ' m  sure there was. What w a s  your reaction t o  World W a r  I? 

A. In what way do you mean? 

Q. Well, how dld you fee l  about it, did you keep up with what was going 
on t h r o w  the newspaper? 
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Q. That must have been a big adjustment f o r  Mrs. f i l l s ?  

A. Yes sir, she didn't know one iota about a farm, but, boy, she 
took t o  Tt. 

Q. Well, I think you mntioned t o  re a f t e r  your mther broke her leg, your 
wife becam the doctor's assists$,; she helped deliver babies i n  the 
neighborphood . 

Q. No? 

A. Oh, she helped deliver a few, but not t o  the extent that  rrly mther  
did. 

Q. Not like your m the r  did. Was D r .  Shear1 still  around then? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Nm, you have two children, when was your oldest, Donald, born? 

A. July 30. 

Q. What year? 

A. P& God, don!t pFn rn down, now. 

Q. Okay ,  we can figure that out. (lawter) He I s  how much older than 
Ruth? 

A. Six years. He's s i x  years older than Ruth, and Domthy is s i x  years 
older than Donald. 

Q. modness, so i n  twelve years, you had those three younguns running 
m u n d  here. I wanted t o  ask you, too, were your two children born here 
at the house? 

A. Yes, Ruthie was born r i@t  here on that  bed. 

Q. She was born i n  the east bedroom, and Donald was born . . . 
A. In the south bedroom. 

Q. D i d  D r .  Shear1 deliver . . . 
A. He delivered both of them. 

Q. With your rather's help? 

51921. [Ed.] 



Q. 1'11 bet. 

A. And they s p l i t  those out by hand. 

Q. Well, that  must have been a job t o  get a great big t r ee  
down. 

5 3 

l ike  tha t  

A. It was. Today it wouldnl t be no job , but them days, they had hand 
saws, cross cut saws they called them. Two men, one on each end, they'd 
cut them trees that way. 

Q. Was there anythlng e l se  that  you were able t o  sell  t o  the mines, I 
man that  became part of the econonly? 

A. They bought quite a b i t  of feed, corn and oats and hay. See, they 
had mules down in the rnhe t o  pul l  tha t  coal with. And, of course, they 
stayed down there, and they w e r e  fed down there, and you could s e l l  corn 
and oats and hay t o  the mine. 

Q. Do you r e m e m b e r  about when they went out of business? 

A. A s  t o  tim, I can't recollect. There hasn't been a mine operating 
around here for ,  I ' d  say, a t  least  twenty-five years. They we= closed 
up before that .  

Q. M r .  Mlls,  where did you meet Mrs. Mlls?  

A. On a blind date. 

Q. 1'11 be darned. (laughter) When w e r e  you two married? 

A. In St. Louis. 

Q. And the year? 

A. Well, we m off.  

Q. You did? ( l a w t e r )  Was your dad 

A. Yes. 

al ive t k :  

Q. Where did you come as newlyweds, did you move back home here? 

A. Yes, w e  cam back hare af"ter we m out of mney. 

Q. Oh, how long were you gone? 

A. Barely a day and a night. (laughter) 

Q. Had h e  been born on a farm, did she know anything about farming? 

A. No, not one iota.  



A. Yes, qy uncle. 

Q. ThatSs just about a mile . . . 
A. That I s  just about a mile and one-h m the road here. That was 
an awf'ul nice t m e r .  And he mde that  up in to  rrdne props. Do you know 
what a mtne prop i s ?  

Q. This is fo r  proping the tunnel underground. 

A. They1 d send them i n  the mine and keep the ceiling proped up, try t o ,  
t o  keep it safe f o r  them t o  work. And we hauled props, oh, 1 donlt know, 
it took two, three, four years t o  clean tha t  tirber up and make it up i n to  
props. And we'd do that  work in  the wintertim when there wasn't nothtlng 
else t o  do on the farm; weld haul props. I know there was three o r  four 
of us go dom there and haul props. And if you worked real hard, you could 
make three t r i p s  a day. We hauled them t o  tha t  mine that w a s  south of 
Sherman. And we hauled fkmn eighty t o  one hundred t o  a load, and we got, 
I think it was two cents apiece fo r  hauling them. 

Q. How big were they? 

A. Well, they won't take anything under four inches. They check them in. 
When you go i n  there with a load of props, the top boss w i l l  corn around 
with a chalk, and h e ' l l  look them over and check every one that  they ' l l  
take. And he mrks the ones he won't take. We .pt on t o  that .  

Q. How long were they? 

A. Five foot and seven inches, I think. In other words a coal mine 
had a clearance of five [feet] seven [inches] down there. 

Q. Which meant they had t o  stoop t o  get through then? 

A. That's right.  

Q. WhaG k h d  of wood was tha t?  

A. Mostly white oak and black oak. 

Q. Were there any real b i g  t rees? 

A. Oh, yes. Right over here, remember crossing a l i t t l e  creek between 
here and +%em? 

Q. Yes. 

A. There used t o  be a tree stood on the south side of the road there. 
Today it would be worth, no t e l l i ng  haw much money. It was a white oak 
t ree ,  and I fmagine it was f i f t y ,  sixty feet up t o  the first Umb. And 
it was about f ive feet t h u g $  at the base. And that  was cut down and made 
into props. I wouldnl t begin t o  t e l l  you lww many it made, but it made 
a l o t  of them. 



Q. How did you fee l  about tha t ,  did you have a real special feeling about 
being able t o  buy t h i s  land that  you had worked fo r  so rnany years? 

A. Well, I ml&t answer tha t  question by asking one. Did you ever go 
i n  debt? 

Q. Yes. ( l a w t e r )  

A. Well, I did when I bou$-it the farm, and I can t e l l  you, it e v e s  you 
a mighty good feeling when you get it paid off.  

Q. Did you get help from the g o v e m n t ?  

A. Yes, I borrowed money f r o m  the Federal Land Bank. 

Q. Did you have any diff icul ty . . . 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. M r .  Mills, we were talking about the farm. A t  one time you mentioned 
that  when you were a child, there were ponds here on the farm, but now 
they re arm!€, What happened? 

A. kt them fill up, they ' l l  erode and fill up themselves. 

Q. So there are no ponds on t h i s  farm now? 

A. No ponds on t h i s  farm, no. 

Q. How about tirrber? 

A. There is no timber on this farm now. 

Q. Was there? 

A. I im&@ne that  it was all tfmber yeam and years ago. 

Q. Ifiyou remersrS3er your first recollection when you w e r e  a child, were 
there any sections of the famn that  had tirrber on them? 

A. Not t h i s  fm, but I can remrnber some huge t w e r s  not too far f r o m  
here, a mile or  two. And, of c o m e ,  they mved a saw mill in ,  sawed 
them up in to  lurber and cleared them off, and now they are farming them. 

Q. You were t e l l i ng  E about an interesting si tuat ion with the tirrber 
that  was at B i r c h  Lake. A t  one tim, didn't a relat ive of yowls go i n  and 
take that tFmber down? 



Q. Does the owner participate i n  the purchase of seed? 

A. There is all kinds of arrangements. And i t 's  g e t t h g  so bad anymre; 
i t ' s  p i t i fu l .  They te l l  som of these landlords i s  wanting the tenant 
t o  pay part of the taxes too. So there's a l l  kinds of stipulations in  a 
land lease. 

Q. Well, t o  your knowledge, your f?xkher1s arrangemnt with M r .  - J6ness 
w a s  50-50. 

A. F'ifty-flf'ty, each got one-half of the crops. We had t o  put t he i r  one- 
half i n  the elevator. 

Q Where? 

Q. What would happen w i t h  yom half? 

A. Somtimes we fed it and sometimes we had mre than we could feed, and 
we'd sell it. 

Q. Where did you sell it? 

A. S a w  place, Williamsville o r  Sherman. 

Q. When yowl father passed away, you becam the man of the house then? 

A. Well, so called, yes. (laughter). 

Q: With the help of your mther? 

A. Yes, with the help of Mom, tha t ' s  true. 

Q. She was quite a business woman, wasn't she? 

A. Yes, she w a s .  

Q. By that  tirne, was Samuel Jones still  living? 

A. No, he has passed away before that .  Toey had one daughber, Mabel, 
and she m r r i e d  a man by the nam of Cook, John Cook. And they lived i n  
SpringfTeld a l l  their lives. And he was our landlord at tha t  time. 

Q. In later years you bougbt the farm yourself? 

A. I bought the fm flmn Mrs. Cook. 

Q. John Cook had passed away. 

A. John Cook died before she did, and I bo@t the farm f b m  her. 

Q. What yew was that? 



Q. I can't so3lrre that  ws te ry  fo r  us, Mr. Mills, I don't know ei ther .  
( l a w t e r )  How large is t h i s  E m ?  

A. We-hundred s i x t y  [acres], one-half rd le  square. 

Q. When your father  came here, how did he happen t o  core here? 

A. Well, he worked fo r  the people that m e d  it by the mnth on the farm. 

Q. Who avned the farm? 

A. Sam Jones. 

Q. Was he from Williarmville? 

A. Springfield, he was the president of the M n e  Banlc. 

that  l s rigfit, and h i s  brother had farm over near 

Q. Okay, you to ld  m about him before. Now your dad worked by the month, 
was he paid by the mnth? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would he realize any prof i t  f r o m  the crops? 

A. No, not when he was working by the mnth. He just  got so much every 
mnth. 

Q. But he lived in th i s  house? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Md that  relationship o r  did that  business se t  up change as tire went 
on. 

A. Yes, when he was working by the mnth, he didn't l ive  here. H e  l ived 
down there on the h i l l  by old Moonliat Gardens. Do you how where old 
Pbonli&t Gardens used t o  be? 

A. Yes. 

A. It's r i@t  nmth of where tha t  new d l  went i n  out there. That's 
whexe he worked by the month fo r  Sam Jones. And Sam Jones m e d  t h i s  
farm, and Dad bo@t this  twenty [acres] down here and moved up there and 
lived there one year. And M r .  Jones says,llII:want t o  rent you that farm 
up there, John. " And so he did, and we l ve been here ever since. 

Q. l&at kind of an arrqngmnt do you have when you rent a farrn? 
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A. Tnat w a s  a l o t  of mney, f i f t y  dollars. 

Q. You're darned rieflt, so you took good care of tha t  equipmnt? 

Q. Was that  somthing that  you had t o  be real cay.erul about, taking 
care of your equipmnt? 

A. That was a m t  with dad. 

Q. And he i n s t i l l ed  tha t  feeling in you? 

A. That's ri@t. 

Q. You knew how much work that  f i f t y  doLla~r3 represented. 

A. Oh, I ' d  say a t  leas t  tw+hundred f i f t y ,  maybe the-hundred dollars. 
There is a se t t l emnt  tha t  still  makes harness, race horse hamess. And 

broth@-in-law w a s  a race horse wn. And that  settlerrent is over here 
around Arcola, them N s h .  

Q. Oh, Arthur, I l l inois?  

A. Yes. They still make them harness, and I think about three-hmdred 
f i f t y ,  fowhundred dollam for  a s e t  of hapness fo r  one horse. And that  
harness is made out of leather, and leather i s  made of of cow hides. 

Q. Nav that  would be tanned, tha t  leather would be f r o m  a tannery? 

A. Yes, and speaking of leather, you'd say you got a pai r  of leather shoes, 
very l i t t l e  leather in- it, it I s  all synthetic s tuf f .  

Q. You man today? 

A. Yes, I don't know what becoms of hides anymre. There is mre 
hides than there ever were, and they are not worth anything. If you 
butcher a beef-when we used t o  butcher our own beef--why , we had no use 
for the hide, and wet d take it t o  town; and there was a place i n  there where 
you could s e l l  them and the sam today. And about s i x  cents a pound is al l  
you can get fo r  them. And a hide w i l l  figure out just about ten pounds 
per hundxqd of l ive  w e i a t .  If the anbml wei&ed seven hundred p m d s  
tha t  hide would wet@ about seventy porn&. 

Q. And you would only @;et about s i x  cents a pound? 

A. Yes, tha t ' s  a l l  we got fo r  them. And you know i f  they went in to  shoes, 
they shouldn't be as hi& priced as they are today. 

Q. Well, you' re riat. 
A. I don't know what they do with it. They mt use it fo r  something. 
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Q. I think I've seen that .  Do you have any? 

A. Yes, I got sans. 

Q. Oh, you've got som stashed away. (laughter) 

A. 1 don't know, they must be three o r  four collars hanging out i n  the 
ham,  and I just sold the l a s t  s e t  of hamess I had a year ago last winter. 
I knew I had them, and they were good hanzess when I quit-using them. 
And he wanted t o  know what I ' d  take for  them, and I said, 'Well, 1'11 take 
twenty-five doll- fo r  them." And he b o w t  them, and I been wanting t o  
talk t o  him t o  see i f  he got them cleaned up and softened up. 

Q. With age, had they gotten kind of s t i f f ?  

A. Yes, dried out. 

Q. Men you were using them, did you put sorrething on them t o  keep them 
soft .  

A. C h  yes, every year, neat Is-foot o i l .  

Q. Neat ' s-foot , is that  a brand m? 

A. No. ;I used t o  know what neat's-foot o i l  was made out of ,  but I 've 
forgotten. I don't how i f  i t 's  adml f a t ,  I believe it is. I believe 
it s made out of sheep. 

Q. Would you warm it up and put it on o r  how did you put it on? 

A. Well, it stayed liquid a l l  the tirne. We'd usually wash the harness, 
you know they get dry and hard and s a l t y  f'rom the horses' sweating, and 
we'd usually wash the hamess and l e t  them dry and then soak them i n  tha t  
o i l .  

Q. So a good hamess would last you a rider of years? 

A. C&, yes, theyt d last pretty near a 1ifebh-e i f  they was taken care 
of. You'd have t o  repair them. I how when I was a kid, I to ld  you about 
that  fellow running the shoe store at Williarrsville, he also mu?, a harness 
shop there, and he had a big case on each side of h i s  wall that  would 
have s i x  o r  e i@t  sets of new harness h m g h g  i n  there a l l  the tire. He 
mde them. And when I w a s  a kid, I just  loved t o  go in there and watch 
him makfng them harness. 

Q. Were they expensive, Mr. mils? 

A. Well, I guess you1 d say yes and no. 
for what they cost then, they1 d be real 
what you1 d have t o  pqy today, they l d be 
r e d e r  f i f t y  dollars would buy a good 

If you could buy them today 
cheap. But 2f you paid then 
rea l  expensive. A s  well as I 
s e t  of h m s s .  

can 

Q. Well, back i n  those days, tha t  was 



Q. You have a beautiful, big barn out here, MP. PElls. 

A. I don't c a l l  it beautiful. 

You don't? 

A. No. 

Q. Well, because it probably represents a l o t  of hard work t o  you, but 
P t  is a huge big barn. 

A. It stood there a l o t  of years. 

&. Have you any idea how old it i s ?  

A. It's older, as old .myhow as the house. It's over one hundred years old. 

Q. Could you describe some of the construction of that  barn? 

A. Well, the fiam of the barn is a l l  hewed material. And they must have 
had sore huge t rees  when that  barn was b u i l t ,  and good lumber, timber, be- 
cause the sills i n  that  barn, l e t ' s  see, there's one, two, three, s ix,  eight, 
there's e i a t  t W e m  in that  barn. Some of them are  twelve-by-twelve 
and som of them az-e ei&t-by-eight. I t 's  the f u l l  length of that  barn 
with no splice i n  them. Now, that  took some t rees  t o  get tha t .  

Q. It sure did. What is the length of that  barn? 

A. Forty-ei&t feet.  

Q. What kind of wood? 

A. White oak. The frame, and I imagine the majority of the siding on it is 
the original siding, too, i s  white pine. Now we've put on sonre i n  my Ufe- 
t h e ,  and it needs some mre now, but  I don't suppose 1'11 ever do it. But 
it was originally white pine. And they t e l l  me there is contractors tha t  
would side tha t  barn with new siding t o  get that  old siding for  in ter ior  
decorating. 

Q. Have you actually had somone approach you? 

A. No, I haven l t , but I 've been to ld  it could be done. You been in eating 
places where they are pretty antiquey. And they can take tha t  old siding 
and clean it up a l i t t l e ,  not too much, and varnish it, and now it makes 
something pretty nice. 

Q. Oh, i t ' s  beautiful, I've seen som of it. I never thou&t that was 
how they got it tho@. 

A. That's how they got it. And another thing the antique people are after 
is  old horse collars.  You know they always had t o  put a collar  on a horse, 
then pyt the harness on. And they t e l l  nu3 they take them old collars, clean 
them up, and I don't know what a l l  they do t o  them, and put a dmr i n  
them. And they say they're beautiful; I've never saw one. 



Q. Yes. How large did you make it, the l i t t l e  building? 

A. The t o i l e t ,  I think it w a s  f o w b y  six. 

Q. You to ld  m tha t  you put a sidewalk i n  t o  one of them. 

A. Yes, we put a concrete walk out t o  it. 

Q. Did you put anything in to  the p i t ?  

A. Usually, they put l i m e .  A s  far as I can remember, that  was all they 
ever used w a s  slack lim. And then we always had it cleaned every year. 
There was people tha t  did that  kind of work. 

Q. So with tha t  type of service available, you didn't have t o  build a new 
one too frequently? 

A. No, we dug the hole and lined it, and it would l a s t  for  a long, long time. 
Now we did build two houses, and they wouldn't have had t o  been i f  they'd been 
taken care of, kept painted and one thing and another. But they didn't, and 
so they just  deteriorated. 

Q. What was that  hole lined with? 

Q. Was that  treated i n  any way? 

A. No, not a t  that  t ime .  

Q. When the rrlen did come out t o  clean it, did they ever have t o  replace 
some of the wood? 

A. No, not tha t  I ever rewmber of. That would just l a s t  indefinitely i n  
there. 

Q. Well, do you look back on that  w i t h  a certain m u n t  of nostalgia, lW. 
lUlls, o r  a m  you just r e a l  happy that  that  part of yow existence is  over? 

A. I ' m  real happy that  that  's behind me. (laughter) A s  I to ld  you i n  that  
paper I wmte, you go out there in the wintertime, and the seat [would] be 
covered with snow, and you brushed the snow off  and sat down, and you didn't 
stay long. ( laughter ) 

Q. 1'11 bet you didn't. 

A. Ruthie lived throw some of that. 

Q. I know she did. I 've heard her talking about that  because electvricity 
cane after she was i n  high school, o r  was she out of high school? 

A. She washlt out of high school I t m  sure. I don't know what year we got that  
e lec t r ic i ty ,  but I ' d  say we've had it between t h i r t y  and forty years. 

- . - .. . - . . . . - -. 
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A. Yes. - 
Q. Oh, good. (laughter) 

A. When we butchered and rendered t h  at lard, we  always had a 
cracklings. And by the way, are they good t o  eat. (laughs ) 

Q . I ve heard about that .  

44 

l o t  of 

A. And Mother would keep them cracklhgs, and I couldn't t e l l  you the 
recipe. It took so m y  pounds of cracklings and so mazly cans of lye, and 
they boiled it so 10% and, by Gad, it made soap. And w h a t  I mean, it was 
soap. 

Q. Really did the job. 

A. Now they got, a l i t t l e  l a t e r  on, some of the younger generation, they 
didn't Uke the sm11 of it. It wasn't sweet smelling soap, and they got t o  
flavoring it. And, God, you couldn't tel l  it f m m  store bought. 

Q. Did she use that  just for  the laundry o r  did you use that  t o  wash your 
hands? 

A. No, just for the laundry. 

Q. You got an awful l o t  of things out of that  hog then, didn't you? 

A. Yes. They st more today. 

Q. Is that  rL@t? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now t e l l  m about--you put the bathroom in, that would have been a f t e r  
e lec t r ic i ty  came t o  the farm? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Before that  you had outdoor sanitary fac i l i t i e s?  

A. Yes, outdoor t o i l e t .  

Q. Did you ever have t o  build a new one? 

A. Yes, I think I b u i l t  a couple in IQJ lifetime. 

Q. Now, I 'm sure that the loc&I,on w a s  something that  you had t o  give a l o t  
of thought t o  and t e l l  m what were some of the considerations involved? 

A. Well, t o  get it far e n o m  away that  it didn't i n t ~ f e r e  with your well, 
your drinking water. And that ' s  probably one-hundred f i f t y ,  two hundred feet  
f r o m  our well, which is safe. 
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. . .  

A. No, we got it on a water system. We got too lazy t o  p u p  water. 
( l a m s  

Q. Where does that  water corn f r o m ?  

A. From the barn w e l l .  I 

Q. How does tha t  operate? 

A. We got a p i t  out there below freezing with our water system i n  it, and it 's 
just automatic. A pressure tank gets low, and she kicks in ,  and she pumps and 
f i l ls  up and cuts out. 

Q. Now, i s  there a holding tar& i n  the basement? 

A. Just our hot water heater is  all.  

Q. I see. So in other words when we t u n  the faucet, that  water is coming 
f r o m  a storage tank out under ground at the s i t e  of the well? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When did you do that? 

A. There's a l o t  of funny thiqp. 

Q. That would have been a f t e r  e lec t r ic i ty  came t o  the farm? 

A. Yes, it w a s .  

Q. Now, have you ever had t o  bo i l  water, do you have the w e l l  tested or  . . . 
A. No, we never did tha t  I remeuber of.  I 've heard them ta lk  about it, but 
we never did bo i l  any. 

Q. And you're here. 

A. I ' m  here, so I guess it must not be too bad. 

Q. Why, it must be pretty good, I ' d  say. 

A. Therefs one thing about it, i t l s  awful hard. 

Q. It probably presented problems at laundry time? 

A. They used t o  put lye i n  water t o  break P t  and then skim it off .  And by 
the way, they a l l  made t he i r  own soap. 

Q. Oh, they a d ?  

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. Well how did they do that, do you how? 



we got in to  the Grade A millc regulations, and you had t o  comply with them. 
So we decided t o  clean it out. And I got a couple of fellows t o  clean It 
out, and there wasn't nothing i n  it. But it had always had a good top on 
it. And you know tha t  we couldn't pump that  well dYy. They put two pumps 
in there and p~arrped and pumped and pmped, and water was boiling up r i @ t  
out of that  same hole that  w a s  d r i l l ed  i n  there f i f t y  years ago. 

Q. Oh, goodness, and that  was just fifteen fee t  fYom the well that  had 
gone dry? 

A. That ?s dght . So there i s  something t o  water witchkg. 

Q. Well, there sure is. Was M r .  Clark a pretty busy fellow, did a l o t  of 
people have him? 

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. Fieal popular around here? 

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. Now how about the well that  you have here a t  the house, is tha t  the 
original? 

A. That's the original well. That well i s  lined with limestone;..it a in ' t  
got no brick in it. 

Q. Where did that  [limestone] come f r o m ?  

A. Down here a t  the r iver .  

Q. The Sangamon River? 

A. The Sangamon River, down there, you how,  where them b lu f f s  are when you 
cross the railroad bridge? 

Q. Yes. 

A. That's where it c m  from. 

Q. That's right there a t  Carpenter Park? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that  was on the farm when your folks came here, did your dad t e l l  
you that  well was a t  the farm when they cam? 

A. Yes, it 's not near as good a well as that  one at the barn, but it ' s 
awful goad tasting water. 

Q. Now do you s t i l l  have tha t  f o r  the house o r  are you on a water system? 



cleaned it a l l  up, and he said, "Send me down that  two-inch auger. I want 
t o  see i f  there is any water down here." So we sent him down the auger, and 
he bored a hole right i n  the center of that  well. And he hit that  vein of 
water, and it shot up out of that  ground about eighteen inches, that  much 
pressure down there. So he says, "Make re a plug. " (laughs) And we made 
him a plug, and he plugged that  hole up and stopped the water. And [he said], 
"Send me the brick. And we sent him the brick, and he star ted walling it. 
And he walled tha t  w e l l  up, and he got about four feet  high, he pulled tha t  
plug out and tha t  water came r i@t  on up a f t e r  hjlm, about ten, twelve foot 
of water . 
Q. Qh, q? goodness. 

A. Yes. 

Did you and your dad have t o  help h i m  with tha t?  

Q. How did you get the e-qth out of that well? 

A. Windlass. 

Q. Youlre going t o  have t o  explain tha t .  (laughter) A windlass? 

A. A windlass--it was a contraption--it was al l  taken out in bucket about, 
I Id say five, six-gallon buckets, and you' d wind that  windlass up, it had two 
cranks on it, one on each end, and you would wind tha t  windlass up. It had 
a rope on it with a hook on it t o  hook i n  the bale bucket, the bucket bale. 
( laughter ) 

Q. A tongue twister. 

A. Yes. And we'd bfing up one and dwrrp it while he was f i l l in@; the other. 
That just was a continuous operation. 

Q. Now, did you l ine  the entfre well w i t h  bricks? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All the way up t o  the surface? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then you put a pump on it. 

A. Yes, put a top on it and put a pump in it. 

Q. Now, are you s t i l l  using that  well? 

A. Oh, yes. And i t ' s  never been c l e m d  out but once since it was dug, 
and I guess i t ' s ,  oh, at least  f i f t y ,  fifty-five yeam old. 

Q. This was before your father  passed away? 

A. Yes, and [we] decided t o  clean it out. Well, what made us clean it out, 



A. Well, I think they're p r e t t y  near the same as CIPS. I think they 
run pretty close together. 

Q. Now you heat the house with o i l ?  

A. Yes. 

Q. Your house is completely modem? 

A. That!s right. 

Q. How about the water, I notice the pump is  right out the back door. 

A. We've used tha t  a l l  my l i f e  fo r  drinking water until we put in the water 
system. And it wouldn't stand a water system. Did I t e l l  you about digging 
the new well? 

Q. No. 

A. Well, a t  that  t h e  we was farming with horses and mules, and we had twelve, 
f i f teen  head of them, and it took a l o t  of water f o r  them. And every s m r  
our stock well at the barn would go dry, and we'd have t o  haul water. Well, 
Dad got after the landlord t o  dig u s  a new stock well. And he said, "All 
ri@t, you get you sombody t o  dig It. " So there was an old fellow i n  
Williamsville that  was supposed t o  be a water wltch. Do you h o w  what a water 
witch i s ?  

Q. I 've heard of them. 

A. Well, Charlie C l a r k  w a s  his name, and Dad went up and got him--and by the 
way, all that  s tuf f  was done with horse and buggy--and bm@t him down here. 
And that  water witching is done by a peach t r e e  fork, cut a 1b-h off a peach 
t r e e  tha t ' s  got a fork on it. And then you hold that  foylk i n  your hand 
l ike  tha t ,  and that  fork w i l l  turn ri&t down t o  that  water by where you 
walk over 1 t . 
Q. So i n  other words, you hold tha t  peach branch at  each end of the fork? 

A. Yes, that  s right.  And you start walking around real slow, and i f  you 
cross a stream of water, that  thing w i l l  twn and twist the bark right off 
of it. And he walked around out there. He says, "John," he says, 'he ' 11 
find it right here. I' '"Well, Dad says, "you're crazy. " It wasn't over, 
I don't believe i t 's  over f i f teen  feet fksorn the well tha t  was dry. "Well," 
he says, "I'll t e l l  you," he says, "1'11 dig it, and i f  it I s  dry, it won't 
cost you a cent. " Dad said, "Get digging. " 
And he l a i d  him out a circle ,  a five foot circle ,  it's a five foot well, 
and s tar ted  digging. And he dug that  well down t o  about twenty feet ,  and 
he didn't have t o  put h i s  foot on the spade down there; he just shoved the 
spade d m  there. It was that  soft  and wet. He scraped the bottom up and 
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A. Well, I ' m  somy about tha t ,  i t ' s  kind of like tha t  consolidation of 
schools, I would say ATA.has been out of circulation fo r  about, possibly 
f i f teen  years. 

Q. That would have been about the time that  acre of ground was sold then? 

A. Yes. And the reason we went out of business, they had no losses and 
we had a smll dues a year  for  maintenance, such as light and fuel,  and 
people just  quit  paying dues and quit paying dues, and we got t o  where we 
couldnl t operate. 

Q. Well, you had some changes i n  the neighborhood, too, by that  t i m e ,  didn't you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. T"ne old group wasn't here any more? 

A. That ' s ri@S?t, the younger generation wasnl t interested. 

Q. Plus probably your losses weren't as great as they had been i n  the past? 

A. That's right. 

Q. Well, Pk. Mills, you were t e l l i ng  m when w e  stopped last tfme about 
e lec t r ic i ty  coming t o  the fann. 

A. Well, w e  have what i s  known as an REA l ine  here, and tha t ' s  what it 
star ted as, R u r a l  JXlectrification Association. And they went around, had 
meetings, took up memberships, and they had t o  have a mfnimum of three per 
mile t o  build you a l ine.  And I never w i l l  forget, the minimm rate  was 
$3.25 a month. That wasn't very much. 

Q. No, it wasn't. 

A. And that; allowed you forty kilowatts. 

Q. How mch was your membership? 

A. I think twenty, twenty-five dollars fo r  the menbership fee. 

Q. W a s  it di f f icul t  t o  convince  so^ people that  it was a good thing? 

A. It was a t  tha t  time. Som places you'd run in to  a s t r i p  that  maybe 
thereld be flve o r  s i x  fo r  a mile and then there wauldnlt be over one o r  
two. But they kind of j w e d  that  over and put the l ine  in fo r  everybody. 
And today, I 'll bet you, it w i l l  average ten t o  f i f teen  t o  the mile. 

Q. I'll bet it would. 

A. People has just  gone t o  the country, bu i l t  new homes, In the process of 
building them. 

Q. How do your rates compare with, fo r  example, Springfield? 



they didn't mss with them. When they caught a thief ,  they just  hung 
him right  there and it put a stop t o  it, 

Q. Pretty swift justice? 

A. Yes. 

Q. NOW, did you have som diff icul ty i n  t h i s  nei&borhood? 

A. Yes, of m s t l y  k i l l ing  poultry along the mad o r  s teal ing hogs and such 
things as that .  They d corn i n  a t  night and but h e r  a hog o r  maybe a 
calf .  Well, we got t o  the place where we patrolled the roads a t  night. And 
we a d  tha t  for  several years, and we broke it up. 

Q. How nany men were i n  your local  association? 

A. I think about for ty ,  thirty-five, fort;y. 

Q. Now do you have much diff icul ty with tha t  sor t  of thing today? 

A. Not too much. We lose a l i t t l e  stuff but not too bad. And another 
thing about tha t  th i r ty ,  forty E n ,  a f t e r  we got the telephone, they would 
pledge t o  one another where if s o ~ b o ~  needed help, they could get on that  
telephone; and I 1 l l t e l l  you, i n  t h i r t y  minutes there was people comLng 
f r o m  all directions. And i f  they had a gangs t gr thme he was caught, now. 
(la@= 

Q. He sure w a s .  So i n  other words, i f  you had diff icul ty,  you would c a l l  
a certain nunher? 

A. Well, I ' d  c a l l  one of my neimbors and then he'd c a l l  somebody else,  and 
it wasn't long u n t i l  the news was around. 

Q. In other words, you had kind of a grapevine set-up that  one person was 
responsible . . . 
A. Then we had twelve, f i f teen  part ies  on a line, and when they mentioned 
ATA, they bowed something was up, and they would quit  t h e i r  gabbing and 
t a lk  business f o r  awhile. (laughter) 

Q. There weren't many secrets out here, were there? 

A. No. And the sheriff ,  he recognized our organization. He assisted us quite 
a l o t  on tracking down thieves and one thing and another. 

Q. When did tha t  cease its . . . 
A. Cease t o  operate? 

Q. To operate, yes. 
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unload them, and then about three o'clock, three-thirty, they cam af'ter 
them. A t  som of these other local mines; such as, Selbytown and Barclay 
and Spaulding, they lived right there at the mine. 

Q. And when the mine closed down, did those towns just disappear? 

A. They a11 went t o  pot. Some people bought them and moved them home and 
made, oh, sheds for  use on the farm out of them. A few of them scattered 
round the nei@boL.;hood yet. 

Q. D i d  any of those people l ive  i n  Sherman or  Williamsville? 

A. Oh, yes, a l o t  of them lived i n  Sherman. Vexy few lived i n  Wflliamsville; 
Williamsville was never a miners1 town. 

Q. Md any of those people stay i n  S h e m ,  are  any of those families here 
today who had worked the mfnes? 

A. There i s  only about one o r  two left. Tony Rock is the only one I can 
recall r%&t now. There was an old fellow passed away over there about a month 
ago, Polistina, he was a miner a l l  of h i s  l i f e .  Those are the only two that  
I can recall.  

Q. Another thing, M r .  fills, you to ld  me a f t e r  the school was consolidated 
and they weren't using the school house across the road, that  a local organiza-. 
t ion took it over. 

A. That's the ATA. 

Q. The Anti-Thief Association? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What can you t e l l  re about tha t?  

A. Well. 

Q. Why w a s  that  formed? 

A. It ceased t o  become a school and a bwlch of us got together and we bought 
that  acre of ground off of the people that  owned the farm that  it came off 
of with the understanding i f  ever we ceased t o  operate, it would be going 
back t o  the farm, ori@&&i farm. And then t h  went on, we took up some 
kind of a notion t o  sell it. And we sold it, apd it brought $10,500. 

Q. That s amazing. / 
I 

A. And it did go back t o  the farm. 

Q. But thZs Anti-Thief Association, whew was tha t  started; w a s  that  a 
national association? 

A. Yes, I ' d  say it s tar ted  Fn Kansas, Caney Kansas. And it was started when 
they had so much horse thieving, c a t t l e  thievery going on out there. And 
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afford t o  lose pa& of it and s t i l l  have a pretty good sized cbuhk left;. 
I f  they put it up mch thinner than tha t ,  the waste would be too great. 
They wouldntt have mch lef t .  

Q. Well, say l ike  l a s t  winter, we had a severely cold winter. 

A. I made that  expression t o  several people l a s t  winter, tha t  would have 
been a wonderful winter t o  put up ice.  

Q. WouLd you say if you had put up i ce  that  you' d probably still  have It 
today? 

A. Then? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Oh, yes, yes. It would l a s t  up t o  July, August. 

Q. That's r e a l l y  somthirg. Another thing you talked about, Nr. Nills, was 
the coal mines i n  the area. There were a nwnber of them. 

A. Well, that  's a pretty good subject . You hear an awfbl l o t  of ta lk  
nowadays about t h i s  EPA, i sn ' t  it? 

Q. Exdronmental Protection Agency, yes. 

A. And as I to ld  you, there was f ive o r  s i x  mines in  a radius of five or  
s i x  miles ouLhere. And i f  you w a s  ever around a coal mine, they always 
have a slack p i le ,  and that  slack p i l e  is always on fire, burning. And that  
throws off a l o t  of gas and smoke. We lived t h r o w  that ,  and it didn't 
bother us. I f  they seen a slack p i l e  burning today, they'd have a f i t .  

Q. Oh, I ' m  sure they wodd. 

A. Yes, they would. 

Q. What happened t o  those mines? 

A. Well, I guess the demand just  kept deteriorating un t i l  they didn't have-- 
making enough money t o  keep them open. Some of them w a s  so-called worked 
out. Tbey got so far away that  they couldn't afford t o  haul the coal. Some 
of these mines was as far as  two mile f r o m  the muth of the mine, and that  ' s 
a pretty good pull .  

Q. It sure is. Do you r e r e h e r  the m s  of any of the m e s ?  

A. Yes, Peabody Nmber 6 was south of Sherman, Howard fine, north of 
Sherman, Selbytown f ine  up here south of Williamsville. 

Q. Where did the people l ive  who worked those mines? 

A. Well, now at Peabody Mine Nwnber 6, they worked, oh, five, s ix  hundred 
men, and they run a shutt le  t r a i n  out of Springfield. And they had a switch 
down there. They'd bring the Illen out of a morning and back i n  there and 



Q. Is that  ri&t? 

A. TheyX got muscle. These chickens that  s raised on--in these brooder 
houses--chey ain't got no muscle, the i r  meat I s  sof't. That's the difference. 

Q. How about the flavor? 

A. Well, there is a l o t  of difference i n  the flavor. 

Q. A s  well as the texture of the meat? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you l e t  them get bigger than two, about two and one-half pounds? 

A. Oh yes, normally it was common t o  k i l l  three, four pound chickens. 
Families was larger,  and generally it took two. 

Q. How would your m the r  usually prepare the chicken? 

A. Now you're getting in to  cooking, and tha t ' s  something I donlt know much 
about. (laughter) Well, she f i r s t  scalded them and picked thew-picked the 
feathers off of them-then take the insides out of them and then cu t  them up, 
soaked them i n  cold water. If she w a s  going t o  have fried chicken tomorrow, 
she ' d do that  today and l e t  them se t  i n  that  cold water overnight. And som- 
times we had ice and sornetbes we didn't. 

Q. Where did you get the ice? 

A. Well, some people--we didn't ourselves--had the i r  own icehouses. They 
would put up the f r  own ice  i n  the winter, and they'd go out there--it was- 
covered with sawdust, tha t  ' s the way they put it i n  there. They throwed 
water on it, in other words, froze that  whole house f u l l  of i ce  i n  one chunk, 
and then they d cover it up with sawdust, probably a foot around the outside 
and then be a foot deep on top. And youf d be surprised how long that  would 
keep in,thexe. Then when you dig in to  it, you take a sharp instmunent such 
as an ice pick, and you could pick them cakes loose just  l i k e  they was put 
in there. 

Q. Where did they get that  ice? 

A. Out of ponds, farm ponds. 

Q. How l a t e  i n  the year would you say they would s t i l l  have ice? 

A. We,ll, that  depended on the season. You couldn't s e t  any specific time. 
It took a l o t  of cold weather t o  make that ice and they wouldnlt fool with it 
unless it was frozen a foot thick. That's what they liked t o  gt it, a foot 
thick. 

Q. Probably easier  t o  handle too. 

A. Well, yes, and it wasn't easy t o  handle; it was heavy, but they could 
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A. Yes, when you sugw cured you did. Brawn sugw and s a l t  and just rub 
the dickens out of it in to  the mat and just keep it covered. 

Q. For twenty-one days? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then you would proceed with the washing, then smoking? 

A. Washing it off ,  dry it and put t h i s  black pepper and sal tpeter  and 
borax on it. 

Q. That was a f t e r  the smking? 

A. Yes, after it w a s  W e d  off. And sore people would sew it up i n  cloth 
sacks. In them days we had plenty of f lour  sacks, and a ham just f i t  nicely  
i n  a f lour sack, and they put it in that  f lour  sack and sewed her up tight. 
That also helped keep f l i e s  off .  

Q. Well, it would, and then that  was stored i n  the cel lar? 

A. No, that  was s t i l l  stored i n  the smke house. 

Q. Even a f t e r  the smoking? 

A. It hung out there a l l  s m r ,  up till July or  A u g u s t .  And we usually 
had it a l l  used up, oh, I 1d  say by the l a s t  of July. 

So then you just didnl t eat it u d i l  it cold again? 

That s 

Q. You wouldn t butcher i n  the warm weather? 

A. No, not that  time of the year, no. But as I to ld  you, they always had 
sausage W e d  down. Did I t e l l  you about flying down sausage? 

Q. Yes, and we put that  i n  the crocks and covered it with lard. 

A. And did I t e l l  you about making corned beef? 

Q. Yes. 

A. We had plenty t o  ea t .  

Q. I'll bet you did. Then about the chickens, your mother raised the 
chickens, and i f  you were going t o  have chicken, you k i l led  the chicken 
that  day and dressed it out? 

A. Yes, and put it i n  cold water and soak it, and you can believe it or  not, 
there's as mch difference i n  the t a s te  of a chicken that  ls gown out on 
the gpund-you rrd@t say run wild--and these brofler chickens as there i s  
sausage and beef steak. 



Q. Had she lived at home? 

A. Well, till she p g t  married, and then she mved t o  Chicago. She died 
up there, and they brought her back here t o  bury her. 

Q. And that  wake was held i n  SpringfSeld? 

A. A t  Athens, Mot t and Son Funeral Home. 

Q She was buried a t  Kern Cemetery? 

A. A t  that tire. 

Q. A t  tha t  time, and you l a t e r  then mwed her t o  Wolf Creek? 

That s 

Q. I had another question about the butchering and tha t  was when you sal ted 
the mat, what kind of a container did you put it in? 

A. To do the sal t ing? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Usually a wash tub. 

Q. Where did you keep it for  those twenty-one days? 

A. Usually i n  barrels o r  boxes, just piled i n  on top of one another, 
and l e t  her set that way fo r  twenty-one days. 

Q. Did you l e t  them set outside? 

A. Oh no, no. 

Q. Uke i n  the cel lar? 

A. We kept it i n  the smke house. 

Q. Oh, i n  the smke house? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So i f  that  was in the deep i f  winter, it could get pretty cold out 
thexe? 

A. Yes, but it wouldn't f'reeze, tha t  salt . . . 
Q. Because of the salt? 

A. Sal t  and sugar on it, it wouldn't f'reeze. 

Dld you put too? 



Q. W a s  that  about the time that  you got e lec t r ic i ty?  

A. Well, we had elec t r ic i ty  before that .  You know, that  ls kind of a 
peculiar, thing, we wasn't quite as bad as the old gu3t over at Petemburg, 
we t h o w t  i f  we could just get e lec t r i c i ty  t o  get l ights  that  it would 
be wonderrul, which it was. But it wasn't long till you went t o  adding on . 
and adding on, and we're pretty well electr if ied.  

That old man over there at Petersburg, they had t o  work on him for  a long 
time t o  get him t o  put it in ,  and he f inal ly did. And held turn it on till 
he got h i s  coal o i l  lamp lit, and then he'd turn it off.  (laughter) 

Q. He didn't want t o  change, did he? 

A. We wasn't quite that  bad. 

Q. Would the whole nei@borJnood have t o  a p e  t o  have e lec t r ic i ty  before 
it c a m  out here? 

A. Yes, REA . . . 

END OF SIDE TWO 

Q. M r .  Mills, you were t e l l i ng  me about funerals i n  the earrly 190Ots, and 
I wanted t o  ask you i f  the wake was at horn o r  i f  it was at  the funeral 
horn? 

A. You mean al l  wakes o r  that  particular . . . 
Q. Well, mst of them, say i n  your fardly? 

A. Well, mst of them a t  that tire was held a t  how--in the homes. 

Q. Would the funeral director come t o  the house? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did he remove the body and bring it back o r  did he prepare it a t  home? 

A. No, they left the body ri&t here at home, and I 've s a t  up many a wake. 
They'd be a g o u p  of the nei&bors go i n  and sit  up a l l  night with the body. 

Q. Did you usually have the wake one ni@t and then the burial the next 
W? 

A. Yes, one night. 

Q. In  your family, who was the first one who was waked a t  a f'uneral horn? 

A. Possibly s i s t e r ,  mother and father were both waked here, possibly 
IQI second s i s t e r ,  Ber+ha 7 

3~er tha  Mills Fessenden, 1892-1954. [Ed.] 



Q. You didn't keep the doors closed? 

A. No, we didn't keep the doors closed. And the kitchen, we had a coal 
range set r i@t  there where that  range is setting, oh, fo r  years and years 
and y e w .  Yau miat of heard of the name, Copperclad, one of the best 
ranges you could get. And it burned coal o r  wood. We burned coal mst of 
the time because wood is mre dir ty,  and it just don% throw out the heat 
l ike  coal. 

Q. So, t h i s  is  how your mther  cooked? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And your wife cooked w i t h  the coal stove? 

A. Yes, and. the laundry, they had a copper washboiler. They'd put tha t  on 
that stove and put the water i n  it and heat the water. The washing machine 
out there on the porch would wash the clothes. In them days we had an out- 
side clothesline, and they'd hang them out on the clothesline t o  dry. 

, . 

Q. What about the wintertime? 

A. Sam? way in the wintertim. Sorwtimes it would freeze on the l ine.  

Q. Do you remrrber the time before you had e lec t r ic i ty?  

A. O h  yes. 

Q. How did they do the laundry, did they do it out on the porch? 

A. Then they had a hand machine. 

Q. Oh, a hand machine? 

A. Yes, and a washboard. 

Q. Did they ever hang the clothes in the house? 

A. Once in awhile if the weather happened t o  be too bad. They've got a 
clothes rack down i n  the basement now that  w i l l  hold a l o t  of clothes. And 
you could s e t  it here i n  the-kitchen and dry a batch at a tire. 

Q. Did your mother and did yowl wife also have a special day fo r  lamdry? 

A. Not particularly, they usually tr ied t o  do it on Monday. 

Q. You said you put the bathroom in ,  do you remeder when you put the bath- 
room in ,  what year that  was? 

A. Oh, that  was, i t ' s  been i n  the early 1950's. Yes, I put it in ,  I had 
it put in ,  I didn t do it wself . 
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as mdem as you could make a house. 

Q. Well, I bow it is. 

A. Outside of central alr [conditioning]. 

Q. How was it heated when you were a youngster? 

A. Heating stoves, coal stoves. 

Q. In every room? 

A. No, just two rooms, l iving room and dining room, had a stove i n  each 
room. And we used that  f o r  years and years and years. Finally, we got 
higbtoned and got o i l ,  had an o i l  stove in each room. 

Q. Where did you get your coal f o r  your coal stoves? 

A. From the mines locally.  There used t o  be f ive  o r  s i x  coal mines i n  a radius 
of f ive  miles of here. 

Q. D i d  you go get it yourself? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Took your wagon? 

A. Yes, take a wagon and team and go get it. 

Q. Would you try t o  keep those f'ires going through the fight? 

A. Oh yes, you couldn It l e t  them go out. If you did, you had some frosty  
feet next m&g. 

Q. I t  11 bet  you did. But the bedrooms werenl t heated? 

No. 

Is there an upstairs? 

No, i t 's a l l  on one floor.  

You have how many bedrooms? 

Three. 

Three. So the bedroom weren't heated. 

They weren't heated, only what would just  

Go in? 

Yes. 

automat i 



Q. Did you have the newspaper corn? 

A. Well, mre or  less by newspaper and telephone. And this b r o t h e ~  
in-law of mine, MY. Petefish, him and I built--made the first radio 
that  w a s  ever i n  the neip$borhood. You know you used t o  could go t o  the dime 
store and buy any par t  you needed t o  build a radio. And we went -and bought 
a bunch of parts, and we worked night after ni@t a f t e r  ni@t soder- them 
w i r e s  and putting them things together, and we got them t o  where they would 
work with a headphone. 

Q. When was tha t ,  do you r e m z ~ e r  about the year that  you bu i l t  that? 

A. Oh, I would say that  w a s  i n  the 1920's. 

Q. &fore tha t ,  did you have the newspaper delivered? 

A. Yes, we had the newspaper and the telephone. 

Q. When did you get the telephone? 

A. It ' s been here a l l  QT l i f e .  

Q. A s  long as you can Temmber? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was it a party line? 

A. Yes, used t o  be twelve o r  fourteen on there. You took your chances 
of ever getting t o  use it. That was the way with our radio. I think we had 
one o r  two se t s  of headphones. Everybody s i t t i n g  mmd the room waiting 
for  t he i r  turn t o  l i s ten .  (laughter) You'd sit there till your ears would 
p o w  fast t o  your head l is tening t o  that  thing. Ole Amos and Andy w a s  one 
of our favorites. L m  and Abner. 

Q. Only one person could l i s t en  a t  a time? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That person then had t o  re la te  what happened t o  the others? 

A. Yes. (laughs) 

Q. Tel l  me about the house. What has happened t o  the house in these years - , 

that  you have lived here? 

A. W e l l . .  . 
Q. About how old i s  i t ?  

A. The house i s  over a hundred years old. It 's got huge thbers underc 
neath it; and, of course, we've done a l o t  of remodeling. We put the bath- 
room in.  We paneled these walls and put those cabinets in, and i t ' s  just 



Q. How old were you when that  happened? 

A. Oh, that  just happened s i x  or  seven years ago. 

Q. CB.1, did they set it some way? 

A. Yes, Springfield, a t  the hospital. I can't t e l l  you the doctor's 
name; he ' s a bone doctor, Dr. Greening called him. And he came over 
there and he looked a t  it, and he says, " I ' m  afk.ald t o  s e t  that  hand straight." 
mem fingers was broken. And he says, " I 'm  a fmid  you t l l  never use them if I 
do." So he says,"I1m going t o  s e t  it i n  that  position, put a ball here i n  the 
center about the shape of an egg." Which he d2d and taped those fingers 
down over it and f e l t  fine. And I don't know, it stayed on there fo r  two or  
mree week. Come tire t o  take it off ,  (laughs) I went down there and he 
took that off. 1'11 t e l l  you, I thought that  hand would f a l l  off .  It was 
the most f lxmy sensation I ever had i n  rry l i f e .  

Q. Oh, really? 

A. Yes, I was by r rpel f .  I was driving the car  with one hand.and I cam 
home that  evening, and I was so afraid I would break them fingers over again. 
I sald, "Mother, I a in l  t going t o  bed with that  hand i n  that  shape. " So she 
had a r o l l  of gauze, and oh, it was about so big around, she put it i n  the 
center of rtq7 hand and taped them fingers down on it. And I w a s  sat isf ied;  I 
was afraid I t d  get t o  flouncing around i n  bed o r  something and break them 
fingers over. 

Q. How did you break them? 

A. They went thm@ a bel t  on a corndmp. It's a wonder it hadn't cut 
them off . 
Q. You were fortwlate , werent t you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I should say. You must have had colds when you were a kid, how did your 
m the r  treat tha t?  Did she have any special remnmdies that  she used? 

A. Goose grease, turpenthe,  kerosene. 

Q. You mean she rubbed that  on you? 

A. Yes, t i e  a flannel mpmd your neck and put you i n  bed. Soaked.. 
your feet .  

Q. She pulled a l l  of you thro@? 

A. Yes. 
I 

Q. That's good. Well, how would you keep i n  touch with what was going on? 

A. We11 . . . 



Q. What about the clothes that you wore when you were a yuungster grow- 
ing up, did your mother make your clothes? 

A. A l o t  of them, and as the fellow :;a.id, "I don't how how old I was till 
when I went t o  wearing s tore-bowt  clothes. " (laughter) I' 11 bet you 
couldntt answer tha t  question yourself. 

Q. No, I don't think I could. Did your mother have a sewing mchine? 

Yes, still  got '" 

Q. You do? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What kind is i 

A. Singer. 

Q. Where did she go t o  buy her material? 

A. Probably mail-order houses. And she'd go t o  town, i n  them days most 
all stores sold bolt  material. 

Q. How about your shoes? 

A. Well, there was a store i n  W i l l i m v i l l e  that  handled shoes quite a b i t ,  
and us kids, a l o t  of our shoes cane from that  s tore up there. Then a f t e r  we 
got grown, 'oh, I ' d  say our shoes came f'rom Springfield. 

Q. Did you go barefoot i n  the su r r~ne r?  

A. Yes, especially i n  the mud. (laughter) 

Q. Well, your family was pretty lucky then, outside of the time your parents 
had the s cmle t  fever, you didn't have any serious il lnesses? 

A. Oh, measles or  rrannps o r  stuff l ike  that ,  common diseases. But that  scarlet  
fever, I'll t e l l  you, it was rough. 

Q. I can Imagine. 

A. We w e r e  I U C ~ ,  we came t h r o w  it all alive, and nobody was aff l icted 
afterwards. Now, i n  tha t  school picture there, I can show you a boy there 
that  had the scarlet  fever when he was s i x  years old, and he never walked 
another step in his  life; only on crutches. It m e c t e d  h is  spine some way. 

Q. How about any bmken bones o r  any accidents on the farm? 

A. Well, not very many. I had a l i t t l e  accident ngrself, broke my hand across 
there @k. Mills pobted t o  his fingers) And I had it t i ed  up fo r  a couple, i 

three weeks. Outside of that we had no . . . 



A. Probably a week; I know it @t up t o  112 [degrees]. Thatis pretty 
hot. 

Q. 1'11 say it is. 

A. I know a neighbor and I was mowing, and we knew it w a s  hot, but we 
didn't think it was anything l ike  that .  And he lived down there, not too 
f*-about a mile down the road here--and he had a bunch of broi lers  i n  a 
broader house just about ready t o  go t o  market. And we went down there and 
he to ld  h i s  wife t o  go i n  and make a pitcher of lemnade; so she did. And 
he went t o  look a t  his chickens. They was just falling over here, there and 
yonder, and dying l ike  f l i e s .  And he also had a rabbit hutch, and they was 
the same way; they was just  f a l l ing  over dy- from the heat. He kicked the 
doom open and just  l e t  them go wild t o  get some alr i f  they could. And 
that  particular one day w a s  the worse, but it was pretty hot there for about 
a week. 

And I know that time, a neighbop-well, he's not exactly a nei@bor, he 
l ives up there south of Wllliamsville-he had a windmill se t t ing  i n  the f ield.  
And he had a nice level farm, and he went out there and he clhrbed up t o  
the top of that  windmill and--took binoculars with hbk-looked m u n d  over h i s  
fields, and you could just  see those tassels  just cook3.ng, fall- over. It was 
just that  hot, corn didnit  amount t o  anything. 

Q. It real ly affected your yield tha t  year? 

A. Oh yes. 

Q. How about tornadoes? 

A. We have been mighty lucky, thank the Lord. We have never had a tornado 
through here. 

Q. You were very lucky then. What about big snowstam, have you ever f e l t  
isolated? 

A. Well, we have had some pretty good ha i l ,  but I don't reca l l  ever seeing 
ha i l  bigger then, oh, say an w i s h  walnut, that down t o  the s ize  of a 
h i  ckory nut, hazel nut. I never saw no golf-ball h a i l  o r  baseball ha i l ,  
and I don't want to.  

Q. I donit blame you. How about a bad snowstorm? 

A. We had them. 

Q. Did you ever f e e l  Isolated on the fm? 

A. Well, yes and no. We could always get out i f  we wanted t o  and had to; 
but i f  you didn't have nothing t o  go for ,  you wouldnt t venture out i n  a 
storm like that  just  t o  go t o  town t o  loaf. But our main transportation 
then would be horseback. You go up i n  f ie lds  o r  anywhere t o  get m u n d  the 
snowdrifts . 
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over that  hard road. 

Q. Oh n-y goodness, thafl's unbelievable, i s n ' t  it? 

A. No traffic whatever. 

Q. But i t 's  been a long tirw since tha t ' s  happened though? 

A. It's been a long t k ,  but it did happen. 

Q. When did you finally get an oiled road out here? 

A. Well, that  kind of ,grew on gradually. They got doing a bet ter  job 
of maintaining i n  the township, and then I just don't quite remember how they 
organized t h i s  county deal, county roads. This road out here now is a county 
road. It 's rraintained and taken care of by the county, And, oh, they got 
d l e s  of it i n  the county. And they real ly take care of it. I would just  
as soon l ive  on it as a hard road. 

Q. You have no trouble getting i n  and out now? 

A. No, and we l ive  just far enough off the road tha t  it is quikt. 

Q. How far would you say we are f'rom the road? 

A. Four-hundred fee t .  And I'll t e l l  you they use it for  a speemay out here 
too. 

Q. Oh, I'll bet.  

A. No cops. Them kids l ikes t o  romp. 

Q. Do you ever remember any severe weather while you were growing up? 

A. Yes, I think it w a s  1918 o r  1919; we had an awful severe winter, it was 
as bad o r  worse as t h i s  winter. We had more ice  than we had t h i s  winter. 
And I've seen it as cold as it was th i s  winter several tirnes i n  rq l i f e ,  
twenty, twenty-Mve below zero. 

Q. Would that  present some.specia1 problems i n  taking care of your stock? 

A. Yes, a l w a y s .  

Q. How would you overcow these problems? 

A. Oh, just ewe. (laughs) 

Q. Did you lose): any? 

A. Oh no, I don't remrber ever losing any, only from s i c h e s s  maybe, but 
not fYom exposure. 

I 've lived through a couple of pret ty severe droughts i n  IQJ time, and the last 
one was i n  1954. It was the worse. 

Q. How long did that  go on? 
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Q. Oh, I see. 

A. And Donald, he was the guy tha t  hauled the hay. in.  He m the buck--. 
rake, one on each side and he'd go down through the f i e l d  and push up the 
damnedest loads and push it up t o  the baler. And them two fellows would 
pitch it i n  t o  me, and I ' d  poke it i n  the baler. 

Q. You had a l o t  of cooperation then out here? 

A. Yes, and we w a s  talking awhile ago about the changes. We went from 
stacking hay t o  baling hay with a stationary baler t o  a pickup baler that  
would go out in to  the field and pick the hay up and bale it and kick it out on 
a wagon. Well, tha t ' s  almost past. They've got these round balers now that--we 
was b a l h g  square bales--they've got these round balers now that  w i l l  put 
as much as a ton of hay i n  one bale. 

Q. I sn ' t  that  pretty d i f f icul t  t o  handle? 

A. They got t o  handle it with a fo rk l i f t .  That's the only way you can handle 
it. That's one of the drawbacks i n  using that  nzethod. And then the other 
method is feeding it. You've got t o  have a special way of feeding it. If 
you just  took one of them round bales out t o  the pasture and kicked it out t o  
the ca t t l e ,  they'd waste half of it. So you got t o  f i x  some kind of a pen 
around it so they can feed aroun,d it. 

Q. So they gradually use it up? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What about the roads i n  the area, what kind of shape w e r e  they in? 

A. We had nothing but d i r t  roads ever out here, and I've seen the tine when 
you couldnt t get f'rom here t o  S h e m  with four horses on a wagon. Now, tha t ' s  
hard t o  believe, i s n ' t  i t ?  

Q. It's just two miles away. 

A. But it was, And I ramher one tine wheq t?x river got over all the mads 
in to  Sprhgfield. 

Q. That's the San@;amon Rlver? 

A. Yes, and the hospitals and places l ike  that had t o  have mflk. We 
hauled the milk t o  Sherman and put it on the passenger t r a i n  and shlpped it 
t o  Springfield, and they'd pick it up i n  there and take it t o  the dairy and 
process it. 

Q. Was the Sangarnon River often out of its banks? 

A. This spring? 

Q. Well, say i n  years back when you were growing up. 

A. Oh yes, where you came over tonight, I 've seen water f ive fee t  deep 



Q. How old was she when she passed away? 

A. Not too old, I think sixty-eimt o r  sixty-nine. 

Q. That certainly i s n ' t  very old. 

A. No, but yet that  was a pretty good age at that  the. 

&. Yes, tha t ' s  true. What year  did she pass away? 

A. I can't t e l l  you. 

Q. But you had children of your own then? 

A. Oh yes. 

Q. How old were you when your father  passed away? 

A. r think about twenty. 

Q. You lef't school when you were how old? 

A.' Yes, well, I s tar ted  in the ei@th grade i n  the fall and went t o  
school up until time t o  shuck corn, and X had t o  quit and shuck corn 
and I never did go back t o  school. I knew I couldn't go and pass the t e s t ,  
so I just  didn't go. 

Q. D i d  you dad need you here a t  horn t o  help him? 

A. Yes, he needed help. They didn't have no mney t o  h i re  help i n  them 
days. You ei ther  done it yourself o r  done without. That's one thing, 
Nw. Berg, tha t  had a tendency t o  draw nei@bors closer together. Tney 
didn't have the m e y  t o  go out and hire help. They would help one another. 
But that  ' s so far gone that  . . . 
Q. D i d  you f'ind that  one person became especially good at doing one 
t h h g  and another person became especially good at doing somthlng else? 

A. Well, yes and no. You just  kind of had t o  be a jack-of-all-trades and 
master of none. t o  get along. (lawter) O f  course, w e  had our jobs. Now i n  
baling hay, job was t o  feed the baler,  They had a platform that  you stood 
up on, and theroe w a s  two other fellows, I@. Flagg and M r .  Devantier, they 
pitched the hay up on the platform t o  me, and I poked it under the feeder in to  
[the] bae r .  And then we had another fellow that done the tying, poked the 
wires and tied them. 

Q. So you had t o  have a g o u p  working together? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you had t o  have someone pulling tha t  wagon along? 

A. No, this was a stationary baler. 



A. Yes, Sally Ray, and when she was i n  the hospital, a f t e r  they 
ope~ated on that  leg, they put a cast on her clear around her w d s t  
down t o  the h e e  on one leg and clear  down t o  her foot on the other 
one. Well, I went i n  t o  see her every night, and I got i n  there that  
n i a t ,  and she was just having a f i t .  They had got that cast too tight 
amund her crippled leg, and her leg had star ted t o  swell. Well, the 
more it swelled, the more it hurt.  And them nurses wouldn't touch it, 
not without doctor's orders. '"Well, I said, "I1 11 go get somebody that  
w i l l  touch it.'' So I went over--she lived on Black Avenue-and got Sally 
and told her what was going on. And she said, "Well1 take care of that." 
And we went over there and she saw the circwnstance, and she says, "Can 
you stand ether?'' I said, "1 don't know, Sally, whether I can or  not. " 

"Well ," she said, r r I ~ l l  go get a bottle of used ether and a saw. " And 
she said, "We1 11 get that  cast t o  where it w i l l  relieve that  pain. '' So 
she went and got a bot t le  of ether. And I stood and just drop, drop, 
drop--that ether would soften that plaster  of paris--and she could take 
the saw and just  s a w  r ight  through it. And she cut about, oh, about two 
or  three inches off the end of that  cast and, boy, you could just imagine 
w h a t  the re l i e f  w a s .  

Q. What did the hospital personnel do? 

A. They stood there with t he i r  mouths open. (laughter) They never saw 
anything l ike  that  before. 

Q. Did she corn home i n  a cast? 

A. Yes, she wore that  cast for,  oh, I'll say two years, and then we'd 
taken her back, and they took it off i n  there. And then is when, I think, 
that  x-ray man treated her leg. 

Q. How did your mother accept t h i s  misfortune? 

A. Just as cheerful as could be. I* 11 swear before God I think the 
woman real ly enjoyed living up un t i l  about the l a s t  month she lived. She'd 
do anything, ms. Berg, tha t  you'd take t o  her where she could get ahold 
of it with her hands. We had a Quilt frame that  set across her bed, and, 
of course, we had a back rest on the bed that  she could sit up just  l ike  
she could i n  the hospital. And she'd sit up there and qu i l t  for  hours. 
And she would enjoy vis i t ing  with neighbors. And when we were making 
garden i n  the spring--you how when they plant potatoes they got t o  cut 
them up i n  pieces--she had t o  cut some potatoes. Take her i n  a bucket of 
potatoes, and, by God, she'd cut them. 

Q. She must have been an inspiration t o  a l l  of you. 

A. She was. She had a world of inspiration. 

Q. What happened when she f i m l l y  passed away, did she contract some 
other disease o r  . . . 
A. No, as I said, I think she actually enjoyed living up un t i l  about the 
l a s t  th i r ty  days, and she just got t o  the point where she just gave up. 



Q. What happened t o  her? 

A. She broke her leg. 

Q. How did she do i t ?  

A. I don't know whether the bone b ~ o k e  and she f e l l  o r  whether she f e l l  
and broke the bone. A l l  indications point t o  t h e b a n e  broke w a s  what 
caused her t o  f a l l  because her bone was just as  chalky as could be. It 
wouldn't kni t .  And they operated on her, and they t r i ed  t o  put a plate 
on it, and the bone wouldn't hold screws o r  nothing, So they just sewed 
I t  back up. And we bm&t her how and she lay i n  there. 

Before we brought her horn, I got pretty well acquainted with the x-ray 
man down there i n  the old &mria lHospi ta l .  She lay i n  there fo r  three 
months, and he corn t o  me one day and he says, "Mr. Mills," he sad, "I' d 
like t o  experltnent with your mother." He said, "It won't hurt her. I 
don't know i f  it w i l l  do her any good or  not; I ' d  l ike  t o  treat that  leg 
with x-ray. 'I And I talked t o  Mom about it, and she said, " A l l  r ight .  " 
So they treated her, oh, mybe a dozen times. And we brought her home, 
and that  bone did knlt. Now, how good, I can't t e l l  you. She couldn't 
pick her leg up on the bed, but her foot would s e t  up straight ,  it wouldn't 
fal l  over. So the bone did knit. I don't know how strong it was. 

Q. But she w a s  never able t o  get up again? 

A. No, she never w a s .  

Q. Could she sit up? 

A. In bed. We had an awful good friend by the name of Sally Ray that  
went a l l  through World War I i n  a l l  kinds of cases, disabled veterans, 
one thing and another. And she to ld  m, she says, "We1 11 b d l d  a frame, 
and 1'11 go down t o  Arrhrusterts and order the canvas made." Well, she 
to ld  me what kind of a frame she wanted, and I bu i l t  it. And on the foot 
of the bed--it was a single imn bed--we l a id  it on top of the foot of 
the bed and at the head of the bed, we had t o  t i e  it with ropes so it 
would be level. And then she had these cavases made. The upper pa% 
was about that long. (gestures with hands) 

Q. That I s  about a yard, tha t ' s  about three feet? 

A. Yes, and then they had a section about so wide that went around her 
middle, and then they had another about three fee t  down here at the foot. 

Q. That middle one was about eighteen inches? 

A. Yes, and when she had t o  have the bed pan or  anything-they were all 
buckled--w wife would loosen tha t  center canvas and l e t  It down and 
s e t  the bed pan under her. 

Q. WasnVt that wonderfil that Miss Ray--was that Miss or Mrs. m? 



A. Oh, not too often, maybe once a month, maybe once every two months, 
sorething like that .  Now i n  vegetable season when Mother had a l o t  of 
vegetables and poultry and stuff, she m i g h t  go every week, about once a 
week. She sold a l o t  of butter  and eggs. 

Q. How did she keep it, M r .  Mills? 

A. Kept it i n  the cel lar .  

Q .  It must have been nice and cool down there. 

A. It is, it's real cool. 

Q. Is it just ear thw w a l l s  or  . . . 
A. No, it 's brick walls. 

Q. Must be deep i n  the ground then? 

A. Yes, i t ' s  not as cool down there anymore SLS it was before w e  built the 
furnace room. When we bu i l t  the furnace room and put the nLmace i n  there 
that  changed the temperature a l o t .  

Q. What about the Fourth of July, do you remember any celeb~ations on 
the Fourth of July? 

A. Yes, they used t o  have regular picnics on the Fourth of July, and 
sometimes they'd be i n  Williamsville, sometimes over here a t  t h i s  Wolf 
Creek Cemetery. There was a church set there called the Wolf Creek Church; 
they might go over there and celebrate over there Fourth of July.  There 
was one time we always went over there, and that  was on, I think, Decora- 
t ion  Day. And the families would a11 take the food with them, and they'd 
have a big picnic. 

Q. Would you children play games? 

A. Yes. 

How about Thanksgiving? Did the together? 

A. Well, they usually celebrated Thanksgiving i n  the homes. 

Q. DId the whole family come together? 

A. Yes, most generally they'd come here. This was home base. 

Q. Well, your mother was with you, wasn't she? 

A. Oh yes. 

Q. She had kind of an unfortunate happening . . . 
A. I@ mthe r  lay i n  bed i n  that  livingroom there fo r  fourteen y e m  
and one-half f l a t  of her back, and that  l i t t l e  wife of mine take care of 
her. 



A. Oh yes, 19tts of skating when it was cold, it had t o  be cold t o  
skate. 

Q. Are there ponds here at the famn? 

A. There were, not now. There used t o  be [ponds]. I think It w a s  about 
1918, it come an a w W  s lee t ,  and you could skate a l l  over the country, 
just out across the f ields,  anywhere. It was just a solid layer of ice. 
I know us kids skated t o  Sherman and skated t o  Williamsville, just  l ike  
a sol id  chunk of ice.  

Q. How far is  Williamsville? 

A. Five miles. 

Q. And Sherman is two d l e s ?  

A. Sherman is two miles. 

Q. m, I t l l b e t  that  was a Lot of f'un. 

Q. Did you children keep i n  touch with one another through the years? 

A. Yes, pretty close. Our imnediate family has kept i n  touch real close. 
See, I've los t  the two older sisterd? and the l i t t l e  brother, but the 
rest of us is s t i l l  living, oh, i n  a radius of twenty miles. Auburn, I 
have got a s i s t e r  that l ives  i n  Auburm. 

Q. Do you remnher m y  of the ways you celebrated holidays when you were 
growing up, rem@er anything about Christm? 

-- - - 

A. Well, we just  had a big feast ,  potluck o r  whatever you want t o  c a l l  
it and theyvd a11 come. 

Q. Did you exchange gifts at Christmas? 

A. Yes, tha t  was a must. 

Q. What so r t  of things? 

A. Usem things. 

Q. Were they things you purchased or  thin@ you made? 

A. Most generally, well, I'd say both. Some of the gifts were purchased 
and some of them were handmade. And, of course, kids [gifts] waa jus t  
toys . 
Q. Where did you go t o  buy the things? 

A. Springfield. 

Q. How often did you go t o  Springfield? 



h i t  that  stack of hay and burned it up. 

Q. Did that  happen often? 

A. Reasonably often, not too often, but it did happen. 

Q. Was there any precaution you could have taken t o  prevent tha t  from 
happening? 

A. No. There's a s i t e  ri&t down the road here tha t ' s  almost unbelievable. 
You how lightnTng is a d g h t y  powerful thing. Well, it struck a t r ee  
down there r ight  close t o  the road about a month ago, and I never seen 
anything busted up i n  l i f e  l ike  that  t r e e  is. It even throwed part of 
it clear  out i n  the public road. It mt have h i t  it dead center. 

Q. you keep li&tning rods on the house? 

A. No, we used to ,  but not anymore. 

Q. Md the neighbors get together, M r .  Nills? How did you people get 
together, did you come and v i s i t  on the weekends? 

A. Oh yes. We done a l o t  of v i s i t ing  on the holidays and birthdays and 
anniversarfes and what not. 

Q. And you children i n  the neighborhood played together? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What sor t  of games did you play? 

A. Oh, God, everything tha t  kids would play. Owl main games at school 
was wolf and sheep and shinny. 

Q. What are those g m s ?  

A. Well, shinny is pretty near l ike  golf as anything you can get, only 
we had a t i n  can we w a s  knocking around instead of a golf ba l l .  (laughter) 
And wolf and sheep, we'd choose up sides and weld have t o  run f r o m  here t o  
there, and i f  you got caught, you had t o  go t o  the other side. I remew 
bey that .  And our house parties,  we played spin the plate, post office 
and, oh God, I don't know what a l l .  

Q. Did you make candy together? 

A. O h  yes. 1'11 t e l l  you quite a t r ick.  Get a dish pan f'ull of water 
and put apples i n  there and then reach over and t r y  t o  pick one up with 
your teeth. 

Q. Apple bobbing, (laughter) 1'11 bet you had a few wet heads. 

A. Yes sir, foolish things l ike  that .  

&. Did you do any skating In the wlnte&ime? 



A. Just  across the road. They l ive  i n  that  t r a i l e r .  There was a fine 
farr~L1.y lived there fo r  years and years and y e m .  Kail. 

Q. Did they farm the land? 

A. Yes. Do you happen t o  bow Nr. Vasconcelles? 

Q. I 've heard tha t  name. 

A. H e  was the boss of Social Security down here for-well, he re t i red  
last year. 

Q. Yes, not too long ago. 

A. H i s  wife w a s  ralsed over there. 

Q. Was she a Kail? 

A. Yes, she was a Kail. And she w a s  over here more than she was at home. 
And we growed awful close together. Her mother was kind of poorly, a b ig  
worn ,  not fat but t a l l ,  just a big woman. And t h i s  girl's name was Eliza- 
beth. Well, I donlt how, she got the nmie of Jack, and she went by the 
rn of Jack a l l  of her l i f e .  And Jack and I would take her mother t o  the 
hospital, 1'11 t e l l  you, i n  some of the awfulest weather. 

Q. You took her in to  Springfield? 

A. Yes. 

Q, How would you . . . 
A. In  the car. 

Q. By that  t h  you had the car? 

A. Yes. 

Q. bhat kind of jobs did the ne iabors  do fo r  one another? 
they had t h i s  wonderful feeling of . . . 
A. Oh, that  butchering fo r  one, fence building, and i f  they wanted t o  
put up a shed, why, they'd all jmp i n  and help build that shed; hay bal- 
ing, putting up hay together. That's not a oneman job, it takes several 
men t~ do that. And I have stacked hundreds of tons of hay. And if you 
think tha t  ain't work, you just  a in ' t  there. 

Q. Has it changed t o m ?  

A. Yes, i t 's  changing rapidly. Now, we went from the,: hay stackfng--by 
the way, it was on a Saturday afternoon, I stacked a big stack of hay 
down here. Oh, it was hot. And a Kailboy and I and some of the other 
boys was going down t o  the r iver  t o  spend the n i g h L t h e  weekend, Satur- 
day ni@t and Sunday. Well, we hadn't got t o  the r iver  till the l i&tfing 



Tape turned off .  (housekeeper came in to  the kitchen) 

Q. M r .  Mills, you were t e l l ing  me about i l lness  and disease i n  the 
family while you were growing up. 

A. iV& mother took care of a l o t  of sfck people. Maybe tha t ' s  what give 
~I-E the intui t ion t o  want t o  be a doctor, I don't bow. But she had very 
good luck. In  our rimmediate family, my s i s t e r ,  Mary,  and I--we weye just 
l i t t l e  devils-and we were probably f ive and s i x  years old, and we both 
broke down with scarlet  fever. Well, it didn't hurt us. A s  a rule, i f  
a kid had scarlet  fever and i f  they take care of themselves, it doesn't 
hurt them too bad, but an old person, boy, i t ' s  hard on them. I@ mother, 

father and that  aunt I to ld  you about staying with us and my two older 
s i s t e r s ,  I ' m  t e l l ing  you, they l ike  t o  died with scarlet  fever. 

Q. Your mother had never had it as a child? 

Q. Nor y o u  father? 

A. They f lna l ly  pulled through it. And m e  thing that  comes t o  my mind 
just  as fresh as i f  it was t h i s  morning, they was trying t o  keep s i s t e r  
and I i n  bed, and we was too ornery t o  s tay i n  bed, and we was up running 
mound here. It w a s  i n  the wintertime, way below zero, and one of the 
neighbors come there t o  that kitchen door. He  had a big mustache, i c i c les  
hanging down off of that  mustache, tha t ' s  what l e f t  the impression with 
me. And fahter 's  name w a s  John, and he said, "John, i s  there anything 
I can do for  you t h i s  morning?'' I never w i l l  forget tha t .  Dad said, "No," 
he said, "everything is pretty well taken care of for  today." Now, things 
l ike  that stays with you. 

Q. They sure do. Who was that  man? 

A. John Anderson. 

Q He w a s  a neighbor? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did your neighbors have that  feeling of closeness and togetherness? 

A. Yes, they did. I think I mentioned i n  the tablet  that  I wrote, there 
was f ive families lived here i n  t h i s  neighborhood that  was just  as close 
as f lve families could be. It didn't rmke any difference what one had 
t o  do, they a l l  went and helped and got it done. Now then, Mrs. Berg, 
i f  I w a s  going t o  be shot, I couldn't t e l l  you who q closest neighbor is. 

Q. Is that  r ight? 

A. Things has just  drif ted ap& i n  the last twenty-five years, Just 
unbelieveable . 
Q. How close i s  your closest neighbor? 



Q. Was your mother called for any other emergencies i n  the neighbor* 
hood? 

A. Well, yes, she w a s  kind of the family doctor fo r  hwnans and rny Dad 
w a s  the animal doctor. He was the veterinarian. (laughs) Anybody had 
a sick cow o r  sick horse, they'd c a l l  Dad. I never w i l l  forget, we had 
soye neighbors over here had a pear orchard, and it 's dangerous t o  l e t  
ca%& i n  a pear or apple orchard. They a in ' t  got sense enough t o  chew 
them up, they ' l l  try t o  swallow them whole. One got stuck down in  t h i s  
calf 's  throat, and, boy, he s tar ted t o  blow up, and this Johnson was 
the i r  name, they called Dad. And he got me out of bed, and he said, "Come, 
go with me." So I went with h i m ,  and I was as stout as a bull ,  and I was 
just strong enough that  I just  mashed that  pear i n  that calf's throat. It 
went on i n  h is  stomah and everything w a s  lovely. Ordinarily, they would 
take a bmomstick and poke it down that  calf's throat and poke that ob- 
struction on in to  the stomach. But t h i s  tire, I just  got ahold of that  on 
the outside--you could feel it--and I just mashed it and it went down. 

Q. Mr. W l l s  , w a s  D r .  Shear1 in Sherman? 

A. Yes, and Williamsville too. 

Q. How mamy doctors were i n  t h i s  area? 

A. A t  one time? 

Q. Yes. 

A. I think it was two. One i n  Sherman and one i n  . . . 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q .  You w e r e  t e l l l rg  me about <he doctors i n  Sherrnan and Williamsville. 

A. Dr ,  Smith was i n  Sherman and Dr. Shipman and Dr. Shear1 and Dr. S tu t t l e  
was i n  W i l l i m v i l l e .  And I'll t e l l  you, a f t e r  i t ' s  a l l  said and done, 
you got t o  give them old fellows a l o t  of credit .  It didn't make any 
difference what the weather was, how stormy it was, you'd c a l l  them; they'd 
come. It would take them awhile t o  get here. They'd cow i n  a horse and 
~~* 

Q. Tell  IE how many doctors are i n  Williamsville and S h e m  today? 

A. None. 

Q. Where do you have t o  go now for rmllcal attention? 

A. Springfield. Takes you about s i x  weeks t o  get an appointmnt. (laughter; 

Q. Do you remesnber any illnesses that  the family had? You said your 
mother was kind of the doctor of the family and the neighborhood . . . 



Q. About how often during the day would that  run? 

A. Oh, they'd m every hour o r  hour and a half.  

Q. About how long would it take you t o  get t o  Springfield? 

A. God, I don't remember, about f i f teen o r  twenty rriLnutes. They'd get on 
over here a t  the crossing up the road. 

Q. But tha t ' s  a couple of miles. 

A. Yes, somebody would take them or  maybe they'd walk. Then maybe they'd 
miss the e m ,  or  hoping they would. (laughter) 

Q. Did you have any particular ambition when you were going t o  school? 

A. Yes, I always wanted t o  be a doctor. 

Q. What do you think made you have that  ambition? 

A. I don't know unless it was mother. I would say that  D r .  Shearl 
i n  Williamsville and my mother delivered more babies Pn t h i s  neighborhood 
i n  her l ifetime then any other two people i n  the neighborhood. 

Q. If someone knew that  a baby was about t o  be born, woula they come 
and get your mother? 

A. Take her. ( M r .  Mills pointed t o  himself) 

Q. How did they get word t o  you? 

A. Telephone . 
Q. Would she somtimes be gone mare than just a day? 

A. Oh yes, she might stay a week with the mother and baby. 

Q. Did she work with other doctors besides Dr. Shearl? 

A. Well, yes, but he was the rralnstay a t  the t h e .  Her last baby was 
Dorothy, and Dr. Smith delivered her right here i n  this house. 

Q. Outside of you and your older brother--no, the two girls were born 
i n  the log cabln too, weren't they--the rest of the children were born 
here? 

A. No, I was the only one born i n  the log cabin. The two older s i s t e r s  
were born down there up on the h i l l  from Moonlight Gardens. 

Q. Before the f m l l y  mved? 

A. Yes, and then the rest of them were born r ight  here-Mary, Helen and 
Dorothy. 



A. I think some of the family m e t  her in there, [the hospital] and 
they to ld  her I was i n  there, and she come in t o  see me. That w a s  a 
shock, now. 

Q. D i d  you reca l l  one another? 

A. Yes, I recognized her jus t  as soon as she walked i n  the door. She 
was older. 

Q. How old was she when she taught? 

A. Probably eighteen, nineteen, jus t  as redheaded as  a woodpecker. Good 
girl. 

Q. How did your teachers d n t a i n  discipline i n  the classroom? 

A. Well, they were more o r  less pretty s t r i c t .  If you needed a paddling, 
you got it, and there wasn't no ifs and ands about it. 

Q. What time of the day did you start school, and what time did you end? 

A. Usually a t  eight o'clock i n  the morning and an hour off a t  noon and got 
out at four. 

Q. D i d  you children come home f o r  lunch since you were so close? 

A. Most of the time us kids had t o  come horn for  dinner. If it was 
storming or  raining o r  bad, maybe Mom would f i x  our basket lunch and Dad 
would bring it t o  us. But most of the time we c m  home for  dinner. The 
school s tar ted  about the first of September i n  the f a l l  and l e t  out the 
f i r s t  of Nxy in  the sprfne;; eight months, 

We had amst as  rrany male teachers as we did women. The last teacher 
who taught over there when they closed the school, her name was Rachael 
Flagg, Paul Flaggls wife. The teacher just  ahead of her was Mary Hewitson. 
She taught there nine years and she was an excellent teacher. 

Q. After the children graduated from t h i s  school, where did they go? 

A. Usually, they went t o  Williamsville, and som of them went t o  Spring- 
f i e l d  High School. Williamsville had a high school, and some of them 
went t o  high school there i n  Springfield. 

Q. How did they get there? 

A. Mostly, rode the interurban. You know the old in ternban tha t  used 
t o  run up and down the road, they'd r ide it. 

Q. Md that  interurban go f r o m  Springfield up t o  Bloomington? 

A. Yes. 



A. Well, it stood there up un t i l  two yeam ago. And the land--it was 
an acre there, cam out of that fa~m across the road there-it w a s  
donated as long. as it w a s  used for  a school. Well, then we had a l i t t l e  
organization here i n  the neighborhood; they called it the Anti-Thief 
Association. They took over the place, and they got ahold of the fellow 
that  owned the land and he said as long as they wanted t o  use it fo r  a 
meting place, they could have it. Well, we scraped up some money and 
paid somethirg fo r  it. I don't remember just when it was ,  but then they 
decided t o  s e l l  the school land, and they did. What do you think it brought? 

Q. I don't know. 

A. Ten thousand f ive hundred dollars for  tha t  acre of ground. 

Q. For that  acre of ground? 

A. That acre of ground. And, of course, I b id  $6,500 for  it, and I didn't 
get started. It went back t o  the family and back into the fm. 

Q. What made that  one acm so valuable? 

A. Well, i t ' s  a wonderful location fo r  anything, f o r  a home or  a tavern. 
That w a s  always what I was afraid of that  somebody might get ahold of it 
and start a tavern there, and tha t  I didn't want. But they didn't, and 
it went back in to  the farm, and it w i l l  always be a farm now. 

Q. About how rmny children were i n  the school? We have the picture with 
nine t em. 

A. It would vary. I would say it was one of the small schools, went up 
t o  35 or  40. 

Q. How many grades would there be? 

A. Eight. One teacher taught a l l  eight grades. 

Q. Do you remerher som of your teachers? 

A. Oh yes, that  teacher there was Hallie C l a r l c  (school picture) and B i l l  
Chambers and B i l l  Hoek and Bessie Pool. 

You know that  w a s  kind of a concidence, she [ ~ e s s i e  Pool]--wasn't too long 
a f t e r  this teacher here (pointing t o  picture of Hallie Clark) and I liked 
her a l o t .  I guess I was ten o r  twelve years old, and she'd keep m a f t e r  
school for something I had done and she'd corn back and sit down i n  the 
seat by m, and she'd say, "Win, you're not mean, you're just  mischievious. '' 
Which was true. And we'd go skating that  night, and I ' d  put her skates on 
fo r  her, and everything was lovely. And you how, we drif ted apart, and 
I never seen that  woman another t i m e  un t i l  I was i n  the hospital here a 
couple of yeam ago. 

Q. Under what circwnstances did you see her? 



Q. For how lrany families would you butcher In  a season? 

A. Probably a dozen, f i f teen.  We'd k i l l  eighty, ninety hogs. You cut 
tha t  many bogs up, you learn a whole lo t .  

Q. 1'11 bet you do. Did you have a s e t  fee? The t h  you did the twelve 
hogs, you w e r e  paid three dollars. 

A. No, it w a s  so much a day. 

Q. So much a day depending on how much of the day you spent there? 

A. Well, daylight till dark. That was what they figured a day i n  them 
days. 

Q. l%?. Ells ,  how old were you when you star ted going t o  school? 

A. I presume around six. I was thinking about that  before you came. I 
w a s  born i n  1898, and I must have been four or  f ive when I star ted school. 

Q. Where did you go t o  school? 

A. School was r ight  across the road there. 

Q. What was the m of it? 

A. S a n g a m  Center Distr ict  #L5. It: me. started in 1881, md - 
it run up un t i l  the consolidation. And I 've thought several times since 
you w a s  out here that  I'd try t o  run that  down and find out when it w a s  
consolidated, but 1 haven't done it. But I would say-oh, this is 1977-- 
I would sa,y it was sometime i n  the 1950 Is. 

One mistake I mde when they consolidated those schools--the l a w  sald 
each d i s t r t c t  turn a l l  records over t o  the new superintendent-well, I had 
a ledger that  w a s  s tar ted when t h i s  school s tar ted that  had everything En 
there f k o m  the t h e  the school s tar ted  un t i l  it was closed; the money that  
was spent, what it w a s  spent for,  what the teacher's sa la ry  was Land] who the 
the teacher w a s .  I was a fool that  I didn't  keep that .  I gave tha t  t o  
that  superintendent, and do you know what he done with it, burned it up. 
I had a record there one-hundred years old. 

Q. That is a pity. 

A. That's right. And w e  had, I think, three sets of encyclopedias. We 
had Picture Knowledge, Comptons, and I forget what the name of the other 
one was ; and he burned them up. 

Q. What happened t o  the building? 

2 ~ a n g m  Center Distr ict  n u h e r  f i f teen  was last  included in the 
o f r i c ia l  l i s t i ng  of the Sangamon County School Directory fo r  the 1952- 
1953 school year. [Ed. ] 
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A. Bleed hfm, s t i ck  him in the thmat and cut the jugular vein and bleed 
him. Then we'd drag him over t o  the scalding vat and put h i m  i n  that 
water and scald him. And i f  you was ri&t careful, that  hair would just  
corn off there just  like it was supposed to. If the water was too hot 
and you got that  ha i r  set,  only way you'd get it off was t o  shave him. 

Q. You had t o  know just  the right temperature? 

A. That's r ight .  

Q. Would you build fires under those containers? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would they start that  before you got there? 

A. Usually, yes. 

Q. After you had scalded and repved the hair, then w h a t  was the next 
step? 

A. Hang them on a pole and take the Fnsides out of them. That w a s  rrIy 
job. I 've gutted many a hog. And then prop them open and l e t  them ham 
there and cool out. And when it 's zero, it don't take too long. 

Q. No, it wouldn't. Did you have special knives that  you used just for 
that? 

A. No, not particularly, just  about a seven-inch butcher knife i s  what 
we used. 

Q. After it had cooled, what was your next step? 

A. Lay them on a table and cut them up. 

Q. Is that  when someone else would st& rendering? 

A. Yes. S m  wanted pork chops. If you wanted pork chops, we had t o  
saw down the backbone. If they jus t  wanted the backbone taken out, we'd 
s p l i t  it down each side of the backbone and take the ~ i b s  out tha t  way, 
and then you had the backbones and ribs.  But i f  you wanted pork chops, 
you had t o  s p l i t  that  backbone. 

Q. How did you learn t o  do this? 

A. Well, I dantt  know, it just seems ltke it corn natural. ( l a . )  I've 
had it all r r ~ y  l i fe  when I was a kid and watched others, and I just picked 
it up as we went along. I tho&t I was a pretty good butcher. 

Q. You and Yk. De Silva did this together? 

A. Yes. 



A. Well, they ' r e  generally boss, ain'  t they? (laughter) 

&. Well, you said that .  

A. 1'11 t e l l  you [about] one family that I helped butcher [for]. A 
fellow by the name of Frank DeSilva and I; we butchered together, and we 
went t o  t h i s  place t o  butcher. We'd get there before daylight and have t o  
wait un t i l  it got l ight  enough t o  see t o  shoot a hog. And t h a t w o r n  would 
come out and t e l l  you you wasn't leaving un t i l  that  butchering job was done 
that day. Now, who was boss? 

Q. I guess she was, M r .  Mills (laughter) 

A. We'd butcher ten t o  twelve hogs, and we'd l e t  those hogs cool out and 
start cutting them up, and the son, he'd start rendering lard--probably 
nine o'clock i n  the morming--and he'd render l& a l l  day long. Me and t h i s  
DeSilva would cut them hogs up and trim them out; and maybe four o'clock 
i n  the evening, we'd get the meat salted, and then we'd go i n  the kitchen 
and grind the sausage, by hand. And we'd get done a t  1 0 : O O  o r  10:30 p.m. 

Q. That was a big job. 

A. Three dollam a day. 

Q. For three dollars a day each? 

A. Yes. 

Q. My goodness, and that was twelve hogs? 

A. Yes. 

Q. W a s  that  a big family? 

A. Well, pret ty  good sized family, and then they sold quite a b i t  of that  
meat t o  t h i s  Dockum & Dawson. The bacons and back bones and spareribs and 
a l l  that  stuff went t o  Dockurn & Dawson. They kept the hams and shoulders. 

Q. But they sold the bacon and some of the other pieces? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, &at klnd of equipment did you have when you butchered? 

A. Well, it took an old cast iron ke t t l e  t o  heat the water in,  and we had 
different ways of scalding. We done a l l  our butchering with scalding, Some 
had vats, some had barrels,  and we'd scald them. 

Q. This was a f t e r  you had shot the hog? 

A. Yes, couldnl t scald him before. (laughter) 

4. That's r ight .  What was the next step? 



Q, You wouldn? be smoking cat t le ,  what did you do with them? 

A. No, they would make a l o t  of hamburger out of it and steaks, and I 
just  don't remember how they prepared the r e s t  of it. They used t o  make a 
l o t  of corned beef. I couldn't t e l l  you how that was  done, but they did. 
Do you l ike  corned beef? 

Q. Sure do. 

A. Well, it was good. 

Q. 1'11 bet it was. Now, t e l l  me about the smol&+g. Wt sor t  of wood 
did you use?. 

A. Well, we were supposed t o  use hickory and sassafrass. And we usually 
took an old wash tub and f i l l e d  it about half or  t w o - t W d s  f u l l  of ashes 
o r  dirt or something and bu i l t  our fire on top of that .  And you don't want 
much of a blaze, a l l  you want is the smoke. We would rn that for maybe 
three or  four days. 

Q. Would you have t o  tend that  round the clock t o  rrrake sure that it kept 
b m n g ?  

A. No, we usually, I think, l e t  it die down at night and then star ted It up 
again of a morning. 

Q. How big was the m k e  house? 

A. Well, i t 's about, i t ' s  ten-by-ten i s  what it is. 

Q. Did it have a window? 

A. No. Just the door. 

Q. It was very t ight? 

A. Pretty t ight .  

Q. So the smke would just fill up the house? 

A. Just  f i l l e d  up in there and se t t led  on the meat. And it got hot 
enough 3x1 there tha t  you'd see the lard drlp out of that  meat. So you know 
it got pretty hot. 

Q. Was butchering a neighborhood undertaking? 

A. Yes, but that was the way we handled o w  own stuff here. We butchered 
a l l  over the nefghborhood, and they a l l  had different methods of preparing 
the i r  rmat . 
Q. Was that usually up t o  the wife of the house? Was 1t she who had the 
recipes? 



A. Oh, yes, about a l l  they bought was sugar and coffee. 

Q. And flour? 

A. And flour. 

Q. What kind of meat did you eat? 

A. Everything; hogs, c a t t l e  and chickens. 

Q. Did y a w  father  butcher? 

A. Oh yes, we used t o  have them whole neighborhood butche~ies,  and a l l  
the neighbors would corn i n  together, and I think i n  that  p ic twe,  we pro- 
bably butchered s ix  hogs that  day and worked them a l l  up. And then we would 
s a l t  that  meat and leave it down twenty-one days then take it out, and put 
it in a tub of wamn water and we.sh it a l l  off. Then we'd hang it out here 
i n  the smoke house and smoke it. And we would smoke it until they thought 
it was right t o  keep ard then they would take and put black pepper, borax 
and sal tpeter  on tha t  meat and hang it. And you t a lk  about something good 
t o  eat,  you cut into one of them hams along in June or  July, out of t h i s  
world. 

Q. Was the ent i re  carcass hanging i n  the smoke house or  had it been cut up? 

A. Oh, it had been processed, a l l  cut up, ham, shoulders [and] bacon. 
And the sausage, Mother used t o  fry that  down. They had big stone jars, 
five, ten gallon stone jars, and they would fky that  f u l l  of sausage. Most 
of the time they would stuff that  sausage i n  casing, and then a f t e r  they got 
the j a r s  so fu l l ,  they would cover it with f a t .  

Q. That i s  with lard they had rendered flwm the carcass? 

A. Yes, it kept just as good i n  there as could be. 

Q. Where did you keep that? 

A. In  the ce l lar .  

Q. If your m the r  wanted t o  prepare some of that  sausage . . . 
A. Just go dawn there and dig it out of tha t  lard and b ~ i n g  it up here 
and put it on the stove, just  l ike  it w a s  butchered yesterday. (laughs) 

Q. Did you butcher i n  any particular time of the year? 

A. No, not exactly, only we butchered i n  the winter. 

Q. The weather was cool? 

A. Yes, so the hogs and ca t t l e  would cool out themselves. 
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Q. What about the produce that she used for  the family, where did she 
keep that? 

A. Mostly i n  the cel lar .  

Q. Is that  under the house? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What kind of M t s  and vegetables did she keep in the cel lar? 

A. Everything; potatoes, apples, onions, just  most everything. And i n  the 
fa l l  of the year, we usually buried a couple or three barrels out here i n  
the ground and f i l l ed  them with cabbage, potatoes and stuff l ike  that,  and 
then covered them up. Well, they kept i n  there just  l i ke  they was i n  a 
refrigerator.  

Q. How deep? 

A. Possibly two fee t .  

Q. You mean the top of the barrel would be two feet under the ground? 

A. Yes, and put d i r t  over the top of it. 

Q. D i d  she do any canning? 

A. Oh yes, hundreds and hundreds of quarts--berries, vegetables and every- 
thing. 

Q. Did she have the berry patches here on the farm? 

A. Yes, we did a t  one time and an orchard of pears, apples and. peaches. 

Q. Were these things that  your father had planted o r  were these orchards 
already on the fann? 

A. Yes, it was down there, (pointed northeast of house) and there was 
quite an orchard down there on that  twenty acres, and then we had quite 
an orchard right out i n  here. But Mt business i s  mom so today then it 
used t o  be. It's a business of i t s  own. You never heard of people spray- 
ing back theye seventy-five years ago, and we always had Mt. Now then, 
today if you don't spray and take care of your f r u i t  trees,  you don't have 
nothing . 
Q. What do you think is the cause of that? 

A. Why, i&'s the insects that's developed, c m  into being. 

Q. So you almost have t o  spray now? 

A. You almost have to  spray i f  you want a f ru i t  crop. 

Q. Did your parents ra ise  most of the food tha t  you ate? 
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Q. What kind of chores did you children have when you were pclwing up? 

A. Well, I could cover that  i n  a few words, just  everything. (laughter) 
And my parents weren't r e a l  s t r i c t ,  but we f ina l ly  learned when they said 
t o  do it, we done it. One time I didn't .  It was the only real whipping 
that  I ever got, and my mother l i ke  t o  beat me t o  death. 

Q. What did you do t o  deserve t h i s  punishment? 

A. Well, my oldest sister-she was quite a gmdener, my mother--and I had 
come home from school. P& mother had quite a patch of onions, and she had 
pulled these onions, and they had l a id  out there a few days and dried, and 
us kids was supposed t o  pick them up. Well, I didn't want to .  My s i s t e r  had 
the bucket picking up the onions, and I had the sack aholding it t o  put them 
in,  and I just  l e t  the sack fall down, and onions went everywhere. (laughs ) 

mother gave me a whipping that 1'11 never forget. I could pick up onions 
a f t e r  that .  

Q. I'll bet you could. Where did she keep those onions? 

A. She usually took them right t o  Springfield and sold them. 

Q. Did she s e l l  other produce i n  Springfield? 

A. Oh, yes--eggs, poultry, but ter  and vegetables. She w a s  a regular peddler. 
And she drove tha t  with two horses and a spring wagon. It was an a l l  day 
t r ip .  

€2. Dld you children ever go with her? 

A. No, not that  I ever recollect of.  

Q. Did she go alone? 

A. No, she had a s i s t e r ,  q aunt. P& mother and t h i s  aunt masried brothers. 
Well, w aunt's husband got k i l led  over here on the railroad accidentally 
some way, I don't know how, and she lived wlth us fo r  years and years and 
years un t i l  a f t e r  her f a t k r  and mother both died. She had an old maid 
sister and an old bachelor brother, and a f t e r  rny grandmother and grandfather 
died, she went back home and lived with them. 

Q. She would go with yowl mother t o  Springfield? 

A. Yes, them was the two that  done the peddling. And by the way, they did 
most of their shopping out there a t  Dockurn & ~awsonl  out there on North Grand 
Avenue. That was one of the oldest stores i n  Springfield. 

Q. What was the name of that  [store] M r .  Mills? 

A. Dockum & Bwson, r ight  there where Noonants Hardware Store is, where 
it was. 

bockurn & Dawson was located at 723 East North Grand. [Fd . ] 
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discovered was these l i t t l e  white peaxl buttons and then one of them  old^. 
fashioned side combs women used t o  wear in t h e i r  hair. And then we found 
a skull,  the a m  bone and the leg bone. We gathered them up when we came 
t o  them, a piece a t  a t*, and took them over and la id  them down by the 
fence un t i l  a f t e r  the f'meral was over, and then we b r o w t  them back and 
put them right back i n  the same pave .  And they had been buried, Mrs, Berg, 
i n  that  direction. Now, that's contrary t o  ethics of burial .  A l l  burials 
arre usually east t o  west. 

Q. In other words, it was buried go- northeast and southwest? 

A. That is r ight .  And there was a Baby and a mother seemingly buried 
there i n  that same grave. And I assume it was one of those cholera victims. 

Q. That had probably been taken up there i n  the night. 

A. They just  wrapped them up i n  blankets o r  anything and buried them quick, 

Q. Because of the contagious aspect of the diseme? 

A. Oh, q, yes. And rry l i t t l e  brother--I found out something I didn't 
la?ow-I knew what he died with, he died with spinal meningitis, and t h a t r s  
very contagious. And they buried him i n  a sealed casket, tha t ' s  how come 
that glass was there. 

Q. You think the coffin w a s  lined with glass? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was he the only one of your parent's children who died i n  infancy? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How many chilcben did your parents have? 

A. Well, l e t  me see, seven, I guess. I had a rough go. I had f ive 
s is ters .  (laughs ) 

Q. Oh q y ,  where did you come i n  the family, M r .  Mills? Are you the older 
brother? 

A. No, the one tha t  died would have been the oldest. He was born, I think, 
i n  1895. He was four yeam old when he &Led, and I was born i n  1898, so 
that  figures out. 

Q. HOW much older were you than your s is ters?  

A. Well, I had two s i s t e r s  older than I, and ms. Petefish and I are just  
pretty close together--her bMhday is i n  June and mine is i n  December--and 
then Dorothy and Helen. Bertha and Flora, they were ny two older s i s t e r s .  

Q. So there was the l i t t l e  boy who died at four, two s l s t e r s ,  you and 
then your other three sisters. 

A. Yes. 



there wasn't nothing there. It was a l l  mashed f lat .  And we gathered up 
what we could and put it i n  a-what do they c a l l  those-stillborn baby 
caskets about so big. And then we took the vaults out. Ply mother, father 
and s i s t e r  were buried i n  Clark Steel  Vaults. And they came out there, 
Mrs. Berg, just  as good a shape as  they w a s  when they went in there. We 
loaded them on a truck and took them over t o  Wolf Creek Cemetery and re- 
buried them. 

Q. How long had they been i n  the gound? 

A. P@ father had been i n  the ground about thirty-seven, thirty-six, thirty- 
seven years, and I think nly mother and s i s t e r  had been in the ground about 
sixteen o r  eighteen years. 

Q. What did It cost you t o  move those vaults? 

A. Now, you would be surprised; I was.  The vault coupany came up from 
Taylomrille, see those vaults were made i n  TaylorvSlle, and moved those 
vaults. We got a man with a backhoe t o  dfg them out. After it was a l l  
said and dwe, $150. 

That w a s  wasn't i t ?  

A. It wasn't very mch. Of course, we didn't have nine or  ten-dollar-an- 
hour men l ike  they got today. 

Q. That's tme .  Did you ever have t o  dig any graves? 

A. Oh, yes. I have helped dig, oh, I expect, a dozen o r  more graves. I 
had a flumy experience up there. A fellow by the name of Collins had a re- 
la t ive  dle, and they had a particular spot-there nevw was no records kept 
of that  cemetery; you just  had t o  guess where the people were buried--that 
they wanted t h i s  person buried. Well, there was three of us digging on the 
grave-and by the way, you dug them by hand then--and we was digging, and 
I told them, I said, "Boys, t h i s  d i r t  is not r ight ,  it s been moved. " Now 
we proceeded t o  dig the grave, and we got her dug, and we came home t o  dinner. 
I think the funeral was two o'clock o r  two-thirty. When we went back, one 
whole side of that  grave had give way and f e l l  over i n  the g a v e  we just dug. 
There was the other casket set t ing i n  the= jus t  pretty near as good shape 
as the day It was buried, and it was buried i n  a wooden box. 

Q. I wonder how long it had been i n  there. Was the wood s t i l l  intact? 

A. Yes, and we had a p i l e  of dirt there big enough fo r  a basement out of 
a house. And the undertaker came and said, 'mere i n  the world did a l l  
that  dirt c m  fFOrn?ll I said, "You pul l  that  grass up and you can see." 
We had that grass lining hanging down i n  the grave, you know. And he said, 
"Oh, I see. l1 

Q. That's what happens when they don't keep records. 

that particular grave we into a corpse. The f i r s t  thing 



believe it was 1918. I know it was as  bad o r  worse snow as  we had t h i s  
l a s t  winter. And sn;y father and uncle walked over t o  Andrew and caught the 
t r a i n  and went t o  Athens t o  Mott's Funeral Home and got the casket and 
brought it back and got it i n  a bobsled, and they just drove r ight  across 
the f ie lds ,  anywhere, t o  get t o  where they was going. They f ina l ly  got 
home wLth It, and they put him i n  the casket, and they buried him the next 
day.  They just went out across the f ields.  And they're buried i n  the 
Kerns Cemetery north of Sherman. 

Q. Both of your grandparents? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the i r  name was Spmks? 

A, Yes, I got several aunts and uncles buried up there too. And my folks 
were buried there until-I told you about our grave w i n g .  

Q. Well, t e l l  us about that  again because that  was very interesting. Tell  
me why you decided t o  move your parentsv graves. 

A. Well, Mrs. Berg, i t t s  a long story. My father 's  mother owned that  pro- 
perty up there, that  farmland, and it was the time that  they had the epidemlc 
i n  t h i s  country of the cholera. Now, when that  was, I don't know as t o  [the] 
year. And they would d ie  just  about l ike  f l i e s .  It was very contagious, 
and they'd haul them away at  night and bwy them just  any way t o  get them 
i n  the ground. That went on and on. And the family, family, wanted t o  
move those graves t o  a place where it had perpetual carre. That up there 
has just  almost gone back t o  the Indians. 

Q. How could you get in to  that  cemetery? 

A. Well, i t 's kind of a rough go. That was one of the drawbacks; there is  
no mad into it. It is a nice spot up a hill, but they had t o  cross a bridge 
By the way, one time I had an uncle d ie  that  was buried up there, and Staab 
had the h e r a l .  And we went there, and it come a fowcinch rain.  It was 
raining when they got there, and Staab said, "Just stay i n  the cars un t i l  
it quits." Well, when it quit ,  the bridge w a s  four feet  under water, and 
there was that  whole mess of people up there on that  h i l l ,  and Staab had 
another funeral a t  four otclock i n  Springfield. Well, he waded out across 
the cornfield through the mud and water and got t o  the ha,rd road and caught 
a r ide  into Springfield. It f inal ly quit  raining, and we got down i n  the 
grave, dipped the water out and buried the corpse. 

That was kind of off the subject in. regards t o  moving the graves. We de- 
cided t o  go over here t o  Wolf Creek and buy a l o t ,  which we did, a s ix  
grave l o t .  And we moved my father and mthe r  and s i s t e r  and a l i t t l e  
brother. I had a l i t t l e  brother tha t  I never saw. He dled when he was four 
years old. And we dug where my mother had told me he was buried, and you 
how, we found it. I was down i n  the gmund digging, and I found some glass. 
And the undertaker was there, of course, and he said, "That's it, the top of 
the casket ." So they made me get out and somebody e l se  got down in there, 
and they found his  hair, hfs amn bones, skull ,  leg bones and handles off 
the casket. I assume he was buried i n  a wooden box because it was just ,  



bh3k'&iiE. Mills, , my 25, 1977, S h e m ,  I l l inois .  
Jean A. Berg, Interviewer. 

Q. Mr. Mills, w i l l  you t e l l  me something about your parents? 

A. l'Q parents, well, they came from Ohio t o  Williamsville. And I couldn't 
t e l l  you what year, but they went from Wllliamsville t o  Caney, Kansas, i n  
a covered wagon, drove out there with a covered wagon. Now, you'll  have 
t o  dig in to  an encycloped.118 t o  find out when; it was a grasshopper yew. 
Have you ever he& of that  spoken of? 

9. No, I haven't. 

A. Grasshoppers w a s  so bad they got on the railroad track, and they would 
s t a l l  the t rains.  And they stuck it out that  year, and then they came back 
here t o  Williamsville. Then they went t o  work for the Joneses by the month. 
And there was quite a family of the Joneses. Now, the one he worked for  
i n  Williamsville was named Nl ton ,  I believe. He wo~ked there a few yeam, 
and then he moved out there-you know where Moonlight Garden was, up on 
the h i l l  there--there used t o  be a b ig  house s e t  up there. And that  Jones 
was named Samuel Jones; he was  president of the Marine Bank. He [my 
father] worked there nine years, and his main job was taking care of race 
horses. This old man Jones rafsed runners, race horses, and fed ca t t l e  
too. They lived there fo r  nine years. Then they bought t h i s  l i t t l e  twenty- 
acres down here, and they moved up here. And i n  the meantime, I was born 
down there i n  my grandmothervs house. My grandmother's house was only 
about 300 yamds; up the road from where they lived. And after they lived 
there one year, they mved here. And we've been here ever since, o r  I have. 

Q. What yew were you b m  ? 

Q. So they came in 1899, and you have been here ever since. 

A. Been here ever since. 

Q. When were your parents mayried? 

A. I couldn't t e l l  you. 

Q. What about your mother's family? 

A. Well, mother's maiden name was Sparks, Lydia Sparks. She was born 
i n  Sherman. And how and where her mother met my wandfather, I don't how; 
but h i s  name was Elijah Sparks. And they lived down there i n  the old log 
house where I w a s  born--I was born i n  my grandmother's house-the rest of 
the i r  l ives.  They both died there. By the way, rw wandfather died, I 
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This manuscript is the product of tape recorded interviews conducted 
by Jean A. Berg f o r  the Oral History Office of San@;amon State Uni- 
versity during the spring of 1977. Jean A. Berg transcribed the tapes 
and edited the transcript.  

Winfred E. Mills , was born i n  m a 1  Williams Township i n  Sangamon 
County on December 30, 1898. While in the eighth pa&, IW. Mills 
l e f t  school t o  help on the family fann. 

During h i s  long career i n  agriculture,  he witnessed the mdernizat&on 
of the farming business. He raised $rain and stock, operated a small 
dairy business, was a dealer f o r  Pioneer seed corn, and was employed 
by the @icultural Adjustment Administration. Mr. Mills also served 
on the Williams T m h i p  Board of Elections, the Sangam0 Center Board 
of Education, and was a charter mrnber of the Anti-Thief Association. 
His recollect ims of rural l i f e s t y l e  include fanily l i f e ,  school, hog 
butchering, water witching, WPA work, burial custo~ns, and the ac t iv i t i e s  
of a vigilante p u p .  lW. Nills retired f'rorn farming i n  1967 and died 
on September 18, 1977. 

Readers of t h i s  o ra l  history rremir should bear i n  mind tha t  it i s  a 
transcript of the spoken word, and that the interviewer, narrator, and 
edi tor  sought t o  preserve the info& conversational s ty le  that  is  in- 
herent in such h is tor ica l  sources. Sangamn State University is not 
responsible for  the factual accuracy of the memoir, nor fo r  the views 
expressed therein; these are f o r  the reader t o  judge. 

The manuscript may be read, quoted, and ci ted freely. It may not be 
repmduced lxtLwhole or in p m  by any m a ,  electronic o r  mchanical, 
without pemdssion i n  writing k m  the Oral E s t o r y  Office, Sangmn 
State University, Springfdeld, Illinois, 62708. 
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